
.;sn :.*&.I,-k <,',SI : , la  $d 4 w  !ot%~reaKkx~ 
$9 FIG.$ far edc-pdt FisGa! to i n m d  July 6 ,2007 

Florida Public Service Commission 
Division of the Commission Clerk and Administrative Services 
2540 Shumard Oak Boulevard 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0850 

Dear Sir/Madam: 

TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. (TCS) is pleased to submit our application for 
Competitive Local Exchange Carrier (CLEC) status to the Florida Public Service 
Commission. Enclosed you will find one (1) original and two (2) copies of the 
application and a check for the $400 application fee. 

TCS currently provides wireless and VoIP E91 1 call routing and caller data to Public 
Safety Answering Points in the State of Florida. It is our intention to begin offering 
Internet Protocol (1P)-based selective routing, Automatic Location Indicator (ALI) 
database service, and Master Street Address Guide (MSAG) validation services in 
competition with existing 91 1 system service providers. Please note that TCS does not 
propose to offer telephone service (dial tone). Our services are limited to the routing and 
management of 9 1 1 calls on behalf of PSAPs and/or telephone service providers. 

We believe that this application establishes that we are qualified to be granted a 
certificate by the Florida Public Utility Commission. As a company, we are financially 
and technically able to meet the quality of service requirements, and the award of CLEC 
status to TCS is in the public interest. 

Please feel free to contact the undersigned at (206) 792-2224 or via e-mail at 
ddickinson62telecomsvs.com with any questions or comments. We  look forward to 
providing telecommunication services in the State of Florida. 

Sincerely, 
I 

Richard H. Dickinson 
Senior Director, Public Safety 
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275 West Street, Annapolis, Maryland 21401 
www. telecomsys. com 



FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 

DIVISION OF COMPETITIVE MARKETS AND ENFORCEMENT 

APPLICATION FORM 
for 

AUTHORITY TO PROVIDE COMPETITIVE LOCAL EXCHANGE 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY SERVICE 

WITHIN THE STATE OF FLORIDA 

Instructions 

A. This form is used as an application for an original certificate and for approval of sale, 
assignment or transfer of an existing certificate. In the case of a sale, assignment or 
transfer, the information provided shall be for the purchaser, assignee or transferee 
(See Page 8). 

B. Print or type all responses to each item requested in the application. If an item is not 
applicable, please explain. 

C. Use a separate sheet for each answer which will not fit the allotted space. 

D. Once completed, submit the original and two (2) copies of this form along with a non- 
refundable application fee of $400.00 to: 

Florida Public Service Commission 
Division of the Commission Clerk and Administrative Services 
2540 Shumard Oak Blvd. 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0850 
(850) 41 3-6770 

E. A filing fee of $400.00 is required for the sale, assignment or transfer of an existing 
certificate to another company (Chapter 25-24.81 5, F.A.C.). 

F. tf you have questions about completing the form, contact: 

Florida Public Service Commission 
Division of Competitive Markets and Enforcement 
2540 Shumard Oak Blvd. 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0850 
(850) 41 3-6600 

FORZI PSCiClllP-8 (01/06) 
Requited b> Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.81 0, 
and 25-24.815 

Note: To complete this interactive form 

to navigate bet)+ een data entr? fiPlds. 
using your c ~ % ~ ~ ~ t k [ ~ @ ~ ~  - CATf  
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I. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

This is an application for (check one): 

W Original certificate (new company). 

0 Approval of transfer of existing certificate: Example, a non-certificated 
company purchases an existing company and desires to retain the original 
certificate of authority rather that apply for a new certificate. 

Approval of assignment of existing Certificate: Example, a certificated 
company purchases an existing company and desires to retain the existing 
certificate of authority and tariff. 

Name of company: TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Name under which applicant will do business (fictitious name, etc.): 

Maryland TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Official mailing address: 

Street/Post Office Box: 275 West Street 
City: Annapolis 
State! Maryland 
Zip: 21401 

Florida address: 

Street/Post Office Box: 2909 Bay to Bay Boulevard, 5'h Floor 
City: Tampa 
State: Florida 
Zip: 33629 

Structure of organization: 

Individual 
[7 Foreign Corporation 
c] General Partnership 
[7 Other, 

FORM PSCiCRlP-8 (01/06) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.810, 
and 25-24.815 

Corporation 
0 Foreign Partnership 

Limited Partnership 

Note: To complete this interacti\e form 
using your computer, use the tab ke? 
to navigate between data entr! fields. 
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7. If individual, provide: 

Name: Not Applicable 
Title: 
Street/Post Office Box: 
City: 
State: 
Zip: 
Telephone No.: 
Fax No.: 
E-Mail Address: 
Website Address: 

8. If incorporated in Florida, provide proof of authority to operate in Florida. The 
Florida Secretary of State corporate registration number is: Not Applicable 

9. If foreign corporation, provide proof of authority to operate in Florida. The Florida 
Secretary of State corporate registration number is: F94000004126 See attached 
Certificate to Transact Business in Florida. 

I O .  If using fictitious name (d/b/a), provide proof of compliance with fictitious name 
statute (Chapter 865.09, FS) to operate in Florida. The Florida Secretary of State 
fictitious name registration number is: G97280000200 See attached Florida 
Certificate of Fictitious Name. 

11. If a limited liability partnership, please proof of registration to operate in Florida. 
The Florida Secretary of State registration number is: Not Applicable 

12. If a partnership, provide name, title and address of all partners and a copy of the 
partnership agreement. 

Name: Not Applicable 
Title: 
StreeUPost Office Box: 
City: 
State: 
Zip: 
Telephone No.: 
Fax No.: 
E-Mail Address: 
Website Address: 

13. If a foreign limited partnership, provide proof of compliance with the foreign limited 
partnership statute (Chapter 620.169, FS), if applicable. The Florida registration 
number is: Not Applicable 

FORM PSUCMP-8 (01106) 
Required by Commission Rule Uos. 25-24.810, 
and 25-24.815 

Aote: To complete this interactive form 
using >our computer, use the tab key 
to nab igate between data entry fields. 
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14. Provide F.E.I. Number(if applicable): 52-1 526369 

15. Who will serve as liaison to the Commission in regard to the following? 

(a) The application: 

Name: Dick Dickinson 
Title: Sr. Director, Public Safety 
Street name & number: 2401 Elliott Avenue, Znd Floor 
Post office box: 
City: Seattle 
State: Washington 
Zip: 98121 
Telephone No.: 206-792-2224 
Fax No.: 206-792-2001 
E-Mail Address: ddickinson@telecomsys.com 
Website Address: www.telecomsys.com 

(b) Official point of contact for the ongoing operations of the company: 

Name: Dan Allen 
Title: Senior Vice President, Service Bureau Operations 
Street name & number: 2401 Elliott Avenue, 2nd Floor 
Post office box: 
City: Seattle 
State: Washington 
Zip: 98121 
Telephone No.: 206-792-2392 
Fax No.: 206-792-2001 
E- Mail Add ress : d a I le n@telecoms ys . co m 
Website Address: www.telecomsys.com 

(c) Complaints/lnquiries from customers: 

Name: Dick Dickinson 
Title: Sr. Director, Public Safety 
StreeVPost Office Box: 2401 Elliott Avenue, 2nd Floor 
City: Seattle 
State: Washington 
Zip: 98121 
Telephone No.: 206-792-2224 
Fax No.: 206-792-2001 
E-Mail Address: ddickinson@telecomsys.com 
Website Address: www.telecomsys.com 

FORRI PSC/CMP-8 (01106) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.810, 
and 25-24.815 

Note: To complete this interactive form 
using >our computer, use the tab key 
to na\igate bet\\een data entry fields. 
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16. List the states in which the applicant: 

(a) has operated as a Competitive Local Exchange Telecommunications Company. 

Not Applicable 

(b) has applications pending to be certificated as a Competitive Local Exchange 
Telecommunications Co m pa n y . 

Tennessee 

(c) is certificated to operate as a Competitive Local Exchange Tele 
Company. 

Texas, Washington 

(d) has been denied authority to operate as a Competitive Local Exchange 
Telecommunications Company and the circumstances involved. 

Not Applicable 

(e) has had regulatory penalties imposed for violations of telecommunications 
statutes and the circumstances involved. 

Not Applicable 

(f) has been involved in civil court proceedings with an interexchange carrier, local 
exchange company or other telecommunications entity, and the circumstances 
involved. 

Not Applicable 

FORRl PSC/CI\IP-8 (01106) 
Required h! Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.810, 
and 2524.835 

Note: To complete this interacthe form 
using your computer. use the tab key 
to navigate between data entr? fields. 
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17. Indicate if any of the officers, directors, or any of the ten largest stockholders have 
previously been: 

(a) adjudged bankrupt, mentally incompetent (and not had his or her competency 
restored), or found guilty of any felony or of any crime, or whether such actions may 
result from pending proceedings. tf so, provide explanation. 

Not Applicble 

(b) granted or denied a competitive local exchange certificate in the State of Florida 
(this includes active and canceled competitive local exchange certificates). If yes, 
provide explanation and list the certificate holder and certificate number. 

Not Applicable 

(c) an officer, director, partner or stockholder in any other Florida certificated or 
registered telephone company. If yes, give name of company and relationship. If 
no longer associated with company, give reason why not. 

Not Applicable 

18. Submit the following: 

(a) Managerial capability: resumes of employees/officers of the company that would 
indicate sufficient managerial experiences of each. 

(b) Technical capability: resumes of employees/officers of the company that would 
indicate sufficient technical experiences or indicate what company has been 
contracted to conduct technical maintenance. 

(c) Financial Capability: applicant’s audited financial statements for the most recent 
three (3) years. If the applicant does not have audited financial statements, it 
shall so be stated. Unaudited financial statements should be signed by the 
applicant’s chief executive officer and chief financial officer affirming that the 
financial statements are true and correct and should include: 

1. the balance sheet, 
2. income statement, and 
3. statement of retained earnings. 

Note: This documentation may include, but is not limited to, financial statements, a 
projected profit and loss statement, credit references, credit bureau reports, and 
descriptions of business relationships with financial institutions. 

FORM PSCICRIP-8 (01/06) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.810, 
and 25-24.815 

Note: To complete this interacti+e form 
using your computer, use the tab ke! 
to navigate between data entry fields. 
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THIS PAGE MUST BE COMPLETED AND SIGNED 

REGULATORY ASSESSMENT FEE: I understand that all telephone companies must pay 
a regulatory assessment fee. Regardless of the gross operating revenue of a company, a 
minimum annual assessment fee, as defined by the Commission, is required. 

RECEIPT AND UNDERSTANDING OF RULES: I acknowledge receipt and understanding 
of the Florida Public Service Commission's rules and orders relating to the provisioning of 
competitive local exchange telecommunications company (CLEC) service in Florida. 

APPLICANT ACKNOWLEDGEMENT: By my signature below, I, the undersigned officer, 
attest to the accuracy of the information contained in this application and attached 
documents and that the applicant has the technical expertise, managerial ability, and 
financial capability to provide competitive local exchange telecommunications company 
service in the State of Florida. I have read the foregoing and declare that, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, the information is true and correct. I attest that 1 have the authority 
to sign on behalf of my company and agree to comply, now and in the future, with all 
applicable Commission rules and orders. 

Further, I am aware that, pursuant to Chapter 837.06, Florida Statutes, "Whoever 
knowingly makes a false statement in writing with the intent to mislead a public 
servant in the performance of his official duty shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of the 
second degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 and s. 775.083." 

ComPanv Owner or Officer 

Print Name: Richard A. Young 
Title: Executive Vice President & COO 
Telephone No.: 41 0-280-1 269 
E-Mail Address: young@telecomsys.com 

FORM PSC/CMP-8 (01/06) 
Required by Commission Rule hos. 25-24.810, 
and 25-24.815 

Note: To complete this interactive form 
using \our computer, use the tab key 
to na\ igate between data entry fields. 
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CERTIFICATE SALE, TRANSFER, 
OR 

ASSIGNMENT STATEMENT 
- 

As current holder of Florida Public Service Commission Certificate Number 
reviewed this application and join in the petitioner's request for a 

, I have 

sale 

transfer 

[7 assignment 

of the certificate. 

Companv Owner or Officer 

Print Name: 
Title: 
StreeVPost Office Box: 
City: 
State: 
Zip: 
Telephone No.: 
Fax No.: 
E-Mail Address: 

Signature: Date: 

FORR1 PSC/ChIP-S (01106) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.810. 
and 25-24.815 

Note: To complete this interactive form 
using your computer, use the tab key 
to navigate bet\\ een data entry fields. 
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9. Proof of Authority to Operate in Florida 

Certificate to Transact Business in Florida 



I certify from the records of this office that TELECOMMUNICATION SYSTEMS, 
INC. doing business in Florida as MARYLAND TELECOMMUNICATION 
SYSTEMS, iNC., is a corpora€ion organized under the laws of Maryland, 
authorized to transact business in the State of Florida, qualified on 
August 9,1994. 

The document number of this corporation is F94000004126. 

I further certify that said corporation has paid all fees due this office through 
December 31, 2005, that its most recent annual reportluniform business report 
was filed on April 4, 2005, and its status is active. 

I further certify that said corporation has not filed a Certificate of Withdrawal. 

Given under my hand and the 
Great Seal of the State of Florida 

at Tallahassee, the Capitol, this the 
Twelfth day of October, 2005 



10. Proof of Compliance with Fictitious Name Statute 

Florida Certificate of Fictitious Name 



L 

< FILE TO RENEW NOW: 
FICTITIOUS NAME WILL EXPIRE ON 12/31/07 

6. CURRENT OWNER (S) 

D m J M E N T I  IF9400000Q126 a DELEE 

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF STATE 
SECRETARY OF STATE 

DIVISION OF CORPORATIONS 

7. AMlmONSICHANGES TO OWNERS 

OCCLMEII: i tlci-ange U~rtddition 

APPLICATION FOR RENEWAL OF FICTiTiOUS NAME 

REGISTRATION G9728()0200 

Ffl  f 

NAKS. 

S ~ ~ A D D R E S S  

CITY-ST-ZIP 

DoCUMoIl I 

Ffl i 

NAIAE 

STNET ADDRESS 

. CITY-ST-ZIP 

1. Name and Mailing Address 
a m  a ua o s  4 9 4 "  ~600606 a" 
l,llll,'Ill,lIl~tt.I'~'I~~*'ff ~llIll,ll,,,llI,ll,Il~lI,',llll~ 
TELECOMMUNlCATION SYSTEMS 
275 WEST S T E T ,  SUITE 400 
A " A p 0 U s  MD 21401-3466 

52-1526369 
MARYWVD TELECOMMWATION SYSlEhfS HC 
275 WEST STREFT, S U E  400 
AWJAPOUS MD 21401-1740 

0 DELtrE 

I f  above m a h g  address IS iGcEorre0 !I? any way. C n e  "igh McormctinformatiM and enter coirecl~on m Block 2 

2. Mailing Address change it applicable: 1 
Suite. Apt. It, etc. 

City State Zip Code 

I lllllll Ill1 Hlll lllll lllll Ill11 lllll lllll HIII lllll lllll Ill11 Ill1 1111 
G97280000200 
# CHECK HERE IF MAKING CHANGES 

3. County of Principal 4. Date Registered I 
10(07/1997 Place of Business 

HIUSBOAOU GH 

5. Certificate of Status Desired I $10 Additional Fee Required 

DOCUMENT I a DELETE 

1 CI1Y-ST-ZiP I 

! fEl f 

t"t 

I fEl I 

NAN 

8. I (we) the undersigned, being the Sole (all the) party(ies) owning interest in the above fictitious name, Certify that the information indicated on this form is 
true and accurate. I (we) understand that the signature(s) below shall have the same legai effect as if made under oath. 1 further certify that the names of 
indiwfials listed on this form do not qualify for an exempiion contained in section 119. Florida Statutes. (At least one signature required) 

ignaiure of Owner Signature of Owner Dafe 



18. (a) Managerial Capability 

Biographies of 
TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. Executive Management 



Maurice 6. Tose 
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President 

Maurice 8. Tose founded TeleCommunication Systems (TCS) in 1987 and has been a 
director and Chairman of the Board since then, Prior to founding TCS, Mr. Tose was 
the Director of Department of Defense Programs for Techmatics, Inc., headquartered 
in Silver Spring, Maryland. He was recognized in each of the past three years as one 
of  the country’s Top Black Technology Entrepreneurs by Career Communications 
Group, Inc. He currently is a Commander in the U.S. Navy Reserves and serves on 
the Board of Directors of the U.S. Naval Academy Foundation. Mr. Tose holds a B.S. 
degree in Operations Analysis from the U.S. Naval Academy. 



Richard A. Young 
Exec. VP and Chief Operating Officer 

Mr. Young directs all day-to-day activities in the Company including goal setting, 
performance monitoring, and deployment of key personnel. Mr. Young joined TCS in 
1992. He has over twenty-five years of experience in technology management, with 
in-depth technical experience in hardware and software life cycle program 
management. Prior to TCS, Mr. Young worked as Senior Manager for ICF Information 
Technology, Inc. where he was responsible for managing over thirty technical staff in 
designing and developing applications to  customer specifications. From 1986 to 
1989, Mr. Young was the Director of the Information Systems Department of the 
Navy Recruiting Command where he managed over seventy technical employees and 
was responsible for the information management requirements of the nationwide 
recruiting force. Mr. Young holds a B.S. degree in Engineering from the U.S. Naval 
Academy and holds a Master of Science degree in Information Technology from the 
Naval Postgraduate School. 



Tom Brandt 
Sr. VP and Chief Financial Officer 

As Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Brandt is responsible for the Company’s financial 
management, reporting, controls, accounting, and administration. Mr. Brandt joined 
TCS in early 1997. He has twenty-seven years experience in finance and accounting. 
Mr. Brandt was previously Senior Vice President and CFO of DIGEX, Inc., an Internet 
service provider, where he helped lead its 1996 IPO. His experience includes twelve 
years wi th Price Waterhouse, and services as CFO or controller of other corporations 
including Easco Corporation, a Fortune 500 company listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange. He serves on the Boards of Antenna Research Associates, Inc., a private 
technology company. He is a CPA with an AB from Duke University and an MBA from 
the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania. 



Dan Allen 
Senior Vice President, Service Bureau Operations 

As Senior Vice President of Service Bureau Operations for TeleCommunication 
Systems, Dan has responsibility for Wireless E9-1-1 operations, Voice-over-Internet 
Protocol (VoIP) E9-1-1 operations, hosted location services, data center operations 
and for ensuring that the Company maintains its enviable record of reliability through 
IS0 9001 and TL 9000. 

Dan has over 30 years experience in telecommunications in senior management 
positions, with the most recent 20 years in the cellular industry. He has been 
responsible for ten wireless company start-ups in the U.S. and internationally. Most 
recently Dan was President and CEO of Airbiquity, a wireless software company 
providing the automotive industry with major telematics applications. Dan was 
previously President of Nextel for the Mid-Atlantic Area where he had complete 
responsibility for all aspects of the implementation and operation of the iDEN@ digital 
wireless communication company including Washington, D.C., Northern Virginia, 
Maryland, Pennsylvania, Delaware, and New Jersey, covering 15  million subscribers. 
Prior to that he held positions as Vice President of Operations for both Time Warner 
Telecommunications and Bell South International where he started cellular 
companies both domest ical I y and a broad. 



18. (b) Technical Capability 

Resumes of Telecommunication Systems, Inc. Employees 



DREW A. MORIN CLEARANCE: TOP SECRET/SCI 

SUMMARY 
Over 19 years of experience in the analysis, design, development, and 
implementation of integrated voice/datawideo communication systems for a wide 
variety of applications from commercial to TEMPEST environments. 

EDUCATION . . M.S.. Systems Engineering, George Mason University. 1990 

B.S.. Systems Engineering, with minors in Computer Sciences and 
Mathematics, University of Virginia, I983 

POSITION 

Corporate Scientist 
Mr. Morin is responsible for technical direction and coordination of 
communications and information systems program activities involving application 
of current. new and evoIving technologies. His extensive experience with 
application of information technologies provides the broad background necessary 
to review. evaluate and incorporate. both on the strategic and tactical levels, 
technologies best suited to sustain end user requirements. In addition to his 
quality assurance and technical review responsibilities, Mr. Morin chairs the 
technology steering committee at TeleCommunication Systems chartered with 
evaluating emerging technologies and projecting trends that will affect 
communications and in formation systems. 

QUA LIFICA TIONS 

HARDWARE 

Intel Based PCs, Sun SPARC, DEC 
PDP and Vax Family, IBM 
Mainframes, Macintosh, CDC Cyber, 
Prime Computer, HP 9000 family, 
IBM RS6000, IBM PS/2, Axil 
Workstations, Kodak Scanners, 
Fujitsu Scanners, Ricoh Scanners, 
Cisco, 3Com,Sony Digital Camera, 
Pyramid. Cabletron, AT&T, KG and 
KY family, Harris DVITS and PRC, 
Xerox: TEMPEST, Ethernet, Token 
Ring, FDDI. TELCO, ATM 

SOFTWARE 

DOS, OS/2, UNtX, Windows (3.1, 
WFW. 95, NT), Oracle, C, C++, 
gopher. ppp, slip, www, Novetl 
NetWare. 3COm, Xerox, Plexus, 
Excalibur. Microsoft Office, Novel1 
Perfect Office, Lotus Smartsuite, 
Lotus Notes, cc:Mail, Groupwise, 
Wordperfect Office, Mime, SNMP, 
AIX, HPUX, JOPES, SNA, TCPAP, 
LocalTalk, Spectrum, HP OpenView, 
VMS, FORTRAN, Pascal, Assembler, 
COBOL 

1 



DREW A. MORIN 
EXPERIENCE 

TeleCoinmunication Systems 
Corporate Scientist 

1994-Present 

Mr. Morin lead the development of a multimedia information access center using 
an Internet www browser to submit queries to database and image processing 
engines. The system was demonstrated at the Maryland TechnoIogy College 
Showcase as a visionary enhancement to citizen access to public information. Mr. 
Morin is leading the effort to consolidate TCS IR&D efforts focused on the 
integration of Object Oriented Programming toolsets into a highly portable and 
flexible multimedia search engine. 

Mr. Morin designed a multi-protocol high performance network that combines 
Ethernet, FDDI, ATM, and HiPPI connections for data communications and 
network management of a Department of Defense High Performance Computing 
Center. The Mega-Center computing environment integrates multiple Cray 
supercomputers with Silicon Graphics superservers and norkstations for support 
of scientific computing and data visualization. 

As Director of the Communications Engineering Division. Mr. Morin was 
ultimately responsible for the quality, cost and timeliness of every deliverable in 
the fields of Automated Data Processing, Information Engineering, and 
Telecommunications. The Communication Engineering Di.i;ision supports the 
majority of the work undertaken at TCS. The folIowing paragraphs describe the 
programs accomplished under Mr. Morin's direction. 

TCS was contracted by the Immigration and Naturalization Service to provide 
support for their Computer Assisted Dispatch and Reporting Enhancement 
(CADRE) System. This system keeps track of border crossings that do not take 
place at border stations. This system also tracks all border patrol agents and will 
notify someone if an agent is overdue. TCS performed a cost benefits anaIysis on 
various UNIX based multi processor systems to allow INS to select the optimal 
platform and system to host CADRE. TCS also developed an Interface Design 
Document detailing internal and external communications for information 
dissemination to law enforcement agencies. 

TCS provided design, procurement, integration, test and operational support of the 
automation of the Army Research Laboratory Technical lnfonnation Library. The 
system consisted of a n  automated bibliographic database system hosted on an 
IBM RISC 6000 Lvith MS-DOS workstations connected through a 1 OBaseT 
Ethernet. The system was connected into a basewide fiber optic network through 
existing bridging equipment. Additional enhancements to the system included the 
addition of an image conversion system using Excalibur PixTex software hosted 
on an IBM RISC 6000 under AIX operating system. The selection of the PixTex 
software was predicated on the requirement to provide contextual searching of the 
documents converted from paper to magneto-optical media. 

TCS was contracted by SOCEUR to engineer, furnish and install a Tactical 
Digital Image Capture and Transmission System. The systein consists of one man 
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DREW A. MORIN 
portable remote units, a forward base station collection system and a headquarters 
collection and dissemination system. All equipment is based on state of the art 
digital image capture equipment coupled with voice and text processing 
capabilities. The resulting system allows users to communicate using the same 
encrypted channel that the image is passed over. 

TCS was contracted by the Civil Affairs and Psychological Operations directorate 
of the Special Operations Command to provide systems design and programming 
services in the development of an online, real-time Civil Affairs database 
application. The initial contract for this project provided design specifications and 
a working prototype of what will eventually become a world-wide Civil Affairs 
information repository. 

TCS was tasked by the Headquarters United States European Command to design, 
procure, and integrate compact. portable Joint Information Bureau modules for in 
theater deployment with the Public Affairs Office. These portable stations 
promote the ability of Public Affairs Officers to rapidly deploy to trouble areas 
and establish local field media support operations. The deployable workstations 
are designed to be easily transported and provide administrativekommunication 
support operations in an austere environment. These systems permit Joint Task 
Force and component commanders to establish a Joint Information Bureau 
quickly to meet news media support requirements, and to allow commanders to 
generate public understanding and support of military operations. 

TCS was contracted by NGB to provide on site system support services for the 
implementation and operation of the Optical Disk Imaging System (ODIS) 
conversion and production mode systems. ODIS is a high throughput system 
consisting of a Novel1 NetWare Iocal area network, a high speed Kodak scanner, 
multiple retrieve workstations and an image database server with an optical 
jukebox. ODE is being used to convert all of the NGB paper records to shareable 
electronic media as part of the consolidation of NGB into the new headquarters 
building. TCS technical on site personnel provided local and wide area 
networking services to include: system integration, system optimization. end user 
training, end user "help desk". and system sustainment. 

TCS is providing ongoing network management, network expansion planning and 
end user help desk support of the Naval Sea Systems Command (NAVSEA) 
Crystal City complex backbone neta.ork. This network provides connectivity to 
well over 20,000 end users representing diverse platforms communicating using 
TCPIIP, IPWSPX, DECNet. LAT and SNA protocoIs. The campus backbone is a 
fiber optic star configuration directly connecting nine "highrise" buildings. TCS 
is responsible for the update of all network configuration management 
documentation including training course material, hardware interface control 
documents, as-built documents. directory services management and TCP, IP 
address management. 

Program Manager 
Responsible for all activities in support of design, procurement and integration of 
new, and enhancement of existing networks for the Army Research Laboratory 
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DREW A. MORIN 
Terminal Ballistics Division. Other activities include training, operations support, 
testing, configuration management, and conversion of data from mainframes to 
RISC workstation environment. Network media include unshielded twisted pair 
(UTP). RG58 and RG6 coax, and fiber optic cabling connecting separate 
buildings in a campus environment. Primary communications protocol supported 
is the TCPIIP suite with Network File Sharing (NFS) for DOS workstation 
support of logical drive mappings. Host workstations on the Wide Area Network 
(WAN) include a variety of Sun SPARC, Pyramid and IBM RISC systems. 

Directing the effort to design, fumish and install a Local Area Network (LAN) for 
the Walter Reed Army Institute of Retrovirology. Task areas under this contract 
have included the development of concept. preliminary and critical design 
documents; procurement and integration of a LAN cable plant; procurement and 
configuration of workstations; network implementation: training; and testing. 
Responsible for all activities resulting in the integration of a dual protocol DOS 
and Macintosh microcomputer LAN with Novell (IPX) providing local and 
TCP’IP for wide and network connectivity. 

Directed activities to design, fumish and install a Novell Local Area Network for 
the Naval Military Personnel Command 1633 Program Office. 
procurement and installation of a1 hardware. including the cable plant. Directed 
team of professionals in all activities of system life cycle to include requirements 
analysis. system design, system integration. user interface development, 
development of training systems, and system operational testing. 

Managed the 

Responsible for personnel and budget management. planning, review and overall 
technical content for furnishing, installing. test and tumover of a turnkey office 
automation system based on the Apple Macintosh workstation and LocalTalk 
network operating system. Task areas include the design of the system; 
development of acceptance test plans; procurement, integration and acceptance: 
custom software development; and training. 

Principal Systems Engineer 
Directing technical efforts in the design, procurement and installation of an active 
900+ node fiber optic LAN for the Air Force special Operations Command 
(AFSOC) in Fort Walton Beach, Florida. The network, when complete, will 
provide both desktop peer to peer and workstation to UNIX host connectivity. 
The network will also provide direct cable plant connectivity between the 
headquarters building and the Annex. located nearby. Gateways will provide 
connectiL ity to other Special Operations Forces community members. Engineered 
a LAN test bed to perform a proof of concept demonstration of the system design 
capabilities. This test bed will be used for experiments with ongoing network 
enhancements as well as training. 

Pro\ ided technical leadership for the design. procurement and integration of a 
passn e fiber optic Ethernet LAN for the Joint Task Force Four in Key West, 
Florida The network is composed of 01 er 1 50 M orkstations including TEMPEST 
Zenith microcomputers and IBM PS/2 workstations sharing redundant Novell 
NetWare 3.1 1 file servers. All workstations are configured for connection to both 
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the Novell tile server via IPX protocols and the IBM 438 I via TCP/IP. Provided 
analysis of alterative distributed image processing systems for integration into this 
network to provide for fast retrieval of archived AUTODIN messages. Lead the 
installation and integration effort of the image processing system to include 
training planning, test and quality assurance, operations planning and design of 
index processing schema. Designed and presented alternatives for the connection 
of a secure messaging capability to the network to automate message profiling and 
distribution. 

Directed technical efforts for the installation of a Metropolitan Area Network 
(MAN) spanning three separate buildings at MacDill Air Force Base for the 
United States Special Operations Command (USSOCOM). The MAN is 
composed of fifteen baseband Ethernet Local Area Networks connected via 3Com 
Internetwork Bridges (IB series) and a broadband backbone providing 
connectivity services for over 600 PC workstations and printers. Each baseband 
LAN has an AT&T 3B2/600 UNIX minicomputer host with PC workstation 
connectivity provided by 3Com CSi2000 communication servers. 
Responsibilities include installation planning, test plan development, 
subcontractor management support, and technical oversight of all activities. 

Responsible for the design, procurement, integration and test of a deployable 
World Wide Military Command and Control (WWMCCS) workstation to support 
the Joint Operational Planning and Evaluation System (JOPES). The system 
design supports deployment in the European Theater of operations. Secure 
communications equipment support is included for the KG-84 and’STU-111 
encryption de\ ices. providing compatibility with a di1,erse array of military 
communications equipment. 

Designed. furnished and installed a Novell Local Area Network for the Naval 
Military Personnel Command PASS Program Office. Provided and installed all 
hardware, including cable plant. Developed System Administrator training course 
material and conducted training courses. Designed and developed custom user 
friendly menu interface to allow transparent access to network resources. 

Designed a complex integrated Personal Computer Local area Network (PC-LAN) 
that provided a seamless interface across Ethernet. AppleTalk and Token Ring 
networks for a variety of operating systems and workstation platforms as part of a 
live test demonstration for a govemment customer. The network design included 
media access gateways between homogenous and heterogenous network 
environments allo\t.ing users to share files, electronic mail and peripheral devices 
transparently through file servers running vastly different operating systems ( ie . ,  
DOS, Macintosh OS. and UNIX). 

Responsible for the design, procurement and integration of a major network 
systems upgrade in support of the special Operations Command, Europe 
(SOCEUR). This upgrade included substantially enhanced printing and 
processing capabilities as well as significant software updates to the Banyan Vines 
network operating environment. Proposed design changes to support the 
connection of the European Command (EUCOM) LAN to the SOCEUR LAN for 
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exchange of electronic mail messages, file transfer and other basic communication 
services. The Banyan Vines system communication protocol was TCPiIP while 
the EUCOM LAN uses Novel1 NetWare IPWSPX. The design resolved 
numerous gateway problems with the current system. 

Provided system design support to a commercial customer for the development of 
a next generation high speed multiplexer. His responsibilities included 
performance analysis of the system and its associated subsystems. development of 
software and hardware design specifications, and the design and development of 
the man machine interface. The software design effort encompassed the 
development of network management and configuration capabilities in a multi- 
tasking/multiple processor environment and the custom development of operating 
systems extensions. The software development effort used the C programming 
language. 

Provided support to a Government customer in the installation of an AppleTalk 
twisted pair network using Farallon PhoneNet and AppleShare communications 
software. The network links approximately forty Macintosh workstations with 
two Macintosh IIx servers. The software applications include AppleShare for file 
and resource sharing and QuickMail for electronic mail. 

BDM Corporation 1983-1 988 
Communications and Data Systems Group 
Communications Systems Engineer 
As a Communications Systems Engineer with the BDM Corporation. was 
employed in the design. development, and implementation of a broad variety of 
voice, data, and integrated communications systems for applications ranging from 
Tactical Command and Control to voice message services. 

Provided communications engineering and support services to the Joint Tactical 
Command Control and Communications agency (JTC3A) for the design. 
integration, testing. and maintenance of a nationally distributed Xerox/3COM 
Integrated Ethernet internetwork supporting Xerox 6085 graphics 1% orkstations, 
Xerox 8000 file/print servers. and Zenith 248 Personal Computer workstations. 
Identified requirements and developed transition plan for switch o\ er from leased 
line circuits to the Defense Data Network (DDN) to provide enhanced 
intemetwork connectivity. 

Provided site survey, analysis and installation support for a go\.emment office 
telecommunications and ADP equipment. This site survey included identification 
of power requirements. 3COM Ethernet LAN requirements. security 
requirements, and pertinent building and fire codes to ensure a smooth and 
efficient transition into the new office environment. Mr. Morin provided similar 
support to the JTC3A offices in planning their relocation from Cystal City to the 
Reston area. The site sur\.ey and planning included price. schedule and 
manpower estimates for the move, including the identification and management of 
subcontractors to complete specific aspects of the transition. 
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DREW A. MORIN 
Designed and implemented a 3COM based TEMPEST Office Automation Local 
Area Network (LAN) System to support the activities of the Department of the 
Undersecretary of Defense for Research and Evaluation (Test and Evaluation). 
This system is used to track the activities of over one thousand major procurement 
programs in the various services. The LAN consisted of 3COM file/pnnt servers, 
Etherseries network operating system. Xerox Network Services. Xerox graphics 
workstations and servers, PC XT and AT systems, and a variety of peripherals. 
Designed and developed network applications, performed network system 
administration, gathered network performance statistics, and provided network 
hardware and software fault recovery support. 

Designed fiber optic TEMPEST LAN to support Information Processing System 
requirements for the Army Operations Center upgrade in the Pentagon. The 
system features a dual ring backbone and file server shadowing to provide fault 
tolerance. The system uses the 3COM 3+ network operating system with 
Fibercom fiber optic network interface units. 

Designed and installed the BDM Corporation technical staff LAN. This network 
supports both Etherseries and 3+ for a variety of workstations including IBM 
XTs. ATs, PSI2s and compatibles in addition to support for Macintosh systems 
connected using both Ethernet and AppleTalk. Supported the later installation of 
Novel1 SFT on a PC based server and the generation of application sl~ells for 
workstations. Extended network to interconnect Xerox wordprocessors and 
graphics workstations for PC to Xerox data transfer in support of publications 
requirements. Designed network login software to automate resource s1iarin.g. 
Performed network system administration. gathered network performance 
statistics. and provided network hardware and software fault recovery support. 

In support of the Army Development and Employment Agency (ADEA), lead a 
team of engineers and programmers in all phases of the development and fielding 
of a prototype datahoice communications system in the tactical environment. 
Provided analysis of existing military and civilian protocols within the 
requirements of the system design to define and implement a custom full-featured 
communications protocol based on the ISOiOSI seven layer model. Analyzed 
traffic flow and end user requirements within the framework of the standard 
operating procedures of the Tactical C3 environment. Identified system 
component requirements and provided recommendations to assure 
hardwareisoftware interoperabiIity and minimize costs. Managed development of 
custom communications processor hardware and PLil device drivers for 6SOOO 
based GRiD Compass Computer 422 Serial and GPIB Parallel interfaces. These 
interfaces supported connectivity bet\veen commercial ADP equipment and 
Tactical VHF radio equipment and encryption devices. 

Identified system requirements €or the addition of a voice message system to the 
BDM Corporate Telecommunications System. Developed system requirements 
specifications from analysis of end user requirements, voice traffic density and 
flo\v. and evaluation of existing telephone system capabilities. Performed market 
sun'ey to identify alternative systems meeting these requirements. Analyzed 
alternative system capabilities with respect to system requirements and life c!de 
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DREW A. MORIN 
costing to identify the best system and provide implementation and transition 
planning. 

Analyzed communications traffic data flow and density estimates to support the 
development of requirements for the specification of the Voice Switching and 
Control System (VSCS) in support of the FAA. Developed a methodology for 
generating new traffic estimates for incorporation into VSCS switch loading and 
sizing studies based on operating procedures and end user requirements for air 
traffic control. 

Supported design and development of a custom evolutionary Network 
Management System (NMS) to demonstrate rapid prototyping and proof of 
concept methodology. The NMS was used to rapidly identify changing user 
requirements in an international voice and data network. Designed and coded C 
extensions to the NMS originally coded in SQL. These extensions were used to 
manipulate data in a manner not supported by SQL. 

Designed and coded a queuing analysis program using Microsoft C on an IBM 
compatible personal computer. The program analyzes steady state waiting time. 
length of queue, total wait in system, and total customers in system for a varietyof 
queue disciplines and arrival and service times. In addition, the application 
calculates probabilities for discrete arrivals into the system. In support of the U.S. 
Central Command, designed and coded software using the C programming 
language with embedded QUEL extensions to translate data formats between two 
distinct wargaming systems. The application selectively reduced data from . 

Logistics Reports produced by the JESS wargaine into a functional data structure 
for display and manipulation by the TACWAR game Post Processor. 

Designed and coded a scenario development system for use with the TACWAR 
simulation system. The scenario development system provided analysts with a 
user friendly interface to the game control variables for ease of comparisons, 
detailed assessments, and modification. The scenario development system was 
programmed using the Ingress database management system with C programming 
extensions. 

Developed Vax Fortran application making extensive use of VMS operating 
system and library functions to enable the TACWAR game system to process 
Savesets and Restarts through spawned processes and global sections. This 
approach enabled the TACWAR game to proceed without waiting for the Saveset 
or Restart to be recorded to disk. 

Systems Development Corporation 
Programmer/Analyst 

1982-1 983 

While employed by Systems Development Corporation, Mr. Morin was involved 
in the upgrading of the software for the Joint Cruise Missile Project. He reviewed 
and interpreted code developed using FORTRAN I V  and ROLM Assembly as 
implemented on the ROLM 1666 and 1602B processors. Mr. Morin also 
referenced previous design requirements and interface specification documents. 
where applicable. to further his knowledge of the software, firmware and 
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hardware subsystems of both the Ground Launched Cruise Missile and the Sea 
Launch Cruise Missile. Mr. Morin compiled his accumulated knowledge and 
wrote program design specifications for modules in the central and dedicated 
processors. Mr. Morin also developed design specifications for all firmware 
modules. Before leaving Systems Development Corporation, Mr. Morin served in 
an advisory capacity. providing aid to his colleagues in addition to final review 
and correction of design specifications prior to publication. 

University of Virginia 
Teaching Assistant 

1980-1 982 

PUB Cl TI0 

Mr. Morin held two different assistant teaching positions while a student at the 
University of Virginia. His first position was to assist in the instruction of applied 
mathematics (calculus) to first year engineering students. His duties included 
providing students with individual aid during office hours. distributing 
examinations, evaluating student performance, and determining and distributing 
final grades to students. 

The second position held by Mr. Morin was as a computer consultant in a remote 
facility of the Academic Computing System at the University of Virginia. In this 
capacity, Mr. Morin was primarily designated to aid students learning and 
programming in BASIC, FORTRAN 77, FORTRAN IV. Pascal 6000, COBOL 
and Intel 8080 Assembly. These students used the CDC Cyber. Northstar 
Horizon, and Hewlett-Packard 2000 computers. This position required not only a 
working knowledge of lrarious high-level programming languages, but also an 
adept knowledge of structured programming techniques. debugging strategies, 
system hardware and the computing facility controlling software. 

. 

S 

None 

A WARDSICITAT~ONS 

None 

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIA TIONS 

Armed Forces Communications and Electronics Association 

Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers 

REFERENCES 
TeleCommunication Systems; Dick Young; 410-263-761 6 

BDM Corporation: Dr. Tom Bailey; 703-848-5000 
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Richard H. Dickinson 

Sr. Director, Public Safety 

SUMMARY 

Richard (Dick) Dickinson has eighteen years experience in wireless 
telecommunications, project management, and communications center 
management. He has built wireless networks nationally and 
internationally, managing site acquisition and zoning, construction, and 
warehouse logistics. Dick has managed the communications center for 
the University of Washington, a 24x7 emergency response center. He 
has participated in all aspects of wireless Phase 1 and Phase 2 E9-1-1 
deployments, usually in a lead role for most FOAs and trail blazing 
deployments for various technologies. With the emergence of VoIP, 
Dick applied his knowledge of E9-1-1 to develop and patent the E9-1-1 
solution for nomadic VoIP which has become the basis for the NENA i2 
standard. He is active in various industry forums and standards bodies, 
including NENA, APCO, NRIC7, ESIF, and is Chair of the E9-1-1 
Institute VoIP Subcommittee for Policy 

ED UCA TION 

BS, United States Military Academy, 1973 (No majors were offered 
by USMA until approximately 1980 

MA, International Studies, Pacific Lutheran University, 1984 

POSITION 

Sr. Director, Public Safety 
Dick Dickinson has substantial technical skills related to E9-1-1, 
particularly an understanding of TCS hardware and software and a big 
picture understanding of the E9-1-1 industry. Because of this knowledge 
and experience, he serves as a subject matter expert on all aspects of TCS 
products related to E9-1-1, represents TCS at industry forums, 
formulates TCS policy on issues related to E9-1-1, develops new 
products and patents involving E9-1-1. 

QUA LIFICA TIONS 

MS Excel, MS Word, MS Project, MS 
Visio, MS PowerPoint 



EXPERIENCE 

TeleCommunication Systems 
Sr. Director, Public Safety 

1998-Present 

Responsibilities: Subject matter expert for all issues involving 
deployment of E9-1-1 wireless or V o P  services. Represents TCS at 
national E9-1-1 forums and participates in the development of industry 
standards. 

Accomplishments: 

Drove the first deployment of Phase 1 E9-1-1 technology in the state 
of Texas. The 5 Wireless carriers represented by TCS were the only 
carriers in the state to meet the deployment deadline, thus becoming 
the only wireless carriers to escape a formal complaint issued by the 
State of Texas to the FCC. 

Supervised TCS E9-1-1 Deployment Team. 

Developed and patented the V o P  E9-1-1 solution for nomadic users 
that has become the basis for the NENA i2 standard. 

D. Garvey Corporation 
Project Manager 

1994-1998 

Responsibilities: As a member of the D. Garvey management team for 
the national deployment of AT&T's Cellular Digital Package Data 
(CDPD) network (1,400 sites), procure and distribute equipment from 
multiple vendors, monitor procurement contracts; coordinate deliveries 
and authorize payment; manage national equipment inventory of 
$25,000,000. Also, coordinate all phases of CDPD installation and site 
integration for various markets nationally; manage installation 
contractors; develop and drive deployment schedules; maintain 
deployment database. 

As a Project Manager for the deployment of ClearNET wireless radio 
sites in multiple markets across Canada (140 sites), track equipment 
expenses per site; supervise multiple warehouse operations; track 
$80,000,000 in equipment orders, deliveries, and invoices. 

Assisted Celumovil, the largest cellular telephone company in Colombia, 
to procure, import, distribute, warehouse, and track cellular phone 
inventory. 

Accomplishments: 

At AT&T, implemented groundbreaking deployment of CDPD 
technology. 

In Colombia, established warehouses in Bogota, Barranquilla, and 
Cartagena; trained warehouse staff and manager; developed 
equipment 



PUBLICA TIONS 

Author of Hurricane Allev, a novel published by Berkley Publishing 
Group, 1990. 

Author of The Silent Men, a novel published by Rugged Land 
Publishing, 2002. 

Author of The Warlord, a novel published by Rugged Land Publishing in 
2004 

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS 

Member, NENA (National Emergency Number Association) 

Member, ESIF (Emergency Service Information Forum) 

Member, APCO (Association of Public-Safety Communications 
Officials) 

Chair, VoIP Policy Subcommittee, E91 1 Institute. 

REFERENCES 

Available upon request 



Don Mitchell 
16220 SE gth Street -- Bellevue, WA 98008 

206-795-7777(m) 425-641-8684(h) wvoiDer @,?mail.com 

Director, Technology 

Innovator - Implementer - Mentor - Motivator 

Skilled professional technologist with over 20 years experience in varied segments of technology 
including 10 of  the most recent years in wireless and Unix based messaging. Proven ability to 
create teams that implement new technologies successfully. Detail-oriented leader that builds 
teamwork both within direct reports and across organizational boundaries. Accomplished 
mentor of managers. Self-directed and able to innovate both internally and for customers. 
Proven technical sales support skills. Excellent sense of technology direction and application to 
business. Extensive budgetary and P&L management experience. 

Professional Experience 

TeleCommunication Systems (TCS/TSYS), Seattle WA 1997-Present 
TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. a $1 50 million provider of technology and seivices to national and international 
Wireless and Voice over IP carriers. The Seattle office is responsible for the development and operation of hosted 
E9-I - I  services for  Wiseless and Voice over IP carriers like Cingular, T-Mobile, Verizon Wireless, and Vonage. 

Sr. Director, Advanced Customer Solutions & Emerging Technologies 
“u Major accomplishment was a business plan for creation of a new opportunity estimated to grow to 

SOMIyear by 2010. 
> Major personal accomplishment the submission of 9 utility patent applications. 
> Responsible for Business Development and Advanced Sales Support for emerging technologies. 

Director, New Service Introduction & Technology 
> Major accomplishment was the team’s technical and customer acceptance of the TCS Voice over IP E9-1-1 

system supporting Vonage. 
> Major personal accomplishment was the submission of 7 provisional patent applications. 
> Directed the acceptance testing and introduction of new services for Tier 1 wireless carriers (Cingular, 

Verizon, etc). Managed a Testing manager, and a standards person, with matrix responsibility for other 
standards activities, and liaison to product management, Directed the TCS standards activities within 
NENA and the IETF. Created and lead the Seattle office innovation group. 

Director, Operations 
> 
> 

Major accomplishment of the team was moving the data center from a single redundant facility to two geo- 
graphically diverse data centers with no system downtime. 
Directed the operation of geo-graphically diverse data centers which ran the systems for routing wireless 
E9- 1 - 1 calls 7x24 at 99.995% availability. Directed the Network Operations Center, Operations 
Engineering, Information Services and Data Provisioning. 

Director, Systems Development 
> Major accomplishments of the team were the completion and implementation of the initial Wireless E9-1-1 

product ahead of FCC deadlines, and in later releases two new standard interfaces. 
> Directed the development of “publish and subscribe” based services software across three different 

programs. Managed three managers: Development, Quality Assurance. Program Management and a 
standards person. Directed standards activities within the 3GPP2. 
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Manager, Product Engineering 
"r Maior accomplishment of the team was an integrated hardwareisoftware solution that included printed 

circuit boards. 
k Managed a team that included an E1ect::ical Engineer, two software developers (matrixed) and a CAD 

specialist. 

ENTEX Information Services, Bellevue, WA 711993 - 211997 
ENTEX Information Services was a top tier computer reseller (i.e. Boeing, Intel, etc) which also provided 
professional consulting and engineering services. 

Manager, Advanced Client Services 
P 
P 

Maior accomplishments of the team were projects for Swedish Hospital, Boeing, SSA and Everett Schools. 
Maior personal accomplishment was the interim management during a 6 month period of a staff over 100 
employees distributed over 3 departments: Outsourced Desktop support, Field, and Advanced Client 
Services. 
P&L manager of the professional services organization in the Bellevue branch. Managed growth from a 
staff of 2 system engineers to 24 total engineers and consultants (Microsoft Windows NT and Novell 
Netware). 

P 

First Interstate Bank, Seattle, WA 
First Interstate Bank is now Wells Fargo Bank. 

711984 - 711993 

Systems Manager, Distributed Systems 
P Major contributor in the implementation and management of the local and wide area Microsoft and Novell 

based networks and systems across 5 different locations. 

Systems Analyst/Officer, Real Estate Systems 
"r Implemented and managed the PC LAN based systems for residential loan origination, and commercial 

construction lending. 

Technical Experience 

0 

Operating Systems: MS DOS; Windows 3.x, NT 3.x/4.x, 98, XP; Novell Netware 2 ,  3; Sun 
Solaris 2.5, 2.6 
Networking: LANIWAN, TCP/IP, T3, T1, DDS, Frame Relay, X.25 

0 Programming Languages: COBOL, CICS, C, SQL, ClearQuest 

0 Web: Dreamweaver, HTML, JavaScript 

Desktop Application Software: MS Office Suite, MS Project, MS Visio, Mozilla 
Thunderbird 

Technologies: TCPIIP, SS7, Servers, Routers, DACCsiMux, STP, SCP, VoIP (Voice over 
IP), DGPS, aGPS, TCAP, ISUP, IMS, UMA/GAN, wVOIP 

Education 
Associates Degree from Fresno City College (CA) - 198 1 
Bachelor of Science from City University, Seattle WA - 1991 (Focus on Systems Analysis) 

Miscellaneous 
Blogging: 

wvoiper.com (Commentary on IMS and Fixed Mobile Convergence, currently inactive) 
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Technical Resource: 

Gaming: 
ims-list.com 

World of Warcraft 

(categorized links and other information focused on IMS-currently inactive) 

1 -Level 67 Tauren Warrior; 2 BG twinks 
References 

Available on Request 
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VICTOR C. BURTON 

HARDWARE 

SUMMARY 

SOFTWARE 

Over 25 years of experience in the telecommunications industry ranging from 
programming a class 5 switch based Centrex to designing and developing SS7 
Interface Applications for billing and call routing in a Unix environment using 
c++/c.  

EDUCATION 

m BS, Computer Science, San Jose State University, 1989 

BA, Mathematics, San Jose State University, 1989 

CERTlFlCA TlONS 

None 

POSITION 

Technical Fellow 
I am responsible for making key decisions as it relates to Telecom solutions for 
existing or new TCS products. My goal is to find solutions which are feasible, 
cost effective and re-usable across products and departments in TCS. This 
requires working closely with Product Managers, Operations and Development. 
Other important responsibilities include writing system and functional 
specifications for new products and features and participating in Standards 
Development Organizations Meetings (3GPP, 3GPP, TWTR45.2) to monitor 
and help steer industry specifications for E9-1-1 as new technologies are 
introduced. 

QUA LlFlCA TI0 N 

Products: Vi, Workshop, 
SoftBench, MGTS, Purify, 
Quantify Profilers. 

EXPERIENCE 
Telecommunication Systems 
Software Development Manager 

1/1998 - Present 

I am responsible for and proud of facilitating the development of new 
Wireless and VoIP E91 1 features to better serve our carrier customers. My  
goal is to deliver the feature or features requested with the highest quality. 
Achieving my goal requires that I work well with Product Marketing, 
System Engineering Project Management, QA (Testing) and Operations to 
understand and define product requirements, negotiate schedules, mitigate 
risks, and find answers which contribute to the success of my team. 



VICTOR C. BURTON 

Manager, Software Development 
E91 1 Wireless and VoIP Software Development Manager. 

Responsibilities include coordinating the desigddevelopment efforts of nine 
software engineers working on multiple projects. 

Working with the project manager on release schedules and risk mitigation. 

Working with vendors to establish software requirements and delivery 
schedules. 

Software Architect 
Responsible for design and implementation of TCS’s SS7 Application Level 
Interface to the Wireless Network for Phase I1 (TCAP) E91 1 and Xypoint 
Location Platform. 

Interfaces included both North American (ANSI) and European (ITU/GSM) 
networks. 

Senior Software Developer 
Responsible for some design and development of TCS’s SS7 Application 
Level Interface to the Wireless Network Phase I (ISUP) E91 1. 

The product was developed as a Service Bereau Model and handled wireless 
9 1 1 calls for several carriers from two Network Operation Centers. 

Illuminet formerly US Intelco Networks, Inc. 911996 -1211997 
Technical Lead 

Technical lead for CDR7 and AMAT7. 

CDR7 and AMAT7 are real-time Network Usage Measurement applications 
which measure usage between interconnecting entities on the Signaling 
System7 (SS7) network. The applications run in a distributed environment 
on 2 platforms: VxWorks and HP’s Platform7. High level responsibilities 
includes coordinating the desigddevelopment efforts of 6 software 
engineers working on parallel releases of the 2 products. 

Working with the project manager on release schedules. 

Working with the documentation specialist and QA manager to ensure 
product releases are fully documented and meet QA release criteria. 

Supervision of 3 customer support engineers. 

Provide training for new hires on the products. Develop/enhance low level 
classes for new releases. 

US Intelco Networks, Inc. 
Senior Software Engineer 

311995 - 8/1996 

Software developer using C++/C in an HP-UX environment to develop real 
time usage sensitive billing software for the SS7 network. 

Developed several modules for the CDR7 product including the Call Detail 
Converter module. CDC functionality required in depth knowledge of SS7 
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ISUP messages and Bellcore‘s AMA format. Developed scripts and 
associated test network (using TEKELEC’s MGTS software) for CDR7 
acceptance test. 

US Intelco Networks, Inc. 
Software Engineer 

811993 - 211995 

Maintained client server voicemail Billing application (which served the 
Washington State Government) using C, SQL, SybPerl and Korn Shell. 

Responsibilities included customer enhancements, SQL rewriteshystem test 
plans for Sybase upgrades, and custom report generation. 

m 

US Intelco Networks, Inc. 
Programmer Analyst 

311992 - 711993 

Maintained Message Clearing House System on IBM-438 1 running 
MVS/ESA using COBOL 11, JCL, COMPAREX and SYNCSORT. 

Responsible for all fixes and enhancements to the system. Implemented 
several upgrades which reduced runtime and increased message throughput 
from 2.5 to 5 million records per month. 

Pacific Bell 1/1991 - 1111991 
Systems Analyst 

Developed COBOL I1 Billing applications with embedded DB2 SQL 
interface modules to a very large Customer Accounts Database. 

Developed application test plans using JCL, COMPAREX, SAR, and 
FileAid. Served as programming mentor for my team. 

Pacific Bell 
Service Technician 

1/1990 - 12/1990 

Installed and repaired telephone service for small business and residential 
customers. 

Received several commendations from satisfied customers. 

Maintained high motivation and represented the company in a professional 
manner with no supervision. 

Pacific Bell 
Operations Administrator 

0311981 - 12/1989 

Maintained several telephone subscriber switch databases from simple single 
residence lines to large complex Centrexes. 

Responsible for subscriber database synchronization on several switch 
upgrades. 
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PUBLICA TIONS 

None 

A WARDS/CITA TIONS 

2 US Patents related to E9-1-1 and Location 

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIA TIONS 

North West C++ Users Group 

REFERENCES 
TCS, Paul Thompson, Manager 

Boeing, Clifford Green 

VeriSign (formerly Illuminet), Lorraine Williams, Product Manager 



18. (c) Financial Capability 

TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 2006 Annual Report 
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS 

Dear Fellow Shareholders: 

In 2006, TeleCommunication Systems (TCS) posted four consecutive 

profitable quarters from continuing operations and more than 

doubled EBITDA on a 22% revenue increase to $125 million. These 

results were driven by growth and improved profitability from our 

winning combination of Commercial (communications carriers) and 

Government customer markets. 

Maurice B. Tose 
Chairman, President and CEO 

All of our continuing operations address high-growth markets 

using wireless and digital communications technologies: cellular 
applications using messaging and location-based solutions; 

secure, satellite-based communications; and a foundation of 

recurring service revenue from long-term contracts for technical 
services, including Enhanced 9-1 -1 (E9-1-1) for cellular and Voice 

over Internet Protocol (VolP) providers. 

My vision in founding the company twenty years ago was to 

first build a foundation of profitable contract work with federal 

government customers, then develop a commercial business 

around the convergence of data and telecom network technology 
that was just then beginning. It is gratifying that in 2006, our 

commercial business generated two-thirds of the company's 

revenue, and in the course of building our commercial business 

we have accumulated substantial proprietary intellectual property 
addressing high-growth business opportunities. We received 12 
new patents in 2006, bringing our portfolio to 51 issued 

patents and more than 150 applications pending. During 2006 
we reached an agreement to convert some non-strategic 
patents to cash, and we reached a settlement on our first patent 

infringement case. 

In the meantime, TCS has matured as a vendor to the federal 

government, with recognized expertise in secure, satellite-based 
communications technology. During 2006, a major milestone 

was our selection as one of six vendors for the U.S. Army's 

five-year, Indefinite Delivery, Indefinite Quantity (IDIQ), $5 
billion World-Wide Satellite Systems (WWSS) contract vehicle 

- a  true "coming of age" event. 

CommerciaKarrier Segment Highlights 
Enhanced 9-1-1. O u r  wireless and VolP E9-1-1 

solution will soon support all wireless, VolP, and 

and provide the bridge to next-generation E9-1-1 content delivery 

services. This complete offer positions TCS to compete for a growing 
share of the expanding $200 million public safety market. 

Our new Master Street Address Guide verification capabilities 

base routing of E9-1-1 calls on the most accurate available 

address information. The TCS solution saves significant time 
and expense by automating processes that were previously 

labor intensive. 

Our Network Operation Center achieved the only TL-9000 
certification for both wireless and VolP E9-1-1 service offered 

by any provider. TCS remains a leader in VolP E9-1-1, with con- 

nections to the largest number of FCC-compliant Public Safety 
Answering Points (PSAPs) in the industry. 

Wireless Messaging. The continuing explosive use of wireless 
text messaging as a communications medium yielded substantial 
2006 license revenue for incremental customer capacity, as well 

as growth in our software maintenance revenue stream. We sold 

incremental capacity license orders for Short Message Service 

(SMS) during every quarter of 2006. SMS proliferation also has 

led to continuing work orders for expanded functionality of our 

wireless gateway and our text service provisioning user interface. 
In 2006, TCS messaging solutions processed 40  billion text 

messages. The expected spike in SMS traffic on New Year's Eve 

set an all-time record for TCS customers, peaking during 

midnight at more than 6,000 messages per second. In our 

largest account, text messaging has more than doubled every 
year since 2004, and usage is already on pace to more than 

double in 2007. This growth results in significant opportunities for 

further high-margin capacity orders. 

Our  broadened suite of messaging products, led by our 
smsExpress First Delivery Attempt'" platform, continues to gain 

market share as opportunities arise with other carriers seeking 
additional capocity to address the explosive growth in messaging. 

TCS deployed new messaging platforms in Pakistan and Belize 

in 2006, and we received an order for a new Short Message 

Service Center (SMSC) in Europe. 



Location Based Services (LBS) Technology. Wireless loca- 

tion-based technology, particularly for Global System for Mobile 
Communication (GSM) networks, continues to progress toward 

broad adoption. TCS has now successfully completed interoper- 

ability testing with all five of the top GSM handset producers for 
Assisted Global Positioning System (A-GPS) devices. A highlight 

for our Commercial LBS business was Alltel's 2006 launch of 

precise A-GPS location applications using our Xypointa Location 

Platform and Xypoint' Reference Network in their Code Division 

Multiple Access (CDMA) network. We also realized revenue for 

capacity growth from our existing location platform carrier cus- 
tomers, Just as we have seen with the SMSC business model, 

initial system deployments form the foundation for higher margin 

capacity orders. 

We are continuing to invest in the development and enhancement 

of TCS applications that use location information, like our Rond 

McNally Traffic and award-winning Rand McNally StreetFinder' 
Wireless applications. Rand McNally StreetFinderO Wireless is now 

available on all of the top three wireless service providers in North 
America and is ported to more than 173 devices. Likewise, our 

traffic application is currently available on 230 devices, up from 

60 at the end of 2005. 

TCS is working to combine our leadership position in LBS with our 

messaging portal technology to enhance the messaging gateway 
capabilities and deliver personalized location privacy, presence, 

and mobile advertising. As our registered subscribers for our 

personalized wireless messaging portal now exceed 25 million, we 
are in a unique position to capitalize an this integration. 

Government  Segment  Highlights 
O u r  Government segment realized substantial growth dur- 

ing 2006, fueled by a number of major contract wins. TCS has 
provided proven data communications expertise to a brood set of 

highly demanding customers for nearly two decades. 

During the third quarter of 2006, TCS was named as one of six 

vendors for the U.S. Army's five-year, Indefinite Delivery, Indefinite 

Quantity (IDIQ), $5 billion World-Wide Satellite Systems (WWSS) 
contract vehicle. A subsequent $11 million delivery order demon- 

strated our ability to secure large orders under this new contract 

vehicle. TCS also won a prime contracting position on a large, 
long-term program for the U.S. Navy to provide satellite commu- 

nication systems and support. In addition to prime contract awards, 

TCS is  a subcontractor on NCl's team for the U.S. Army's $20 
billion Information Technology Enterprise Solutions 2 Services 

(ITES-2s) Enterprise Mission Support Services Solutions contract, 

as well as the U.S. Air Force's $9 billion Network Centric Solutions 

(NETCENTS) program. Further, TCS i s  a subcontractor with 

USfalcon, Inc., for the U.S. Army's Communications-Electronics Life 
Cycle Management Command, Strategic Sourcing Service, with a 

10-year, $19 billion ceiling. 

We continue to expand and enhance our SwiftLink' product 

offerings to include more powerful electronics, longer-lasting 

power supplies, new modems, and improved reliability in harsh 
environments. However, the biggest growth wos in Swiftiink adjunct 

services, which include depot maintenance, field support, onsite 

technicians, classroom training, distance learning, field spares kits, 

in-country retrofit programs, and certification and accreditation. 
These improvements broadened our Government base by about 40 
new customers in 2006. We continue to see sustaining growth from 

our traditional Department of Defense and Special Forces customers, 
and we are now gaining market share in other federal agencies, 

like the U.S. Coast Guard and the Centers for Disease Control. 

Published marketing reports by Northern Sky Research predict 
150% growth in military satellite-based solutions by 2009. With 

large contract vehicles and industry trends, TCS is positioned to 

capture delivery orders, both large and small, from all branches of 
the military and civilian agencies. 

The TCS Platform 
We have completed the sale of two of our three Enterprise oper- 

ating units, and the remaining Enterprise unit is profitable. We're 

continuing to work with our investment bankers to optimize our 

investment in the enterprise mobile asset management operations. 

Our company enters 2007 with a sharpened focus and a trend 

of double-digit growth. Services revenue has grown steadily for 

both segments, and the long-term investments for systems sales to 
both Carrier and Government systems customers appear to have 

positioned us well for 2007 and beyond. 

I thank all of our talented employees whose efforts have brought 

the company this far. Their hord work and dedication have set the 
stage for what is shoping up to be another solid year for TCS. 

Sin cere I y, 

Maurice B. Tose 

Chairman, President and CEO 



CORPORATE PROFILE 

TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. (TCS) engineers and delivers wireless communications technology to 

customers that require high reliability. TCS was founded in 1987 as a government systems integrator 

and has been growing its government customer segment relationships since then. The company began 

investing aggressively in R&D for wireless data technology in the mid 1990s, leading to more than 

50 patents, and supporting the nearly two-thirds of 2006 revenue from wireless carriers and other 

commercial segment customers. The company has about 600 employees, based primarily in Annapolis, 

Seattle, Oakland, and Tampa. 
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EBIT!3A- Earnings Before Interest, 
Taxer, Depreciation, and Amortization 

See reconciliation to GAAP on 
the inride back cover 

G M P  - Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
EPS - Eamingd(Losr) Per Share from Continuing Operations 

Carr iers  
TCS delivers messaging and location-based services technology to wireless carriers and Voice over Internet Protocol (VolP) 

service providers under hosted service and subscriber contracts, which, in addition to maintenance contracts on the installed 

base of systems, generates a growing recurring revenue stream. TCS is a world leader in capturing and using the "X/Y" coor- 
dinates that define the precise location of a wireless device user for Enhanced 9-1 -1 (E9-1-1) and commercial applications like 

navigation and asset tracking. TCS systems are integrated into customer networks or hosted in TCS facilities. 

For customers like Verizon Wireless, Cingular, T-Mobile, Alltel, and Vonage, TCS provides hosted E9-1-1 and related services. 

For maior cellular phone carriers, including Sprint Wireless, TCS provides hosted mobile positioning and location services. 

TCS's mobile subscriber applications, like Rand McNally Traffic and Rand McNally StreetFinder@ Wireless, are now ovailable 

through all leading American carriers, and TCS manages map server doto for top-tier customers. TCS also supplies wireless 
carrier in-network systems, including the company's XypointO Location Platform, Wireless Intelligent Gateway'" for data traffic 

management, Short Message Service Center (SMSC), wireless portal (e.g., www.vtext.com), and the Xypoint@ Mapping Server 

for geospatial information. 

Governmen t  
TCS offers SwiftLinka deployable satellite-based communication systems and secure teleport landing facilities to defense, 

intelligence, and security customers, including the Department of Defense, FBI, State Department, Department of Homeland 
Security, and military special operations. For customers like Defense Telecom Services of Washington, D.C., and the City of 

Baltimore, TCS provides system support, communications engineering, program management, and help desk outsourcing. 

During 2006, TCS reached a maior milestone when it was named as one of six prime vendors for the U.S. Army's five-year, 

Indefinite Delivery, Indefinite Quantity (IDIQ), $5 billion World-Wide Satellite Systems (WWSS) contract vehicle. 
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This document contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act 
of 1933, as amended, and Section 21 E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended Forward-looking 
statements are statements other than historical information or statements of current condition W e  generally 
identify forward-looking statements by the use of terms such as "believe", "intend", "expect", "may",  
"should", "plan", "project", "contemplate", "anticipate", or other similar statements Examples of forward 
looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, but are not limited to  statements that (I) w e  
believe the combined availability of teleport, deployable device, and integration capability f rom a single source is 
compelling and that because of our company's portfolio of software, patented intellectual property and teams of 
wireless and encryption specialists w e  believe this gives us a competitive advantage, (it) w e  expect to  launch 
other location-based applications in 2007 including turn-by-turn navigation, (iii) w e  plan to  continue t o  develop and 
sell software and engineered systems which w e  will deliver through deployment in customer networks or 
through hosted and subscription business models and w e  believe that our software is positioned for early 
adoption by carriers, (iv) wireless growth is expected to  continue t o  increase in all regions around the wor ld for 
the foreseeable future, (v) both the number of users and messages per individual are projected to  increase 
significantly, (vi) w e  will continue to  develop network software for wireless carriers that operate on all major 
types of networks, (VII) w e  will continue to leverage our knowledge of complex call control technology, including 
Signaling System 7 and Internet protocol standards, to  unlock valuable information such as user location, device 
on/off status and billing and transaction records that reside inside wireless networks, (viii) w e  will continue t o  
invest in our underlying technology and to  capitalize on our expertise to  meet the growing demand for 
sophisticated wireless applications, (1x1 w e  intend t o  continue to  selectively pursue acquisitions of companies 
and technologies in order to increase the scale and scope of our operations, market presence, products, services 
and customer base, (x) federal agencies, as well as state and local governments, are increasingly contracting 
wi th  specialist teams for functions such as network management, and for long-term projects such as software 
development and systems integration, (xi) w e  expect t o  realize $51.3 million of backlog within the next 
12 months, (xii) w e  expect to  complete the sale of the third Enterprise division during 2007, (xiii) w e  believe w e  
have sufficient capital resources to  meet our anticipated cash operating expenses, working capital and capital 
expenditure and debt services needs for the next twelve months, (xiv) that w e  believe our capitalized research 
and development expense will be recoverable f rom future gross profits generated by the related products, 
(xv) w e  believe our intellectual property assets are valuable and may realized revenue from patent infringement 
claims, (xvi) the WWSS contract is expected t o  contribute t o  significant sales growth, (xvii) expectations about 
the amount of future non-cash stock compensation, and (xviii) statements about financial covenants related to  
our loan agreements Other such statements include without lrmitation risks and uncertainties relating to  our 
financial results and our ability to  (I) reach profitability as early as anticipated or a t  all, (ii) continue to  rely on our 
customers and other third parties to  provide additional products and services that create a demand for our 
products and services, ( 1 1 1 )  conduct our business in foreign countries, (iv) adapt and integrate n e w  technologies 
into our products, (v) develop software without any errors or defects, (vi) protect our intellectual property rights, 
(vii) implement our business strategy, (viii) realize backlog, and (ix) achieve continued revenue growth in the 
foreseeable future for our E9-1-1 business This list should not be considered exhaustive 

These forward-looking statements relate to our plans, objectives and expectations for future operations W e  
base these statements on our beliefs as well as assumptions made using information currently available t o  us In 
light of the risks and uncertainties inherent in all projected operational matters, the inclusion of forward-looking 
statements in this document should not be regarded as a representation by us or any other person that our 
objectives or plans will be achieved or that any of our operating expectations will be realized Revenues, results 
of operations, and other matters are difficult to  forecast and could differ materially f rom those projected in the 
forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as a result of factors discussed in 
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations", the matters 
discussed in "Risk Factors Affecting Our Business and Future Results", which are included in I tem I A ,  and 
those factors discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K including, changes in economic 
conditions, technology and the market in general, and our ability to  adapt our products and services t o  these 
changes We undertake no obligation to  release publicly the results of any future revisions w e  make t o  forward- 
looking statements t o  reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of 
unanticipated events W e  caution you not to  put undue reliance on these forward-looking statements 
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Item 1. Business 

Recent Developments 

On December 29, 2005, our Board of Directors resolved to offer the Enterprise assets, comprised of three 
operating units which were purchased from Aether Systems, Inc in 2004 and were part of our Commercial 
Segment for sale, and we engaged an investment bank to market them. As a result, the Enterprise division has 
been reclassified in our Consolidated Financial Statements as discontinued operations for accounting purposes in 
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or 
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets." Sales of two of the three operating units were completed effective January 1,  
2007 as described more fully in Note 24 -Subsequent Events to the audited Consolidated Financial Statements 
presented elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The third unit, which the company is continuing to 
work with an investment banker to sell, provides wireless data solutions that include package and vehicle 
tracking, productivity tools, and the ability to capture digital signatures for proof of delivery to a growing installed 
base of logistics customers. This third operating unrt will continue to be classified as discontinued operations as 
we believe it will be sold within the next twelve months 

Overview 

TeleCommunication Systems, lnc develops and applies highly reliable wireless data communications 
technology, with emphasis on location-based services such as enhanced 9-1-1 (E9-1-1) for wireless carriers and 
Voice over Internet Protocol (VolP) service providers 

We are a Maryland corporation founded in 1987 with our headquarters located at  275 West Street, 
Annapolis, Maryland 21401 Our Web address is www.telecomsys.com. The information contained on our Web 
site does not constitute part of this Annual Report on Form IO-K All of our filings with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission are available through a link on our website The terms "TCS", "we", "us" and "our" as 
used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K refer to TeleCommunication Systems, Inc and its subsidiaries as a 
combined entity, except where it is made clear that such terms mean only TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Our business is conducted through two operating segments, Commercial (62% of 2006 revenue) and 
Government (38% of 2006 revenue). 
as a discontinued operation. of which we have 'sold two of the three operating units as of January 1, 2007 See 
discussion of segment reporting in Note 20 to the audited Consolidated Financial Statements presented 
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional segment information. 

addition, our business includes the Enterprise division, which is classified 

Commercial Segment: Our carrier software system products enable wireless carriers to deliver short text 
messages, location information, internet content, and other enhanced communication services to and from 
wireless phones. We provide E9-1-1 services, commercial location-based services, and inter-carrier text message 
distribution services on a hosted, or service bureau basis, that is, customers use our software functionality 
through connections to and from our network operations centers, paying us monthly fees based on the number 
of subscribers, cell sites, or call center circuits, or message volume As of December 31, 2006, we provide 
hosted services under contracts with 41 wireless carrier networks, as well as VolP service providers. We also 
earn subscriber revenue through wireless applications including our Rand McNallyTM Traffic application which is 
available via all major U.S. wireless carriers. We earn carrier software-based systems revenue through the sale 
of licenses, deployment and customization fees and maintenance fees Pricing is generally based on the volume 
of capacity purchased from us by the carrier. As of December 31, 2006, we had deployed 84 of our software 
systems in use by wireless carrier networks around the world, including those of Verizon Wireless, T-Mobile, 
Telefonica and its affiliate Vivo, Alltel, and Hutchison Whampoa's "3" brand third generation networks. We also 
provide carrier technology on a hosted or service bureau basis 

Government Segment. Since our founding in 1987 we have provided communication systems integration, 
information technology services, and software solutions To the U S. Department of Defense and other 
government customers. We also own and operate secure satellite teleport facilities, and resell access to satellite 
airtime (known as space segment.) We design, furnish, install and operate wireless and data network 
communication systems, including our SwiftLinka deployable communication systems which incorporate high 
speed, satellite, and internet protocol technology More than 900 of our SwiftLinka deployable communication 
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systems are in use for security, defense, and law enforcement around the world We believe that our ability to  
provide teleport, deployable device, and integration capability from a single source is uniquely compelling 

Discontinued Operations. The Enterprise division, formerly part of our Commercial Segment, generates 
subscriber revenue as a reseller of Research in Motion's BlackBerrym devices and service, and as a provider of 
wireless client device software applications, including real-time wireless delivery of financial market data The 
Enterprise division software uses a proprietary FusionTM behind-the-enterprise-firewall platform uniting messag- 
ing, synchronization and web technologies, and its 20/20 DeliveryTM application enables package and vehicle 
tracking, productivity tools, and the ability to capture digital signatures for proof of delivery Effective January 1, 
2007, sales of two of the three operating units were completed and are described more fully in Note 24 - 
Subsequent Events to the audited Consolidated Financial Statements presented elsewhere in this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K The third unit, which the company is continuing to work with an investment banker to sell, 
provides wireless data solutions that include package and vehicle tracking, productivity tools, and the ability to  
capture digital signatures for proof of delivery to a growing installed base of logistics customers. The third 
operating unit will continue to be classified as discontinued operations until it is sold, which is expected 
within the next twelve months See "Recent Developments" above and Note 24 to the audited Consoli 
Financial Statements presented elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K 

We currently have 52 patents, primarily for wireless messaging and location technology, and over 150 patent 
applications pending We employ approximately 600 people 

SwiftLink@, Xypoint@, Enabling Convergent Technologies@ Wireless Internet GatewayTM, 20/20 DeliveryTM, 
FusionTM, and mobeoTM are trademarks or service marks of TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. or our subsidiaries. 
This Annual Report on Form IO-K also contains trademarks, trade names and services marks of other companies 
that are the property of their respective owners. 

I. Commercial Segment: 

A. Commercial Product and Service Offerings 

1. Commercial services. We own and lease network operation centers that host software for which 
customers make recurring monthly usage payments Our hosted offerings include wireless and Voice over 
IP E9-1-1, and commercial location-based applications. Through wireless carriers, w e  sell subscriptions to 
services using our client software applications such as Traffic MattersTM, sometimes in collaboration with owners 
of related brand names such as Rand McNally 

a. Hosted Location-Based Services, including €9- 7- 1. Our E9-1-1 service bureau works with wireless 
carriers and local emergency services in compliance with the Federal Communication Commission require- 
ments When a wireless subscriber covered by this service makes an E9-1-1 call from his or her wireless 
phone, the software (1) identifies the call as an emergency call, (2) accesses the handset's location 
information from the wireless network (either imprecise or precise), (3) routes the call to  the appropriate 
E9-1-1 jurisdiction, (4) translates the information into a user friendly format, and (5) transmits the data to the 
local emergency service call center Our E9-1-1 service operates on a platform that resides a t  our netwbrk 
operations center in Seattle, Washington with data center redundancy in Phoenix, Arizona As of 
December 31, 2006, w e  are under contract to provide E9-1-1 services to  38 wireless carriers, including 
Verizon and Cingular We are also under contract to provide E9-1-1 service to 13 Voice over IP service 
providers, including Vonage and VolP, Inc 

b. Customer subscriptions to  application-based services such as Traffic a n d  Points-of-Interest. 
TCS' strategy is to have a suite of location-based applications that carrier subscribers may select and for 
which they pay recurring monthly fees TCS has launched on multiple U S carriers a real-time traffic 
application called Traffic MattersTM and StreetFinder, a downloadable mobile application that delivers easy 
access to maps, directions and directory listings for the entire United States Both applications are sold 
under the Rand McNally brand TCS expects to launch other location-based applications in 2007 including 
navigation 
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c. Software and system maintenance. For our installed base of systems in use by customers (see 
system descriptions below), w e  provide ongoing operational support, including administration of system 
components, system optimization and configuration management Maintenance services include tracking 
customer support issues, trouble shooting, and developing and installing maintenance releases We typically 
provide maintenance services for an annual fee paid in advance, which is priced based on the cumulatrve 
license fees w e  have billed for the systems being supported 

d. Location-based technical service projects. We provide telematic location database maintenance 
services for DENS0 Corporation of Japan, (a global supplier to the automotive industry) through the 
compilation of geographic rnformation databases used in DENSO’s in-vehicle navigation systems that are in 
products including Toyota, Lexus, Land Rover and Lincoln brands 

2. Commercial Licensed Software-based Systems: We design and develop software products for 
wireless carrier and enterprise networks that enable the delivery of secure and personalized content, services, 
and transactions to wireless devices We design our software using industry standards for easy implementation, 
customization, and interoperability with other network components Most of our commercial software is now 
designed and delivered together with third-party software and related hardware, which is integrated into new 
and existing networks by our engineers Our commercial software-based system offerings include 

a. XypoinP Location Platform (XLP) and Applications for Location-based Services: Our XypointB 
Location Platform system interacts with the wireless network to extract location information (the ”W” 
coordinates) of the user’s device In order to determine a user’s location with sufficient precision for public 
safety compliance and for commercial location-based applications, our technology interacts with network 
triangulation software which some carriers have added to  cell towers and switches in the network, it can 
also work with networks that have incorporated Assisted GPS systems that use Global Positioning System 
(GPS) chips in user handsets Our platform also provides privacy controls so that the wireless device user 
controls access to the user’s location information The ”W” information extracted from networks by our 
XLP is used by application software including E9-1- 1, driving directions, identification of locations near the 
end user (such as gas stations, restaurants, or hotels), and locating other network subscribers near the 
user‘s current position 

b. Short Message Service Center and Wireless Messaging Gateway. Our Short Message Service 
Center software enables users to  send and receive text or data messages to and from wireless devices It 
provides wireless carriers efficient two-way data delivery and supports major industry standards for wireless 
communications Our Wireless Messaging Gateway is a portal for two-way data communication between 
users of wireless networks and the Internet The Wireless Messaging Gateway allows users to customize 
the services they receive on wireless devices by setting up a user profile through a single Internet-based 
procedure Wireless carriers can access these user profiles and usage data to gain a better understanding of 
customer behavior The Wireless Messaging Gateway allows additional wireless applications to  be added as 
desired, as well as personalization, instant messaging and spam-blocking capabilities that can be indepen- 
dently customized by the end-user 

B. Commercial Market Opportunities and Strategy 

We plan to  continue to develop and sell software and engineered systems which w e  will deliver through 
deployment in customer networks or through hosted and subscription business models Our development 
investment is focused on the delivery of Internet content, proprietary third-party content, short messages, 
location information, corporate network data and other enhanced data-communication services to and from 
wireless devices The following trends are driving demand for our products and services 

Growth in Wireless and Voice over Internet Protocol (VolP) Subscribers. The use of wireless 
communications has increased significantly in recent years, driven by expanded wireless network coverage, 
upgraded high-speed digital wireless networks, more affordable wireless communications service plans, and 
higher quality and less expensive wireless devices Likewise, VolP service offers cost advantages over 
traditional wireline service Wireless growth is expected to  continue to increase in all regions around the 
world for the foreseeable future Driving this growth is the replacement of landline connections with 
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wireless connections. Some households are now using cellular phones exclusively. This is especially true for 
young adults, but also true in developing countries where wireless may often be the only means of 
communications. 

The FCC's €9- I- I Mandates. We are one of the two leading providers of E9-1-1 service to  wireless 
and VolP service providers in the U.S. The ability to call for help or communicate with family members in 
need is the primary reason many people cite for having a wireless phone. A key to enhancing personal 
safety through a cell phone is the availability of E9-1-1 wireless capabilities. In 1996, the Federal 
Communications Commission (FCC) mandated the adoption of E9-1-1 technology by wireless carriers. In 
June 2005, the FCC ordered providers of interconnected VolP service to provide E9-1-1 services to all of 
their customers as a standard feature of the service, rather than as an optional enhancement. The FCC 
requires wireless carriers to issue quarterly reports as to their progress and compliance with FCC-mandated 
deployment schedules. We are under long-term contracts, usually three to  five years, with 38 wireless and 
13 VolP service providers, including all of the four largest wireless carriers in the United States. 

Cellular Network Improvements to Third Generation Capabilities. Mobile operators are deploying 
high-speed data networks based on third generation technologies that, in many cases, equal or surpass data 
rates that are typically available for residential wireline users. The deployments of these high-speed wireless 
data networks have made it possible for individuals and enterprises to "wireless-enable" many services that 
previously required a wireline connection, such as connecting to the Internet and accessing corporate data 
outside the office. Our company's location-based technology and applications incorporating map graphics 
take advantage of these network enhancements. 

Improving Wireless Device Functionality. Manufacturers continue to increase the functionality of 
mobile devices including phones and personal digital assistants through higher resolution, color screens, and 
increased computing capability for sophisticated applications. These devices enable the user to take 
advantage of the high-speed data networks for Internet and data usage. Broad adoption of location-based 
services (LBS) has required, among other things, handsets incorporating components for interoperation with 
Global Positioning System satellites and with LBS network components that w e  have developed and 
provide. 

Growing Use of Commercial Location-Based Wireless Services (LBS). A driver of wireless commu- 
nications growth is the delivery of timely, highly specialized, interactive and location-specific information. 
Technology incorporated in a growing number of networks and handsets now enables determination of the 
handset's location with sufficient precision to allow useful applications beyond public safety's ED-1-1. 
Wireless users benefit from the ability to receive highly customized location-specific information in response 
to their queries or via targeted opt-in content delivered to the wireless device. Enterprises benefit from 
wireless location technology by utilizing routing and tracking applications for their mobile field forces. Our 
software provides wireless location solutions to mobile operators today through our Xypoint@ Location 
Platform (XLP.) This technology is being used, via interconnection with XLP systems hosted in our 
company's network operations, by Sprint in the U.S. and lusacell in Mexico. Our XLP systems are deployed 
in Alltel, six of Hutchison Whampoa's "3"TM networks, Telefonica's Vivo network in Brazil, and the Altel 
network in Kazakhstan. 

Growing Use of Short Messaging, E-mail and Internet Applications. E-mail and short messaging 
services (SMS) are increasingly important means of communication, with both the number of users and 
messages per individual are projected to increase significantly. Mobile operators in the United States are 
experiencing rapid SMS traffic growth, according to statistics from mobile operators. The Internet and 
internal corporate data networks, or intranets, have emerged as global communications channels that allow 
users to share information and conduct business transactions electronically. We provide solutions for mobile 
operators to receive and route e-mail and SMS messages through our Short Message Service Center and 
Wireless Messaging Gateway systems. 

The key elements of our commercial strategy are to: 

Focus our Software and Integration Resources on  Evolving Carrier Network Capabilities. Mobile 
operators and the federal government increasingly seek integrated solutions that can harness both 
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messaging capabilities of networks and location information of end-users We are well positioned to  
address the evolving integration needs of our commercial and government clients through our demon- 
strated expertise in both messaging and location determination Mobile operators have made large capital 
expenditure investments in infrastructure for wireless data and location determination technologies While 
originally envisioned as separate technologies, messaging and location determination technologies can be 
integrated to  provide value-added services and applications for the operators' end-users 

Expand Our Sales and Marketing Relationships. We are developing relationships with communication 
infrastructure providers in order to expand our sales channels for our carrier software products and 
services We have historically leveraged our strategic relationships with original equipment manufacturers 
to market our Commercial Segment products to wireless carriers worldwide We are adding partnerships 
for our location technologies 

Grow O u r  Wireless Carrier and Voice Over IP Customer Base. We now serve or are under contract 
with 55 wireless carrier networks in 15 countries, and with 13 VolP service providers We intend to 
expand our domestic and international carrier base by capitalizing on our relationships with original 
equipment manufacturers and establish new distribution partnerships and by expanding our own sales and 
marketing initiatives We will continue to develop network software for wireless carriers that operate on 
all major types of networks 

Leverage Our Expertise in  Accessing Information Stored inside Wireless Networks. We will continue 
to leverage our knowledge of complex call control technology, including Signaling System 7 and Internet 
protocol standards, to unlock valuable information such as user location, device on/off status, and billing 
and transaction records that reside inside wireless networks and are difficult to  retrieve and utilize Using 
this information, w e  intend to expand the range of capab 
accomplish for our customers 

es that wireless data technology can 

Develop and Enhance Our Technology. W e  will continue to invest in our underlying technology and to 
capitalize on our expertise to meet the growing demand for sophisticated wireless applications As of 
January 1, 2007, our staff included approximately 400 personnel with technical expertise in wireless 
network, client software development, hosted wireless operations, satellite-based communication technol- 
ogy and integrated network solutions We also have research and development relationships with wireless 
handset manufacturers, wireless carriers, and content and electronic commerce providers Our XypointB 
platform architecture efficiently integrates our presence, location, call control and messaging technology, 
resulting in reduced costs, increased reliability, more efficient deployments, compatibility with our existing 
products and a migration path to third-generation services. 

Pursue Select Acquisitions. We intend to continue to selectively pursue acquisitions of companies and 
technologies in order to increase the scale and scope of our operations, market presence, products, 
services and customer base 

II. Government Segment: 

A. Government Products and Services 

1. Government Services. We enter into fee-for-service contracts under which revenue is generated based 
on contract labor billing rates or based on fixed fees for deliverables These services, typically under multi-year 
contracts or contract vehicles, include 

a. Network Operation and Telecom Expense Management Support. We design, install, and operate 
networks that integrate computing and communications, including systems that provide communications via 
both satellite and terrestrial links We can provide complete network installation services from cabling 
infrastructure to complex communications system components We also provide ongoing network operation 
and management support services including telecom expense management under multi-year contracts with 
govern men t customers 
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b. Custom Software. We develop custom software applications to support specific customer require- 
ments. We have historically tailored enhancements of our software products for wireless carrier customers 
and developed custom applications for government agencies 

c. Secure Satellite Teleport Data Landing and Transmission Services. We own and operate high- 
speed satellite communications teleports in Baltimore, Maryland and Manassas, Virginia that are connected 
to  the public switched telephone network. These facilities provide transport services for Internet protocol 
(IP)-based media content consisting of Voice over IP (VOIP), Internet, video and messaging data using Very 
Small Aperture Terminal (VSAT) satellite technology as part of our communication solutions for our 
customers. For some customers w e  purchase space segment and resell it to customers using our fac 

d. Maintenance Services. We offer basic and extended maintenance services related to  our 
SwiftLinkm products and customized deployable communication systems 

2. Government Systems. We have designed and produced SwiftLinkB, a lightweight, satellite-based secure 
communication system, which can be immediately deployed in remote areas where other means of reliable 
communications may not be available SwiftLinkm provides secure vo,ce, video and data communications for up 
to eight people and a single person can deploy the system in less than ten minutes, creating critical 
communication channels from any location around the world Uses include. emergency response, news 
reporting, public safety, drilling and mining operations, field surveys and other activities that require remote 
capabilities for video and data transmission Integration work which typically accompanies customer purchases of 
our secure deployable systems is reported together with the system sales revenue The Broadband Global Area 
Network upgrade of the lnmarsat satellite constellation, which enables lower cost Internet protocol traffic with 
broader band capability, expands our opportunity for SwiftLinkO sales volume 

B. Government Market Opportunities and Strategy 

Growing Use of Secure Wireless Communications and Location Technology for Defense, Intelligence 
and Homeland Security. Wireless communications and location technology are key initiatives within the federal 
government for both security and supply-chain management. As was dramatically illustrated during 2005 by 
Hurricane Katrina, wireless communications in emergencies are of paramount importance, as emergency 
personnel need to be able to communicate and share information across agencies and departments where 
wireline systems may be unavailable. W e  believe that our expertise in the areas of wireless E9-1-1, location and 
messaging services, and secure satellite communications can be leveraged to provide the needed wireless 
infrastructure for the U.S Departments of Homeland Security and Defense and we are currently pursuing 
opportunities to provide such products and services. Our SwiftLinkm deployable communication systems are also 
increasingly used by military and other government agencies around the globe for communications 
emergencies. SwiftLinke is designed to provide secure voice and data communications through encrypted 
satellite links. 

Government Outsourcing of Network and Telecom Technical Functions. Federal agencies, as well as 
state and local governments, are increasingly contracting with specialist teams for functions such as network 
management, and for long-term projects such as software development and systems integration. Since the 
founding of our Company, we  have built relationships with federal agenc 
Command and the FBI, as well as the State of Maryland and the City of 
made it a management priority to aggressively expand our base of long-t 
have added experienced sales personnel and enhanced our relationships 
vendors such as SAP to expand our penetration of the government service market. 

Expanded Need for Secure, Interoperable Deployable Communication Solutions. During 
response efforts in the U.S. Gulf Coast area by the Department of Homeland Security’s federal Emergency 
Management Agency illustrated the need for enhanced communication capabilities in such circumstances. 
Military responders in New Orleans used our SwiftLink@ systems to  coordinate deployable resources. W e  are 
continuing to  enhance our deployable communication systems product line to take advantage of the evolving 
environment, including the benefits of Very Small Aperture Terminal (VSAT) satellite communications architec- 
tures where desirable, and the lnmarsat Broadband Global Area Network enhancements to its satellite services 
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Secure Teleport and Integration Capabilities along with Deployable Systems as a Bundled Offering. 
Government customers can benefit from single-sourcing secure communications solutions which include a 
secure U S landing site for backhaul traffic as well as network engineering expertise and secure remote 
terminals We believe that our company enjoys a competitive advantage, because it can offer all of these 
elements from a single vendor 

Application of Commercially Proven Technology to Government Solutions. Government customers 
increasingly are using commercial carrier networks Procurement officers have expressed a preference for 
solutions that incorporate proven commercial technology, rather than reliance on government research and 
development funding Our company's portfolio of software, patented intellectual property, and teams of wireless 
and encryption specialists positions us to tap into this opportunity 

Customers 

Commercial Segment. Our commercial customers include wireless telecommunications carriers in the 
United States and foreign countries, either directly or through our channel partners. We provide licensed 
software-based systems, and hosted service bureau offerings in our Commercial segment to carriers around the 
world Our wireless carrier customers include Verizon Wireless (20% of total 2006 revenue from continuing 
operations), Cingular Wireless (1 0% of total 2006 revenue from Continuing operations), Sprint, and the Hutchison 
Whampoa third generation "3" brand networks Customers for our Voice Over IP E9-1-1 services include Vonage 
and Level 3 Our sales efforts target wireless and Voice over IP service providers around the world. 

Government Segment. Our major Government Segment customers include units of the U.S. Departments of 
Defense, Justice, and State, the General Services Administration, the City of Baltimore, and Northrop Grumman In 
the aggregate, U.S. federal government entities accounted for 25% of total 2006 revenue from continuing 
opera ti on s 

Backlog 

As of December 31, 2006 and 200 e had unfilled orders, or backlog, as follows: 

($ in millions) 

Commercial segment . . . . . . . .  . .  . 
Government segment . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . .  
Total backlog . . . . . .  . .  . . . .  

Expected to be realized within 12 months. . . . . . . . . .  

December 31, 
2006 2005 

$42.8 $ 69.0 
- -  \ 

I 

409 528 I - -  
$83.7 $121.8 - -  --  
- -  $51.3 !§ 59.1 - -  

revenue Backlog for our hosted services is computed by multiplying the most recent month's r 
' 

times the remaining months under existing long-term agreements with 
deployments of Public Safety Answering Point connections The back1 
number of factors, including contracts being renewed or new contracts signed before existing contracts 
are completed. Some of our backlog could be canceled for causes such as late delivery, poor performance and 
other factors. Accordingly, a comparison of backlog from period to peri 
not be indicative of eventual actual revenue. 

mption as t nal 
given time may be affected by a 

is not necessarily meaningful and may 

Sales and Marketing - 

We sell our products and services through our direct sales force and through indirect channels. Our direct 
sales force consists of approximately 35 professionals in the U.S. and Europe. We have also historically 
leveraged our relationships with original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) to market our commercial systems to 
wireless carrier customers. These indirect sales relationships include Lucent, Ericsson, Motorola and Qualcomm 
During the indirect sales process, as well as during installation and maintenance, w e  have extensive direct 
contact with prospective carrier customers 
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We are pre-qualified as an approved vendor for some government contracts, and some of our products and 
services are available to government customers via the General Services Administration's Information Technology 
Schedule 70, and the Worldwide Satellite Services (WWSS) and the Space and Naval Warfare Foreign Military 
Sales (SPAWAR FMS) contract vehicles. We collaborate in sales efforts under various arrangements with 
integrators including General Dynamics and SAP. Our marketing efforts also include advertising, public relations, 
speaking engagements and attending and sponsoring industry conferences 

Competition 

The markets for our products and services are competitive. The adoption of industry standards may make it 
easier for new market entrants to compete with us We expect that we will continue to compete primarily on 
the basis of the functionality, breadth, time to market, ease of integration, price, and quality of our products and 
services, as well as our market experience and reputation The market and competitive conditions are continually 
developing Our software products compete with many similar products provided by other companies It is 
difficult to present a meaningful comparison between our competitors and us because there is a large variation 
in revenue generated by different customers. different products and services, as well as the different 
combinations of products and se 
competitive position. 

ur competitors We cannot, therefore, quantify our relative 

Our current and potential co 

Commercial Segment. West Corporation's lntrado subsidiary, Ericsson, Openwave, Logica CMG, Hua 
ace Enterprise division competitors include IBM, Bloomberg, and Technologies, Comverse, N 

UPS Logistics 

Government Segment. Computer Sciences Corporation, Electronic Data Systems Corporation, Keane, 
Inc.; Northrop Grumman; DataPath, Tactical Communications, a division of Sierra Nevada Corporation, 
Globecomm Systems, Inc. 

Many of our existing and potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical, marketing and 
distribution resources than we do. Many of these companies have greater name recognition and more 
established relationships with their target customers, Furthermore, these competitors may be able to adop 
more aggressive pricing policies and offer customers more attractive terms than we can With time and ca 
it would be possible for our competitors to replicate our products and services 

We partner with vendors of precise location technology. Certain of our partners may attempt to compete 
ir own transmission platform or by purchasing another mobile 
I location and other mobile wireless applications for carriers and 

with our operating platform by developing 
location platform. The markets for comme 
enterprises are relatively new and continually developing. The convergence of wireless technologies and the 
Internet is creating many initiatives to bring data and transaction capabilities to wireless devices. There is a wide 
array of potential competitors in this market, including providers of competing location management platforms, 
competing e-mail products, competing enterprise mobility platforms and other competing applications for 
wireless devices. 

Research and Development 

Our success depends on a number of factors, which include, among other items, our ability to identify and 
maintain competitive products, 
entiate the products from those 

respond to emerging technological trends in our target markets, to develo 
to enhance our existing products by adding features and functionality that 
of our competitors, ana to bring products to market on a timely basis and at  competitive prices. As of January 1, 
2007, our overall staff included approximately 400 professionals with technical expertise in wireless network, 
client software 'development and satellite-based communication technology. Since 1996, we have made 
substantial investments in wireless application research and development, most of which has been devoted to 
the development of carrier and enterprise network software products and services We are primarily focusing 
our current research and development investments in cellular location-based technology, including E9-1-1 
technology We actively support existing telecommunications standards and promote new telecommunications, 
standards in order to expand the market for wireless data. We actively participate in wireless standards-setting 
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organizations including the Open Mobile Alliance, and we are represented on the Board of Directors for the 
E9-1-1 Institute. In 1996, we co-founded the Intelligent Network Forum, an organization dedicated to expanding 
the role of intelligent networks in telecommunications. As part of our strategy to expand the role of short 
messaging, we co-founded the Short Message Peer-to-Peer Forum in 1999. For the years ended December 31, 
2006, 2005, and 2004, our research and development expense in continuing operations was $12.6 million, 
$13.9 million, and $1 8.0 million, respectively. 

Certain of our government customers contract with us from time to time to conduct research on 
telecommunications software, equipment and systems. 

Intellectual Property Rights 

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark, service mark, and trade secret laws and - 

We currently hold 52 issued patents relating to wireless text m 

assurance that these patent applications will result in q patent bern 

Additionally, foreign patent rights may 
U S. patent applications have been filed. We expect to sell four f 
Enterprise division, and royalty-free rights to use some of our do 

that the company does not currently plan to use, and we  are taking measures to protect-the existing patent 
rights from infringement. 

patents along with the sale of the 
patents. In additidn, we have engaged an 

challenge by either pa 

As a member of various industry standard-setting forums, we to license certain of our 
ent that the license is required to 

Employees 

As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately 600 employees, of which 591 were full-time and 9 were 
part-time. We believe relations with our employees are good. None of our employees is represented by a union. 

Geographical Information s 

respectively, and ourtot$ revenue 

essentially all of the long-liv four  continuing oper 

During the fiscal years ended Decembe 

respectively, and our total revenues generated from products and services 
the U.S. were $3.9 miflion, $5.0 million and $6 2 million, respectively. As o 2006, -2005 and 2004, 
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our Enterprise division had approximately $1 8 million, $2.2 million and $2.8 million, respectively, of assets 
located outside the U.S. 

We are subject to risks related to offering our products and services in foreign countries. See the 
information under the heading "Risk Factors$'- 
subject to risks of conducting business in foreign countri6S" indude 

duse our product offerings are sold internationally, we are 

Item 1 A. Risk Factors 

You should consider carefully each of the following risks and ail of the other information in this Annual Report on 
Form 70-K and the documents indorporated by reference herein. If anyof the following risks and uncertainties 
develops into actual events, our business, financidl condirion or results of operations could be materially 
adversely affected 

Risks Related to Our Business 

ations) of $21.7 million, $1 1.5 million and $18.5 million 
, respectively. As of December 37, 2006, we had an for the years ended De 

accumulated deficit of $18 
he foreseeable 

near term, especially due 
and marketing and administrative expenses. Therefore, we will need to generate significant additional revenue 

ability on k quarterly or annual basis If we are not able to increase 

We expect that th 

nnouncements of n 
communications; 

ts  

roviders of wireless data communications; acquisitions of, 

changes in recommendations by securities analysts regarding the results or prospects of providers of 
wireless data communications. 

changes in investor perceptions of the acceptance or profitability of wireless data communications; and 

If wireless carriers limit their 
our applications, our b 

of our products and se 

for the delivery of network-based Content and services. We have no control over the pace at which wireless 
carriers rmplemG-t these new services. The failure of wireless carriers to introduce and support services utilizing 



our products in a timely and effective manner could reduce sales of our products and services and seriously 
harm our business. 

We may fail to support our anticipa#ed growth in operations which could reduce demand for our 
services and materially adversely affect our revenue. 

Our business strategy IS based on the assumption that the number of customers, the amount of information 
they want to receive and the number of services we offer will all increase. We must continue to develop and 
expand our systems and operations to accommodate this growth. The expansion and adaptation of our systems 
operations requires substantial financial, operational and management resources. Due to the limited deployment 
of our services to date, the ability of our syFtems and operations to connect and manage a substantially larger 
number of customers while maintaining su@erior performance is unknown. Any failure on our part to develop and 
maintain our wireless data services as we experience rapid growth could significantly reduce demand for our 
services and materially adversely affect our revenue. 

We could incur substantial costs from product liability claims relating to our software. 

Our agreements with customers may 
non-performance. Product liability and othe 

stomers for our own acts of negligence and 
xpensive and may not be available in the 

sure that we will be able to maintain or obtain insurance coverage at accepta 
that our insurer will not disclaim coverage as to a future claim. A product liab 

claim may adversely affect our business, operating results or financial condition. 

Our operating results could be adversely affected by any interruption of our data delivery services or 
system failure. 

Our E9-1-1, hosted location-based services and mobile asset delivery operations depend on our ability 
maintain our computer and telecommunications equipment and systems in effective working order, and to 
protect our sysrems against damage from fire, natural disaster, power loss, telecommunications failure, 
sabotage, unauthorized access to our system or similar events. Although all of our mission-critical systems and 
equipment are designed with built-in redundancy and security, any unanticipated interruption or delay in our 
operations or breach of security could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations 

Furthermore, any addition or expansion of our facilities to increase capacity could increase our exposure to 
natural or other disasters. Our property and business interruption insurance may not be adequate to compensate 
us for any losses that may occur in the event of a system failure or a breach of security. Furth 
may not be available to us at all or, if available, may not be available to us on commercially rea 

Because we rely on a few key customers, our revenue may decline if we fail to retain those 
customers. 

To date, the largest customers for our product and service offerings in terms of revenue generated have 

\ 

been Cingular Wireless, Sprint, Hutchison 3G. Verizon Wireless, and the U.S. government. For the fiscal years 
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, each of Verizon Wireless, Cingular Wireless and the U.S. government 
accounted for 10% or-more of our total revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2004, each of Verizon 
Wireless and the 
significant portion 
December 31, 20 
Cingular Wireless, and the largest customers for our Government Segment were various U.S. government 
agencies. 

ernment accounted for 10% or more of our total revenue We expect to generate a 
total revenue from these customers for the foreseeable future. For the year ended 
largest customers for our Commercial Applications Segment were Verizon 

Our growth depends on maintaining relationships with our major customers and on developing other 
customers and distribution channels. The loss of any of the customers discussed in this paragraph would have a 
material adverse-m-pact on our business. 
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Because we rely on key partners to expand our marketing and sales efforts, if we fail to  maintain or 
expand our relationships with strategic partners and indirect distribution channels our license 
revenues could decline. 

We have announced strategic partnerships with Motorola and Alcatel-Lucent, and are working on additional 
partnerships to provide supplemental channels for the marketing and sale of our software applications. Our 
growth depends on maintaining relationships with these partners and on developing other distribution channels 
The loss of any of these partners would have a material adverse impact on our business. 

Because our business may not generate sufficient cash to fund operations, we may not be able to 
continue to grow our business if we are unable to obtain additional capital when needed. 

W e  believe that our cash and cash equivalents, and our bank line of credit, coupled with the funds 
anticipated to be generated from operations will be sufficient to finance our operations for at  least the next 
twelve months Although w e  currently believe that w e  have s nt capital resources to meet our an 
working capital and capital expenditures requtrements beyond ext twelve months, unanticipated e 
could cause us to fall short of our capital requirements. In addition, such unanticipated events could cause us to 
violate our bank line of credit covenants causing the bank to foreclose on the line and/or opportunities may make 
it necessary for us to return to the public markets, or establish new credit facilities or raise capital in private 
transactions in order to meet our capital requirements. We cannot assure you that we  will be able to raise 
additional capital in the future on terms acceptable to us, or at all 

Our bank credit agreement contains a tangible net worth covenant which is required to  be met on a monthly 
basis. In March, 2006 the bank amended our line of credit agreement, reducing the tangible net worth 
requirement through March 31, 2007, as discussed in the notes to our audited financial statements The line of 
credit agreement also contains a subjective acceleration clause which allows the bank to declare the amounts 
outstanding under the line of credit due and payable if certain material adverse changes occur, as described in 
the notes to the audited financial statements. Also, the loan document governing the subordinated debt issued 
in March 2006 contains a cross-default provision that would allow the debt holder to accelerate payment of the 
subordinated debt if other debt exceeding $2.5 million is declared due and payable. We believe that we  will 
continue to comply with our restrictive covenants under our debt agreements. If our performance does not result 
in compliance with any of the restrictive covenants, or if our line of credit agreement lender seeks to  exercise its 
rights under the subjective acceleration clause referred to  above, we  would seek to further modify our financing 
arrangements, but there can be no assurance that our debt holders would not exercise their rights and remedies 
under their agreements with us, including declaring all outstanding debt due and payable 

Variations in quarterly operating results due to factors such as changes in demand for our products 
and changes in our mix of revenues and costs may cause our Class A common stock price to decline. 

Our quarterly revenue and operating results are difficult to predict and are likely to fluctuate from 
quarter-to-quarter For example, 2003 revenues of our Government Segment (formerly our Network Solutions 
Segment) were higher in the second half of the year than in the first half, whereas its 2004 revenues were 
higher in the first half of the year than in the second In 2005, Revenues from our Government Segment were 
significantly higher in the second half of the year than in the first half In addition, we  generally derive a 
significant portion of wireless carrier license revenue in our Commercial Applications segment from initial license 
fees The initial license fees that we  receive in a particular quarter may vary significantly As these projects begin 
and end, quarterly results may vary We therefore believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating 
results may not be a good indication of our future performance, and you should not rely on them to predict our 
future performance or the future performance of our Class A common stock Our quarterly revenues, expenses 
and operating results could vary significantly from quarter- to-quarter If our operating results in future quarters 
fall below the expectations of market analysts and investors, the market price of our stock may fall 
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Additional factors that have either caused our results to fluctuate in the past or that are likely to do so in the 
future mclude. 

changes in our relationships with wireless carriers, the U.S. government or other customers; 

timing of introduction of new products and services; 

changes in pricing policies and product offerings by us or our competitors; 

changes in projected profitability of acquired assets that would require the write down of the value of the 
goodwill reflected on our balance sheet 

costs associated with advertising, marketing and promotional efforts to acquire new customers, 

capital expenditures and ts and expenses related to improving our business, expanding 
operations and adapting new technologies and changes in consumer preferences; and 

our lengthy and unpredictable sales cycle. 

Growing market acceptance of “open source” software could cause a decline in our revenues and 
operating margins, 

Growng market acceptance of open source software has presented both benefits and challenges to the 
commercial software industry in recent years. “Open source“ software is made widely available by its authors 
and is licensed “as is”  for a nominal fee or, in some cases, at  no charge. For example, Linux is a free Unix-type 
operating system, and the source code for Linux is freely available. 

We have incorporated some types of open source software into our products, allowing us to enhance 
certain solutions without incurring substantial additional research and development costs. Thus far, we have 
encountered no unanticipated material problems arising from our use of open source software. However, as the 
use of open source software becomes more widespread, certain open source technology could become 
competitive with our proprietary technology, which could cause sales of our products to decline or force us to 
reduce the fees we charge for our products, which could have a material adverse impact on our revenues and 
operating margins. 

Because our product offerings are sold intern 
in foreign countries. 

Wireless carriers in Europe, Asia, Australia, Africa and Central and South America have purchased our 
products. We believe our revenue will be increasingly dependent on business in foreign countries, and we will 
be subject to the social, political and economic risks of conducting business in foreign countries, including: 

onally, we are subject to risks of conducting business 

inability to adapt our products and services to local business practices. customs and mobile user 
preferences; 

costsjof adapting our product and service offerings for foreign markets; 

inability to locate qualified local employees, partners and suppliers, 

reduced protection of intellectual property rights; 

the potential burdens of complying with a variety of U.S. and foreign laws, trade standards and regulatory 
requirements, iriclyding the regulation of wireless communications and the Internet and uncertainty 
regarding liability for information retrieved and replicated in foreign countries; 

general geopolitical risks, such as political and economic instability and changes in diplomatic and trade 
relations; and 

\ 

unpredictable fluctuations in currency exchange rates 

Any of the foregoing risks could have a material adverse effect on our business by diverting time and money 
toward addressingthem or by reducing or eliminating sales in such foreign countries. 
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We derive a significant portion o f  our revenue from sales to  various agencies of the U S .  government 
which has special rights unlike other customers and exposes us to additional risks that could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. 

Sales to various agencies of the U S government accounted for approximately 38% of our total revenue for 
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, all of which was attributable to our Government Segment. Our ability 
to earn revenue from sales to the U S. government can be affected by numerous factors outside of our control 
including: 

The U.S government may terminate the contracts i t  has with us All of the contracts we have with the 
U S. government are, by their terms, subject to termination by the U.S government either for its 
convenience or in the event of a default by us In the 
U S. government, we may have little or no recourse 

Our contracts with the U S government may be terminated due to Congress failing to appropriate funds. 
Our US. government contracts are conditioned upon the continuing availability of Congressional appropri- 
ations. Congress usually appropriates funds for a given program on a fiscal-year basis even- though 
contract performance may take more than one year. Any failure by Congress to appropriate funds to any 
program that we participate in could materially delay or terminate the program and have a material 
adverse effect on our business. 

We are subject to procurement and other related laws and regulations which carry significant penalties for 
non-compliance. We are subject to extensive and complex U.S. government procurement laws and 
regulations Failure to comply with these laws and regulations and with laws governing the export of 
controlled products and commodities, and any significant violations of any other federal law, could subject 
us to potential contract termination, civil and criminal penalties, and under certain circumstances, 
suspension and debarment from future U.S government contracts 

nt of termination of a contract by the 

Additionally, the U S government may audit and review our costs and performance on their contracts, as 
well as our accounting and general practices. The costs and prices under these contracts may be subject to 
adjustment based upon the results of any audits. Future audits may harm our business 

Because several of  our competitors have significantly greater resources than we do, we  could lose 
customers and market share. 

Our business is highly competitive Several of our competitors are substantially larger than we  are and have 
nancial, technical and marketing resources than we do In particular, larger competitors have certain 
es over us which could cause us to lose customers and impede our ability to attract new customers, 

including. larger bases of financial, technical, marketing, personnel and other resources; more established 
relationships with wireless carriers, more funds to deploy p 
of competitive products and services because they are selling larger volumes 

ucts and services; and the ability to lower prices 

The widespread adoption of open industry standards such as the Secure User Plane for Location (SUPL) 
specifications may make it easier for new market entrants and existrng competitors to introduce products that 
compete with our software products Because our commercial applications segment is part of an emerging 
market, we cannot identify or predict which new competitors may enter the mobile location services industry in 
the future With time and capital, it would be possible for competitors to replicate any of our products and 
service offerings or develop alternative products. Additionally, the wireless communications industry continues to 
experience significant consolidation which may make it more difficult for smaller companies, like us, us to 
compete. Our competitors include application developers, telecommunications equipment vendors, location 
determination technology vendors and information technology consultants, and may include traditional Internet 
portals and Internet infrastructure software companies. We expect that we will compete primarily on the basis 
of price, time to market, functionality, quality and breadth of produc service offerings. 

These competitors could include wireless network carriers, mobile and/or wireless software companies, 
wireless data services providers and wireless systems integrators and database vendors As discussed above, 
many of our po6ntial competitors have scgnificantly greater resources than we do. Furthermore, competitors 
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may develop a different approach to marketing the services we provide in which subscribers may not be required 
to pay for the information provided by our services Competition could reduce our market share or force us to 
lower prices to unprofitable levels 

While we characterize a significant portion of our revenue as being "recurring" there is no guarantee 
that we will actually achieve this revenue. 

A significant portion of our revenue is generated from long-term customer contracts that pay certain fees on 
a month-to-month basis While we currently believe that these revenue streams will continue, renegotiation of 
the contract terms or non-renewal of material contracts could cause our recurring revenues to be lower than 
expected and any growth depends on maintaining relationships with these important customers and on 
developing other customers and distribution channels 

The loss of key personnel or any inability to attract and retain additional personnel could harm our 
business. 

Our future success will depend in large part on our ability to hire and retain a sufficient numberof qualified 
personnel, particularly in sales and marketing and research and development If we are unable to do so, our 
business could be harmed Our future success also depends upon the continued service of our executive 
officers and other key sales, engineering and technical staff. The loss of the services of our executive officers 
and other key personnel could harm our operations We maintain key person life insurance on certain of our 
executive officers We would be harmed if one or more of our officers or key employees decided to join a 
competitor or if we failed to attract qualified personnel. Our ability to attract qualified personnel may be adversely 
affected by a decline in the price of our Class A common stock. In the event of a decline in the price of our 
Class A common stock, the retention value of stock options will decline and our employees may choose not to 
remain with us, which could harm our business. 

Risks Related to Acquisitions 

Our past and future acquisitions of companies or technologies could prove difficult to integrate, 
disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value or adversely affect operating results or the market price 
of our Class A common stock. 

We have in the past acquired a number of businesses and technologies, and we  may in the future acquire 
or make investments in other companies, services and technologies Any acquisitions, strategic alliances or 
investments we may pursue in the future will have a continuing, significant impact on our business, financial 
condition and operating results. The value of the companies or assets that we acquire or invest in may be less 
than the amount we paid if there is a decline of their position in the respective markets they serve or a decline 
in general of the markets they serve. If we fail to properly evaluate and execute acquisitions and investments, 
our business and prospects may be seriously harmed. To successfully complete an acquisition, we  must. 

properly evaluate the technology, 

accurately forecast the financial impact of the transaction, including accounting charges and transaction 
expenses; 

integrate and retain personnel; 

retain and cross-sell to acquired customers; 

combine potentially different corporate cultures; and 

effectively integrate products and services, and research and development, sales and marketing and 
support operations 

we fail to do any of these, we may suffer losses, our management may be distracted from day-to-day 
operations and the market price of our Class A common stock may be materially adversely affected. In addition, 
if we consummate future acquisitions using our equity securities or convertible debt, existing stockholders may 
be diluted which covtd have a material adverse effect on the market price of our Class A common stock. 
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In addition, the companies and business units we have acquired or invested in or may acquire or invest in 
are subject to each of the business risks we describe in this section, and if they incur any of these risks the 
businesses may not be as valuable as the amount we paid Further, we cannot guarantee that we will realize the 
benefits or strategic objectives we are seeking to obtain by acquiring or investing in these companies 

We could incur additional costs or be required to reclassify prior earnings in selling, or if we are 
unable to sell, our discontinued operations. 

If we are unable to find a buyer for our discontinued operations at  a favorable price or at all, we may incur 
additional costs to close the business, or if we decide to restructure and continue the business, we may be 
required to restate our financial reports for the periods in which we previously reported the business as 
discontinued operations 

Industry Risks 

Because the wireless data industry is a new and rapidly evolving market, our product and service 
offerings could become obsolete unless we respond effectively and on a timely basis to'rapid 
technological changes. 

The successful execution of our business strategy is contingent upon wireless network operators launching 
and maintaining mobile location services, our ability to create new network software and mobile asset products 
and adapt our existing network software products to rapidly changing technologies, industry standards and 
customer needs As a result of the complexities inherent in our product offerings, new technologies may require 
long development and testing periods Additionally, new products may not achieve market acceptance or our 
competitors could develop alternative technologies that gain broader market acceptance than our products. If we 
are unable to develop and introduce technologically advanced products that respond to evolving industry 
standards and customer needs, or if we are unable to complete the development and introduction of these 
products on a timely and cost effective basis, our business will suffer 

New laws and regulations that impact our industry could increase costs or reduce opportunities to earn 
revenue The wireless carriers that use our product and service offerings are subject to regulation by domestic, 
and in some cases, foreign, governmental and other agencies Regulations that affect them could increase our 
costs or reduce our ability to sell our products and services In addition, there are an increasing number of laws 
and regulations pertaining to wireless telephones and the Internet under consideration in the United States and 
elsewhere 

The applicability to the Internet of existing laws governing issues such as intellectual property ownership 
and infringement, copyright, trademark, trade secret, taxation, obscenity, libel, employment and personal privacy 
is uncertain and developing Any new legislation or regulation, or the application or interpretation of existing laws, 
may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition Additionally, 
modifications to our business plans or operations to comply with changing regulations or certain actions taken by 
regulatory authorities might increase our costs of providing our product and service offerings and materially 
adversely affect our financial condition 

Concerns about personal privacy and commercial solicitation may limit the growth of mobile location 
services and reduce demand for our Droducts and services. 

In order for mobile location products and services to function properly, wireless carriers must locate their 
subscribers and store information on each subscriber's location. Although data regarding the location of the 
wireless user resides only on the wireless carrier's systems, users may not feel comfortable with the idea that 
the wireless carrier knows and can track their location Carriers will need to obtain subscribers' permission to 
gather and use the subscribers' personal information, or they may not be able to provide customized mobile 
location services which those subscribers might otherwise desire If subscribers view mobile location services as 
an annoyance or a threat to their privacy, that could reduce demand for our products and services and have an 
adverse effect orprospective sales 
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Because many providers are not in compliance with current regulatory mandates and because our 
industry is undergoing rapid technological and regulatory change, our future performance is 
uncertain. 

The Federal Communication Commission, or FCC, has mandated that certain location information be 
provided to operators when they receive an E9-1-1 call. Phase I of the FCC's 9-1-1 mandate required providers to 
be able to locate wireless E9-1-1 callers within their originating cell sector site and report their callback number 
by April 1998. Phase II of the FCC mandate required providers to be able to pinpoint the location of all E9-1-1 
callers within 125 meters in 67% of all cases by October 1, 2001. Although both the Phase I and Phase II 
deadlines have passed, many providers are not currently in compliance with either phase of the FCC's mandate. 
Even so, we believe that many public safety jurisdictions are continuing to deploy Phase I technology and when 
available, we believe they will deploy Phase II technology 

Carriers' obligations to provide Phase I and Phase II services are subject to request by public safety 
organizations. Due to complex regulatory, funding and political issues many public safety organizations have not 
yet requested this service. As a result, wireless carriers and wireless users may never exhibit sufficient demand 
for our mobile location services. Technical failures, time del 
or installing improved location technology could slow down 
products If deployment of improved location technology is delayed, stopped or never occurs, market acceptance 
of our products and services may be adversely affected 

or the significant costs associated vv 
stop the deployment of our mobile lo 

In addition, we will rely on third-party providers to manufacture and deploy devices that determine the 
precise geographic location of wireless users to comply with Phase II of the FCC mandate. The extent and 
timing of the deployment of our products and services is dependent both on public safety requests for 
service and wireless carrier's ability to certify the accuracy of and deploy the precise location technolog 
Because we will rely on third-party location technology instead of developing the technology ourselves, we have 
little or no influence over its improvement. If the technology never becomes precise enough to satisfy wireless 
users' needs or the FCC's requirements, we may not be able to increase or sustain demand for our products and 
services, if a t  all. 

Our €9-1-1 business is dependent on state and local governments and the regulatory environment for 
Voice over Internet Protocol (VolP) services is developing. 

Under the FCC's mandate, wireless carriers are required to provide E9-1-1 services only if state and local 
governments request the service. As part of a state or local government's decision to request E 
the authority to develop cost recovery mechanisms However, cost recovery is no longer a condition to wireless 
carriers' obligation 
services be provid 
of E9-1-1 services, our E9-1-1 business would be Significantly harmed-and future growth of our business would 
be significantly reduced 

ploy the service. If state and local governments do not widely request that E9-1-1 
we become subject to significant pressures from wireless carriers with respect to pricing 

The FCC has determined that VolP services are not subject to the same regulatory scheme as traditional 
wireline and wireless telephone services If the regulatory environment for VolP service 
other than the way we anticipate, our E9-1-1 business would be significantly harmed an 
business would be significantly reduced For example, many states provide statutory and regulatory immunity 
from liability for wireless and wireline E9-1-1 service providers but provide no express immunities for VolP E9-1-1 
service providers. Additionally, the regulatory scheme for wireless and wireline service providers require those 
carriers to allow service-prgviders such as us to have access to certain databases that make the delivery of an 
E9-1-1 call possible. No such requirements exist for VolP service providers so carriers could prevent us from 
continuing to provide VolP E9-1-1 service by denying us access to the required databases 

Because the industries which we serve are currently in a cycle of consolidation, the number of 
customers may be reduced which could result in a loss of revenue for our business. 

The telecommunications industry generally is currently undergoing a consolidation phase. Many of our 
customers, specifically wireless carrier customers of our Commercial Applications segment, have or may 
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become the target of acquisitions If the number of our customers is significantly reduced as a result of this 
consolidation trend, or if the resulting companies do not utilize our product offerings, our financial condition and 
results of operations could be materially adversely affected 

Technology Risks 

Because our software may contain defects or errors, our sales could decrease if these defects or 
errors adversely affect our reputation or delays shipments of our software. 

The software products that we  develop are complex and must meet the stringent technical requirements of 
our customers We must quickly develop new products and product enhancements to keep pace with the rapidly 
changing software and telecommunications markets in which we operate. Software as complex as ours is likely 
to  contain undetected errors or defects, especially when first introduced or when new versions are released. 
Our software may not be error or defect free after delivery to  customers, which could damage our reputation, 
cause revenue losses, result in the rejection of our software or services, divert development resources and 
increase service and warranty costs, each of which could have a serious harmful effect on us 

If we are unable to integrate our products wi th wireless service providers'systems we  may lose sales 
to competitors. 

Our products operate with wireless carriers' systems, various wireless devices and, in the case of our 
E9-7-1 offering, with mobile telephone switches and VOlP service provider systems. If we  are unable to continue 
to design our software to operate with these systems and devices, we  may lose sales to competitors. Mobile 
telephone switches and wireless devices can be manufactured according to many different standards and may 
have different variations within each standard. Combining our products with each type of switch, device or VOlP 
system requires a specialized interface and extensive testing If, as a result of technology enhancements or 
upgrades to carrier and VOlP provider systems, our products can no longer operate with such systems, we may 
no longer be able to sell our products Further, even if we  successfully redesign our products to operate with 
these systems, we  may not gain market acceptance before our competitors 

Because our systems may be vulnerable to systems failures and security risks, we may incur 
significant costs to  protect against the threat of  these problems. 

We provide for the delivery of information and content to and from wireless devices in a prompt and timely 
manner Any systems failure that causes a disruption in our ability to facilitate the transmission of information to 
these wireless devices could result in delays in end users receiving this information and cause us to lose 
customers Our systems could experience such failures as a result of unauthorized access by hackers, computer 
viruses, hardware or software failures, power or telecommunications failures and other accidental or intentional 
actions which could disrupt our systems We may incur significant costs to prevent such systems disruptions 

Increasingly our products will be used to create or transmit secure information and data to  and from wireless 
devices For example, our software can be used to  create private address lists and to provide the precise 
location of an individual To protect private information like this from security breaches, w e  may incur Significant 
costs If a thiid party were able to misappropriate our proprietary information or disrupt our operations, we  could 
be subject to claims, litigation or other potential liabilities that could materially adversely impact our business 
Further, if an individual is unable to use our service to  receive the precise location in a health or life-and-death 
situation, or if our sew-ce provides the wrong information, w e  could be subject to claims, litigation or other 
potential liabilities that could materially adversely impact our business 

The wireless data services provided by our Commercial Applications segment are dependent on real-time, 
continuous feeds from map and traffic data vendors and others. The ability of our subscribers to receive critical 
location and business information requires timely and uninterrupted connections with our wireless network 
carriers. Any disruption from our satellite feeds or backup landline feeds could result in delays in our subscribers' 
ability to  receive information We cannot be sure that our systems will operate appropriately if we  experience a 
hardware or sof!ware failure, intentional disruptions of service by third parties, an act of God or an act of war. A 
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failure in our systems could cause delays in transmitting data, and as a result we  may lose customers or face 
litigation that could involve material costs and distract management from operating our business 

If mobile equipment manufacturers do not overcome capacity, technology and equipment limitations, 
we may not be able to sell our products and services. 

The wireless technology currently in use by most wireless carriers has limited bandwidth, which restricts 
network capacity to  deliver bandwidth-intensive applications like data services to  a large number of users 
Because of capacity limitations, wireless users may not be able to connect to their network when they wish to, 
and the connection is likely to be slow, especially when receiving data transmissions Data services also may be 
more expensive than users are willing to pay To overcome these obstacles, wireless equipment manufacturers 
will need to develop new technology, standards, equipment and devices that are capable of providing higher 
bandwidth services at lower cost We cannot be sure that manufacturers will be able to develop technology and 
equipment that reliably delivers large quantities of data at a reasonable price If more capacity is not added, a 
sufficient market for our products and services is not likely to develop or be sustained and sales of our products 
and services would decline and our business would suffer 

Because the market for most mobile content delivery and mobile location products is new, our future 
success is uncertain. 

The market for mobile content delivery and mobile location products and services is new and its potential IS 

uncertain In order to be successful, we  need wireless network operators to launch and maintain mobile location 
services utilizing our products, and need corporate enterprises and individuals to  purchase and use our mobile 
content delivery and mobile location products and services. We cannot be sure that wireless carriers or 
enterprises will accept our products or that a sufficient number of wireless users will ultimately utilize our 
products. 

If wireless handsets pose health and safety risks, we may be subject to new regulations and demand 
for our products and services may decrease. 

Media reports have suggested that certain radio frequency emissions from wireless handsets may be linked 
to various health concerns, including cancer, and may interfere with various electronic medical devices, including 
hearing aids and pacemakers. Concerns over radio frequency emissions may have the effect of discouraging the 
use of wireless handsets, which would decrease demand for our services In recent years, the FCC and foreign 
regulatory agencies have updated the guidelines and methods they use for evaluating radio frequency emissions 
from radio equipment, including wireless handsets. In addition, interest groups have requested that the FCC 
investigate claims that wireless technologies pose health concerns and cause interference with airbags, hearing 
aids and other medical devices. There also are some safety risks associated with the use of wireless handsets 
while driving Concerns over these safety risks and the effect of any legislation that may be adopted in response 
to  these risks could limit our ability to market and sell our products and services 

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights or are sued by third parties for infringing 
upon intellectual property rights, we may incur substantial costs. 

Our success and competitive position depends in large part upon our ability to develop and maintain the 
proprietary aspects of our technology W e  rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark, service mark, 
trade secret laws, confidentiality provisions and various other contractual provisions to protect our proprietary 
rights, but these legal means provide only limited protection. Although a number of patents have been issued to 
us and we  have obtained a number of other patents as a result of our acquisitions, w e  cannot assure you that 
our issued patents will be upheld if challenged by another party. Additionally, with respect to  any patent 
applications which we  have filed, w e  cannot assure you that any patents will issue as a result of these 
applications If we  fail to protect our intellectual property, we  may not receive any return on the resources 
expended to create the intellectual property or generate any competitive advantage based on it, and w e  may be 
exposed to expenslye litigation or risk jeopardizing our competitive position. Similarly, third parties could claim - 
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that our future products or services infringe upon our intellectual property rights Claims like these could require 
us to enter into costly royalty arrangements or cause us to lose the right to use critical technology 

Our ability to protect our intellectual property rights is also subject to the terms of any future government 
contracts We cannot assure you that the federal government will not demand greater intellectual property rights 
or restrict our ability to disseminate intellectual property. We are also a member of standards-setting 
organizations and have agreed to license some of our intellectual property to other members on fair and 
reasonable terms to the extent that the license is required to develop non-infringing products. 

Pursuing infringers of our intellectual property rights can be costly. 

Pursuing infringers of our proprietary rights could result in significant litigation costs, and any failure to 
pursue infringers could result in our competitors utilizing our technology and offering similar products, potentially 
resulting in loss of a competitive advantage and decreased revenues. Despite our efforts to protect our 
proprietary rights, existing patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws afford only limited protection. In 
addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as do the 
laws of the United States. Protecting our know how is difficult especially after our employees or those 
third party contract service providers end their employment or engagement. Attempts may be made to copy or 
reverse-engineer aspects of our prodbcts or to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary. 
Accordingly, we may not be able to prevent the misappropriation of our technology or prevent others from 
developing similar technology. Furthermore, policing the Unauthorized use of our products is difficult and 
expensive. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights or to determine 
the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. The costs and diversion of resources could significantly 
harm our business If we fail to protect our intellectual property, we may not receive any return on the resources 
expended to create the intellectual property or generate any competitive advantage based on it. 

Third parties may claim we are infringing their intellectual property rights, and we could be prevented 
from selling our products, or suffer significant litigation expense, even if these claims have no merit. 

Our competitive position is driven in part by our intellectual property and other proprietary rights. Third 
parties, however, may claim that we, our products, operations or any products or technology we obtain from 
other parties are infringing their intellectual property rights, and we may be unaware of intellectual property 
rights of others that may cover some of our assets, technology and products. From time to time we receive 
letters from third parties that allege we are infringing their intellectual property and asking us to license such 
intellectual property We review the merits of each such letter, none of which has resulted in litigation as of the 
date of this report. However, any litigation regarding patents, trademarks, copyrights or intellectual property 
rights, even those without merit, could be costly and time consuming, and divert our management and key 
personnel from operating our business. The complexity of the technology involved and inherent uncertainty and 
cost of intellectual property litigation increases our risks. If any third party has a meritorious or successful claim 
that we are infringing its intellectual property rights, we may be forced to change our products or enter into 
licensing arrangements with third parties, which may be costly or impractical. This also may require us to stop 
selling our products as currently engineered, which could harm our competitive position We also may be subject 
to significant damages or injunctions that prevent the further development and sale of certain of our products or 
services and may result in a material loss of revenue 

The security measures we have implemented to secure information we collect and store may be 
breached, which could cause us to breach agreements with our partners and expose us to potential 
investigation and penalties by authorities and potential claims by persons whose information was 
disclosed. 

We take reasonable steps to protect the security, integrity and confidentiality of the information we collect 
and store but there is no guarantee that inadvertent or unauthorized disclosure will not occur or that third parties 
will not gain unauthorized access despite our efforts If such unauthorized disclosure or access does occur, we 
may be require&o notify persons whose information was disclosed or accessed under existing and proposed 
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laws. We also may be subject to claims of breach of contract for such disclosure, investigation and penalties by 
regulatory authorities and potential claims by persons whose information was disclosed. 

Risks Related to Our Capital Structure and Common Stock 

A majority of our Class A common stock is beneficially owned by a small number of holders, and 
those holders could thereby transfer control of us to a third party without anyone else's approval or 
prevent a third party from acquiring us. 

We have two classes of common stock: Class A common stock and Class B common stock. Holders of 
Class A common stock generally have the same rights as holders of Class B common stock, except that holders 
of Class A common stock have one vote per share while holders of Class B common stock have three votes per 
share. As of February 28, 2007, Maurice B. Tose, our Presjdent, Chief Executive Officer d Chairman of the 

transactions. Mr. Tose cou 

Class A common stock might benefit financially from such a transaction. 

Our governing corporate documents contain certain anti-takeover provisions that could prevent a 
change of control that may be favorable to shareholders. 

aryland corporation. Anti-takeover provi 
charter and by-laws could make it more difficult for a th 
control would be beneficial to shareholders. These provist 

ns of Maryland law and provisions contained in our 
f us, even if a change in 

authorization of the board of directors to issue ':blank check" preferred stock; 

prohibition of cumulative voting in the election of directors; 

our classified board of director 

persons who may call special meetings of stockholders; and 

ockholders acting without a meeting other than through unanimous written consent' 

supermajority voting requirement on various charter and by-law provisions; 

establishment of advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for 
proposing matters that can be acted on by stockholders at  stockholder meetings. 

These provisions could delay, deter or prevent a potential acquirer from attempting to obtain control of us, 
depriving shareholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for Class A common stock. These provisions 
could therefore materially adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock. 

information relating to our company. These statements are based upon TCS' current expectations and 
assumptions that are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that would cause actual results to differ 
materially from those anticipated. We generally identify forward-looking statements usjng words like "believe," 
"intend," "expect," "may," "should," "plan," "project," "contemplate," "anticipete," 
ments. We base these statements on our beliefs as well as assumptions we made using information currently 
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available.to us. We do not undertake to update our forward-looking statements or risk factors to reflect future 
events or circumstances. 

Statements in this report that are forward-looking include, but are not limited to, the following statements 
that (I) we believe the combined availability of teleport, deployable device, and integration capability from a singte 
source IS compelling and that because of our company's portfolio of software, patented intellectual property and 
teams of wireless and encryption specialists we believe this gives us a competitive advantage, (ii) we expect to 
launch other location-based applications in 2007 including turn-by-turn navigation, (iii) we 

ugh deployment in c 

wth is expected to continue fo increase in all r 
ber of users and messages per individual are 

arriers that operate on all major 
ex call control technology, including 

and systems integ to realize $51 3 minion of backlog with 
third Enterprise division during 2007, 

contract is ex 

products, (v) develop software without any errors or defects, (vi) protect our intellectual property rights, 
cklog, and (ix) achieve continued revenue growth in the 

ot be considered exhausfive. 

a 27,000 square foot facility under a lease 
in Annapolis, Maryland under a lease 

ilized for the executiv d administrative offices, as well as 
nts: Other leased fac s include a 33,000 square foot 
ring March 2008, a 46,000 square foot facility in Seattle, 

Washington under a lease expiring in September 2010, an 11,000 square foot facility in Oakland, California under 
a lease expiring May 2Q07, and a 10,000 square foot facility in Tampa, Flortda under a lease expiring in December 
2009. We also lease a hosting facility in Phoenix, Arizona in a 1,500 square foot office under a lease that expires 
in February 2008, which is utilized by our Commercial segment. Leases for European offices have been assigned 
to the buyer of one of the subscriber units sold e 
7,000 square foot office facility in London until that lease expires in December 2008 or until a subtenant has 
been located. : 

tive January 1, 2007 but we have retain 
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In addition to the leased office space, we own a 7-acre teleport facility in Manassas, Virginia, and lease 
space in Baltimore, Maryland utilized for teleport services primarily to our Government segment customers 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

In November 2001, a shareholder class action lawsuit was filed against us, certain of our current officers 
and a director, and several investment banks that were the underwriters of our initial public offering (the 
"Underwriters"): Highstein v. TeIecommunicat/on Systems, Inc., e t  a/., United States District Court for the 
Southern District of New York, Civil Action No. 01-CV-9500. The plaintiffs seek an unspecified amount of 
damages. The lawsuit purports to be a class action suit filed on behalf of purchasers of our Class A Common 
Stock during the period August 8, 2000 through December 6, 2000. The plaintiffs allege that the Underwriters 
agreed to allocate our Class A Common Stock offered for sale in our initial public offering to certain purchasers 

purchases of our Class A Common Stock in the aftermarket at 

nded, and Rule lob-5 
dismissed with the plaintiffs promulgated thereunder. The claims against us of 

having the right to re-plead. On February 15, 2005, 

ates Court of Appeals for the 
who are pursuing the claims Second Circuit overturned the District Co 

The District Court indicated that it would defer consideration of final approval of the settlement pending plaintiffs' 

received final approval or the matter is resolved otherwise. More than ther companies have been named in 
nearly identical lawsuits that have been filed by some of the same law that represent the plaintiffs in the 
lawsuit against us, and we  believe that the majority of those companies will participate in the same settlement if 
approved. 

uest for further appellate review. We intend to continue to defend the lawsuit until the settlement has " 

In October 2006, two former shareholders of Xypoin't Corpor the former officers and directors of 
that corporation for breach of fiduciary duty and violation of certain Wa ton state securities and consumer 
protection acts when they approved, and recommended that shareholders approve, the merger of Xypoint into 
TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. The plaintiffs request unspecified da he merger agreement from 2001 
provided that we would indemnify the officers and directors of Xypoint od of six years after the merger 
(ending January 2007) for their actions in approving the merger. In December 2006, the complaint was amended 
to include TCS as a defendant, as the successor-in-interest to Xypoi 
Corporation (our acquisition subsidiary), both extinguished corporatio 
Officers insurance policies to cover claims against the former oyftcer 
believe that one or both of those insurance policies may cover some 
to defend the lawsuit viqorously, but can make no assurances that th 

rectors of Xypoint and us, and 

- 
the insurance policies will-be sufficient to cover the costs incurred orany judgment amounts that may result. 

Other than the items discussed immediately above, we are not currently subject to any other material legal 
proceedings. However, we may from time to time become a party to various legal proceedings arising in the 
ordinary course of our business. 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 

None. I 

24 



Part II 

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of 
Equity Securities 

Our Class A Common Stock has been traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol "TSYS" 
since our initial public offering on August 8, 2000 The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the 
high and low closing prices for our Class A Common Stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global Market 

High Low - -  
2007 
First Quarter 2007 (through February 28, 2007). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
2006 
First Quarter 2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Second Quarter2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Third Quarter 2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Fourth Quarter 2006. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
2005 
First Quarter 2005 . . . . . . .  - ,  . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Second Quarter 2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Third Quarter 2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Fourth Quarter 2005. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

$3.82 $2.99 

$2.56 $2.00 
$3 26 $223 
$2.83 $203 
$3.58 $266 

$3.22 $2.12 
$2.65 $2 17 
$3.01 $2 27 
$2.84 $2 12 

As of February 6, 2007, there were approximately 323 holders of record of our Class A Common Stock, and 
there were 8 holders of record of our Class B Common Stock 

Dividend Policy 

We have never declared or paid cash dends on our common stock We currently intend to  retain any 
future earnings to fund the development, growth and operation of our business Additionally, under the terms of 
our loan arrangements, our lenders' prior written consent is required to pay cash dividends on our common 
stock We do not currently anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future 

Change in Securities and Use of Proceeds 

On January 13, 2004, we purchased the Enterprise Division of Aether Systems, Inc (the "Enterprise 
Acquisition") Consideration for the acquisition was valued at  approximately $22 million, consisting of $1 8 million 
in cash, a $1 million note payable, approximately $2 million of costs directly related to the acquisition, and 
204,020 newly issued shares of Class A Common Stock Concurrent with the Enterprise Acquisition, we  closed 
on $21 million of financing with two accredited institutional investors, which included a subordinated convertible 
debenture with stated principal of $1 5 million, bearing interest at a stated rate of 3% per annum and due in lump 
sum on January 13, 2009 (the "Debenture"), 1,364,288 newly issued shares of Class A Common Stock and 
warrants to purchase 341,072 shares of Class A Common Stock at a strike price of $6 50 expiring in January 
2007 The Debenture provided for an original conversion price of $5 38 per share, subject to adjustment The 
Debenture was converted to common equity in December 2004 

On August 30, 2004 we entered a Securities Purchase Agreement (the "August 2004 Securities Purchase 
Agreement") with the same third-party investors who purchased our securities used to finance the Enterprise 
Acquisition Pursuant to the August 2004 Securities Purchase Agreement, we  raised $10 million in cash through 
the sale of 2,500,000 shares of our Class A Common Stock W e  used the majority of the proceeds from this 
offering to fund the acquisition of Kivera, Inc on September 20, 2004 as described in Note 3 to the audited 
Consolidated Financial Statements presented elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form IO-K and for a $1 million 
cash fee paid in connection with a Waiver Agreement signed on the same day 

On March I O ,  2006, pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated the same date, we  issued and sold to 
two  institutional lenders (I) $10 million in aggregate principal amount of secured notes due March I O ,  2009, 
which bear cashTterest at  the rate of 14% per annum, or non-cash interest, in the form of additional notes, at 
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the rate of 16% per annum, at  our option, and ( 1 1 )  warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1 75 million shares of 
our Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $2 40 per share We received net cash proceeds of 
approximately $9.3 million from this transaction, which are intended to be used for general corporate purposes. 

The warrants issued in the January 2004 financing described above contain provisions requiring an 
adjustment in both the warrant price and the number of warrants outstanding as a consequence of the issuance 
of the new warrants in March 2006 Consequently, the warrants from 2004 were adjusted to a purchase price of 
$2.50 per share and the total number of January 2004 warrants outstanding was adjusted to 886,787 In January 
2007, the holders of the warrants issued in 2004 exercised those warrants and 886,787 shares were issued 

The consummation of the note purchase agreement and the issuance of notes and warrants thereunder 
were conducted as a private placement made to accredited investors in a transaction exempt from the 
registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 

With the exception of the notes and warrants issued in March 2006, all of the other securities issued by us 
in connection with these transactions have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return on the Company's Class A Common 
Stock with the cumulative total return of the Nasdaq Global Market U S Index and a mobile data index prepared 
by the company of the following relevant publicly traded companies in the commercial and government sectors 
in which we operate- Infospace, Inc.; Openwave Systems, Inc , Sybase, Inc , Comverse Technology Inc , Nci 

Group") 
comm Systems Inc., NeuStar, Inc , Mapinfo Corp., and Syniverse Holdings, Inc (the "New Peer 

The Composition of the Mobile Data Index has been changed from last year (the "Old Peer Group") as 
follows 724 Solutions Inc. is no longer publicly traded, @Road, Inc. has been acquired by Trimble Navigation 
Limited; 
Corporati 
are in the business of offering products and services to enterprises, a market which we no longer pursue. 

ync Corporation was purchased by Nokia, Inc ; and Intrado, inc. was purchased by West 
America, Inc , Novatel Wireless, Inc , Research in Motion Limited and Semotus Solutions, Inc 

The information provided is from January 1, ,2001 through December 31, 2006 The graph for the "Old Peer 
Group" may not be meaningful because there is no 2006 data available for companies which are no longer 
publicly traded and the data for the remaining companies in the "Old Peer Group" therefore may not be 
comparably balanced for 2006 when compared to prior years. 
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The stock price performance shown on the graph below IS not necessarily indicative of future price 
performance 

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return 
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l tem 6. Selected Financial Data 

The table that follows presents portions of our consolidated financial statements You should read the 
following selected financial data together with our audited Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes 
and with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and the 
more complete financial information included elsewhere in this Form 10-K We have derived the statement of 
operations data for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 and the balance sheet data as of 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 from our consolidated financial statements which have been audited by Ernst & 
Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, and which are included in Jtem 15 of this Form 10-K 
We have derived the statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the 
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, from our audited financial statements which are 
not included in this Form 10-K As described in Note 1 to the audited Consolidated Financial Statements 
presented elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, in connection with the reclassification of the Enterprise 
division as discontinued operations, w e  have reclassified prior periods for comparability purposes Additionally, in 
connection with the realignment of our segments in 2004, w e  reclassified prior period revenues, direct cost of 
revenues, and gross profit for comparability with the two  revenue categories we  currently use to  manage our 
business. The historical results presented below are not necessarily indicative of the results to  be expected for 
any future fiscal year See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations " As a result of implementation of SFAS 123(R), our non-cash stock compensation expense has been 
allocated to direct cost of revenue, research and development expense, sales and marketing expense, and 
general and administrative expense in our continuing operations as well as discontinued operations as detailed in 
Note 2 to  the audited Consolidated Financial Statements presented elsewhere in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K Non-cash stock compensation expense for prior periods has been reclassified to conform to the 
current year presentation 

Year Ended December 31, 
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 

(in millions, except share and per share data) 
----- 

Statement of Operations Data: 
Revenue 

Services. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 88.4 $ 75.0 $ 60.2 $ 51.6 $ 35.7 

Total revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  124.9 102.2 96.9 92.1 92.0 
Direct cost of services revenue. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  52.5 39.2 30.9 28.0 21.5 
Direct cost of systems revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  17.9 17.7 21.2 32.3 40.3 

Total direct cost of revenue. _ _ - - - _ _ _  70.4 56.9 52.1 60.2 61.7 
Services gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  35.8 35.8 29.3 23.6 14.2 

Total gross profit . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  54.5 45.2 44.8 31.8 30.3 
17.2 17.4 

Sales and marketing expense. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  11.7 10.5 9.0 9.1 10.3 
General and administrative expense. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  17.0 15.0 15.0 12.3 13.0 
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8.0 8.6 7.4 6.6 6.2 
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  0.1 0.5 0.6 

Total operating costs and expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  49.3 48.2 49.6 45.7 47.6 
Income (loss) from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5.2 (3.0) 14.81 113.91 (17.3) 
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (3.2) 11.2) (3.2) (1.1) (0.9) 
Debt conversion expense. - - - - 17.91 
Other (expenseVincome, net. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  0.0 (0.1) 1.5 0.4 

. Systems. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  36.6 27.2 36.7 40.5 56.3 ----- 
----- 

----- 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Systems gross profit . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  18.7 9.5 15.5 8.2 16.0 

Research and development expense . . . . . . . . . . .  12.6 13.9 18.1 

----- 
----- 

. . . . . . . . . . .  

- 0.1 ---- 
----- 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
- -- 

Income (loss) from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2.0 (4.3) 115.9) (13.5) (17.8) 
Loss from discontinued operations - - . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (23.7) (7.2) (2.6) -- 
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . .  : . .  . . . . . . . . . . .  

Income (loss) from continuing operations per share . 
Loss from discontinued operations per share . . . . .  
Net loss per share -basic 

Income (ioss) from continuing operations per share . 
Loss from discontinued operations per share . . , . . 
Net loss per share - diluted. . . . . . . .  

Basic shares used in computation (in thousands) . 
Diluted shares used in corf?putation (in thousands) 

_ .  

. . . . . . .  

. . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . .  

$ (21.7) $ (11.5) $ (18.5) $ (13.5) $ (17.8) 

$ 0.05 $ (0.11) $ 10.48) $ (0.45) $ (0.61) 
----- ----- 
$ (0.60) $ (0.19) $ (0.081 $ - $ - ----- 
$ (0.55) $ (0.30) $ (0.56) $ (0.451 $ (0.61) 

$ 0.05 $ (0.11) $ 10.48) $ (0.451 $ (0.61) 
----- _ _ - - - _ _  
$ (0.59) $ (0.19) $ (0.08) $ - $ - ----- 
$ (0.54) $ (0.30) $ (0.56) $ (0.45) $ (0.61) 

39,430 38,823 33,381 29,796 29,149 
40,166 38,823 33,381 29,796 29,149 

----- ----- 

28 



As of December 31, 
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 ----- 

(in millions) 
Balance Sheet Data: 
Cash andcashequivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 10.4 $ 9.3 $ 18.3 $ 18.9 $ 27.4 
Workingcapital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  25.4 27.5 20.2 28.5 31.7 
Totalassets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  83.6 90.6 102.4 65.3 81.4 

Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  48.6 41.5 42.9 28.4 33.8 
Total stockholders' equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  35.1 49.1 59.5 36.9 47.6 

Capital leases and long-term debt (including current portion). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  17.6 16.5 18.4 14.6 10.3 

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations addresses our 
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U S generally accepted 
accounting principles The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period On an on-going basis, 
management evaluates its estimates and judgments Our most significant estimates relate to accounting for our 
percentage-of-completion and proportional performance contracts, accounts receivable reserves, inventory 
reserves, evaluating goodwill for impairment, the realizability and remaining useful lives of long-lived assets, and 
contingent liabilities Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various 
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for 
making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions 

We identified our most critical accounting policies to be those related to revenue recognition for our 
contracts with multiple elements, revenue recognition for our contracts accounted for using the percenta- 
ge-of-completion and proportional performance methods, capitalized software development costs, acquired 
intangible assets, goodwill impairment, stock compensation expense, and income taxes We describe these 
accounting policies in relevant sections of this discussion and analysis This discussion and analysis should be 
read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this 
report 

Overview and Recent Developments 

Our business is reported across two market segments (I) our Commercial Segment, which consists 
principally of enhanced communication services to and from wireless phones, location application software, our 
E9-1-1 application and other hosted services for wireless carriers and Voice Over IP service providers, and (ii) our 
Government Segment, which includes the design, development and deployment of information processing and 
communication systems and related services to government agencies In addition, our business includes the 
Enterprise division, which we are currently in the process of selling, as explained below 

As of December 31, 2005, as a result of slower-than-anticipated market adoption of key technologies related 
to the Enterprise assets and management's strategic decision to focus on our core technologies, we committed 
to a plan to sell the Enterprise assets which we acquired from Aether Systems, Inc in 2004 The plan was 
approved by our Board of Directors on December 29, 2005 Also in December 2005, we engaged an investment 
banker that is marketing the Enterprise assets The Enterprise assets were comprised of three units Two of the 
units were subscriber businesses, which sold BlackBerryO services and provided real-time financial market data 
to wireless device users under annual subscriber contracts in the U S and Europe, and a wireless data solutions 
for mobile asset management business The two subscriber business units were sold effective January 1, 2007 
to two different buyers, as more fully described in Note 24 - Subsequent Events to the audited Consolidated 
Financial Statements presented elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K The third unit provides wireless 
data solutions that include package and vehicle tracking, productivity tools, and the ability to capture digital 
signatures for proof-of delivery to a growing installed base of logistics customers, and the company is continuing 

29 



to work with an investment banker to sell the business. The operations and cash flows of the business will be 
eliminated from ongoing operations as a result of their sales, and the company does not expect to have any 
significant involvement in the operations after the disposal transaction. Accordingly, the assets, liab 
results of operations for the Enterprise assets have been reclassified to discontinued operations for all periods 
presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The 
operations of the Enterprise assets were previously included in our Commercial Segment. 

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations provides 
information that our management believes to be necessary to achieve a clear understanding of our financial 
statements and results of operations 

Our management monitors and analyzes a number of key performance indicators in order to manage our 
business and evaluate our financial and operating performance. Those indicators include: 

Revenue and gross profit. We derive revenue from t les of systems and se 
monthly service and subscriber fees, software licens d related service fees 
development, and deployment of software and communication systems, and pr 
derived from the delivery of information processing and communication systems to gove 
agencies. 

including recurring 

Gross profit represents revenue minus direct cost of revenue, including certain non-cash expenses. The 
major items comprising our cost of revenue are compensation and benefits, third-party hardware and 
software, amortization of software development costs, non-cash stock-based compensation, and overhead 
expenses. The costs of hardware and third-party software are primarily associated with the delivery of 
systems, and fluctuate from period to period as a result of the relative volume, mix of projects, level of 
service support required and the complexity of customized products and services delivered. Amortization 
of software development costs, including acquired technology, is associated with the recognition of 
systems revenue from our Commercial Applications segment. 

Operating expenses. Our operating expenses are primarily compensation and benefits, professional fees, 
facility costs, marketing and sales-related expenses, and travel costs as well as certain non-cash expenses 
such as non-cash stock compensation expense, depreciation and amortization of property and equipment, 
and amortization of acquired intangible assets. 

Liquidity and cash flows. The primary driver of our cash flows is the results of our operations including 
discontinued operations. Important sources of our liquidity have been cash raised from our 2006 debt 
financing and our 2004 financings in connection with our 2004 acquisitions, all as described below under 
"Liquidity and Capital Resources", and borrowings under our bank credit agreement and lease financings 
secured for the purchase of equipment. 

Balance sheet. We view cash, working capital, and accounts receivable balances and days revenues 
outstanding as important indicato our financial health. 
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Results of Operations 

Revenue and Cost of Revenue 

The following discussion addresses the revenue and cost of revenue for the two segments of our business 
For information regarding the results of the Enterprise assets, see Disconbnued Operations - Enterprise assets 
below. 

Commercial Segment: 

($ in millions) 2006 2005 

Services revenue $597 $542 

17 2 1 1  7 Systems revenue 

Total Commercial Segment revenue 77 0 65 9 

Direct cost of services 31 4 25 9 

- - 

- - 
- - 

Direct cost of systems 5 2  5 7  - - 
Total Commercial Segment cost of revenue 3 6 6  __ 31 6 - 

Services gross profit 28 3 28 3 

Systems gross profit 12 0 6 0  

$403 $343 

- - 
Total Commercial Segment gross profit* - - - - 
Segment gross prof/t as a percent of revenue 52% 52% 

2006 vs. 2005 vs. 
2005 2004 
- - $ %  2004 $ E  - 
$ 5.5 10% $447 $ 9 6  21% 

5.5 47% 13.1 . (1 4) (1 1%) - - - 
1 1  1 17% 5 7 7  8.2 14% 

5 5  21% 21.5 4.4 20% 

(0 1) (2%) (05)  (9%) 5 8  

4 3  16% 5 0  16% 2 7 3  

0 0  NM 23 2 5 2  22% 

- - - -  

- - - 
- - 

(1.3) (18%) 6 0  100% 7 2  __ 

$ 6.0 18% $30.4 $3.9 13% 

- __ 

- - - - - - 
53 % 

* See discussion of segment reporting in Note 20 to the audited Consobdated Financial Statements presented else- 
where in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. (NM = Not meaningful) 

Commercial Services Revenue and Cost of Revenue 

Our hosted offerings include our E9-1-1 service for wireless and Voice Over IP service providers, hosted 
Position Determining Entity (PDE) service, and hosted Location Based Service (LBS) applications Revenue from 
these offerings primarily consists of monthly recurring servlce fees and is recognized in the month earned. 
E9-1-1, PDE, VolP and hosted LBS service fees are priced based on units served during the period, such as the 
number of customer cell sites served, the number of connections to Public Service Answering Points (PSAPs), 
or the number of customer subscribers served In 2006, w e  expedited deployment of connections to  PSAPs for 
VolP and E9-1-1 service, and continued to increase the number of carriers and carrier billable units served. In 
addition, we  increased revenue from our VolP E9-1-1 and hosted LBS recurring services primarily due to new 
service contracts signed in mid2005 These increases were partially offset by decreases in the average fee 
received per unit under pricing arrangements with some customers and the loss of a mid-tier wireless carrier 
customer during the third quarter of 2006 Subscriber service revenue is generated by client software 
applications for wireless Subscribers such as Rand McNallyTM Traffic Maintenance fees on our systems and 
software licenses are collected in advance and recognized ratably over the maintenance period Unrecognized 
maintenance fees are included in deferred revenue. Custom software development, implementation and 
maintenance services may be provided under time and materials or fixed-fee contracts 

Overall, commercial services revenue increased 10% in 2006 over 2005, due to increases in maintenance 
revenue from our installed base of commercial systems, and an increas 
Voice Over IP service providers, which more than offset a small decrease in revenue from E9-1-1 services to 
wireless carrier customers. The 21 YO increase in 2005 in the commercial service revenue over 2004 was due 
mainly to increaqs in Wireless E9-1-1 volume, commencement of Voice Over IP E9-1-1 service, a full year of 

revenue from E9-1-1 services to 
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subscriber revenue from the former Kivera business acquired by us in the third quarter of 2004, and an increase 
in maintenance revenue from cumulative growth in our installed base of systems 

The direct cost of our services revenue consists primarily of network access, data feed and circuit costs, 
compensation and benefits, equipment and software maintenance The direct costs of maintenance revenue 
consists primarily of compensation and benefits expense For the year ended December 31, 2006, the direct 
cost of services revenue increased 21 % principally because we increased labor and direct costs related to 
custom development efforts responding to customer requests and deployment requirements for VolP While we 
increased the number of cell sites, subscribers and PSAPs served, our circuit and data access costs were 
relatively consistent year to year For the year ended December 31, 2006, the cost of circuit and other data 
access costs accounted for approximately 11 YO of total direct costs of hosted, subscriber, and maintenance 
revenues The cost of circuit and other data access costs accounted for approximately 13% and 16% of the total 
direct costs of our commercial hosted, subscriber, and maintenance revenues for each of the years ended 
December 31, 2005 and 2004 respectively Also, in 2006, in conjunction with the implementation of SFAS 123(R), 
$0 8 million of our non-cash stock compensation cost is included in the direct cost of revenue 

Commercial services gross profit in 2006 was about equal to that in 2005 ($28 3 million), as a slightly lower 
average margin offset the effect of 10% higher revenue The 22% increase in 2005 in the commercial services 
gross profit over that of 2004 corresponds closely to the 21 YO increase in revenue in 2005 

Commercial Systems Revenue and Cost of Revenue 

We sell communications systems for enhanced services to wireless carriers These systems are designed 
to incorporate our licensed software We design our software to ensure that it is compliant with all applicable 
standards, including the GSM/UMTS standards for location-based wireless services that were established in 
2005 and, as such, we believe our software IS positioned for early adoption by carriers. 

Licensing fees for our carrier software are generally a function of its usage in our customer’s network As a 
carrier‘s subscriber base or usage increases, the carrier must purchase additional capacity under its license 
agreement and we receive additional revenue. Systems revenues typically contain multiple elements, which may 
include the product license, installation, integration, and hardware. The total arrangement fee is allocated among 
each element based on vendor-specific objective evidence of the relative fair value of each of the elements Fair 
value is generally determined based on the price charged when the element is sold separately In the absence of 
evidence of fair value of a delivered element, revenue is allocated first to the undelivered elements based on fair 
value and the residual revenue to the delivered elements. The software licenses are generally perpetual licenses 
for a specified number of users that allow for the purchase of annual maintenance at a specified rate We 
recognize license fee revenue when each of the following has occurred (1) evidence of an arrangement is in 
place, (2) we have delivered the software, (3) the fee is fixed or determinable, and (4) collection of the fee is 
probable. Software projects that require significant customization are accounted for under the percenta- 
ge-of-completion method We measure progress to completion using costs incurred compared to estimated total 
costs or labor hours incurred compared to estimated total labor hours for contracts that have a significant 
component of third-party materials costs We recognize estimated losses under long-term contracts in their 
entirety upon discovery. If we did not accurately estimate total costs to complete a contract or do not manage 
our contracts within the planned budget, then future margins may be negatively affected or losses on existing 
contracts may need to be recognized. Software license fees billed and not recognized as revenue are included in 
deferred revenue. We may also realize license revenue as a result of infringement claims that we make in 
enforcing our patents In the fourth quarter of 2006, we reached a settlement on our first patent infringement 
case 

Systems revenue increased 47% for the year ended December 31, 2006, largely as a result of higher 
messaging and location system license sales in 2006 than in 2005 In 2005, revenue from commercial systems 
sales decreased compared to 2004 primarily due a decrease in software license sales 

The direct cost of commercial systems consists primarily of compensation, benefits, purchased equipment, 
third-party software, travel expenses, and consulting fees as well as the amortization of both acquired and 
capitalized softwarsdevelopment costs for all reported periods. The direct costs of systems increased from 
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2004 to 2005 and 2005 to 2006 as a result of increases in amortization of software development costs of $0.4 
and $0.5, respectively. Also, in 2006, as a result of the implementation of SFAS 123(R), $0.1 million of our non- 
cash stock compensation cost is included in the direct cost of revenue. 

Our commercial systems gross profit was $1 2.0 million in 2006, more than double the $6.0 million in 2005 
and higher than the $7.2 million in 2004. Systems gross margins are higher in periods when systems revenue 
includes a higher proportion of software licenses relative to third party system components and integration labor, 
as was the case in 2006. The lower revenue and related gross profit in 2005 was due to later than expected 
implementation of location-based service technology by wireless carriers. A larger proportion of high margin 
license sales in 2004 and the inclusion of a lower margin hardware sale in 2005 resulted in lower margins as a 
percentage of revenue for 2005 than in 2004. 

Government Segment: 

($ in millions) 

2006 vs. 2005 vs. 
7nn5 2004 

Services revenue $286 $20.8 $ 7 8  38% $156 $ 5 2  33% 

193 __ 15.5 3 8  25% 236 (8 1) (34%) Systems revenue 

Total Government Segment revenue 48 0 36 3 11 7 32% 392 (2.9) (8%) 

Direct cost of services 21 1 13.4 7 7  58% 9 5  3 9  41% 

0 7  6% 154 (34) (22%) 

25 4 8 4  33% 249 0 5  2% Total Government Segment cost of revenue 33 8 - - 
1 3  21% Services gross profit 7 5  7 4  0 1  1% 6 1  

3 2  91% 8 2  (47) (57%) Systems gross profit 6 7  3 5  - 

- - - - 
- - - - - 

- - - Direct cost of systems 12 7 12 0 - - 

- - - 

- - - - 
Total Government Segment gross profit" $142 $109 $33 30% $143 $(34) (24%) - - - - - - - - 
Segmeht gross profit as a percent of revenue 30% 30% 37% 

* See discussion of segment reporting in Note 20 lo the audited Consolida Financial Statements presented else- 
where /n this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

We provide government products and services under long-term contracts We recognize contract revenue as 
billable costs are incurred and for fixed-price product delivery contracts using the percentage-of-completion 

oportional performance method, measured by either total labor hours or total cost 
total estimated labor hours or costs. We recognize estimated losses on contracts 

very If we did not accurately estimate total labor hours or costs to complete a coFtract or do not 
manage our contracts within the planned budget, then our future margins may be negatively affected or losses 
on existing contracts may need to be recognized. Under our contracts with the U.S. governme-nt, contract costs, 
including the allocated indirect expenses, are subject to audit and adjustment by the D 
Agency (DCAA). Since the compan ption, no significant adjustment has resulted 
record revenue under these contra estimated net realizable amounts. 

06, Government Segment revenue incceased 32% reflecting increases For 
in both 
selected by the U.S. Army to provide secure satellite services and systems under a five year contract vehicle, 
with a possible maximum value of up to $5 billion for the six vendors. This new Worldwide Satellite Services 
contract vehicle is expected to contribute to significant government systems sales growth over 'the next five 
years The company's Government Segment has been awarded participation as a prime or sub-contractor to 
provide similar satellite-based rechnology under several other cbntract vehicles. Through February 28, 2007, we 
received approxisately $1 1 million of orders under this contra 

sand systems revenue. During the third quarter of 2006, we were named as one of six vendors 
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Government Services Revenue and Cost of Revenue: 

Government services revenue primarily consists of communications engineering, program management, 
help desk outsource, network design and management for government agencies. Our Government Segment also 
operates teleport fac,ilities for data connectivity via satellite to and from North and Sou merica, as well as 
Africa and Europe. such services are delivered under time and materials contrac 
contracts, we reco revenue using the proportional performance method. We recognize estimated losses on 
contracts in their entirety upon discovery. If we did not accurately estimate total labor hours or costs to complete 
a contract or do not manage our contracts within the plann 
affected or losses on existing contracts 

r fixed price Service 

re margins may be negatively 

Government services revenue increased to $28.6 million in 2006 from $20.8 million in 2005 and $1 5 6 million 
in 2004. These increases in 2006 and 2005 were generated by new and expanded-scope contracts resulting from 
increased sales emphasis on communications and information technology service work, arid increased revenue 
generated from satellite airtime services using our teleport facilities and in some cases associated with our 
systems sales. Continuing growth is expected from higher usage of our teleport related services and continuing 
incremental additions of technical outsource service personnel. Also, in late 2004 we began offering basic and 

ded maintenance contracts on our systems. These maintenance fees are collected in a 
nized ratably over the maintenance periods The costs of maintenance revenue c 

compensation and benefits. These contracts yielded a mately $1.4 million and $0 4 million of revenue in 
2006 and 2005 respectively 

Direct cost of government service revenue consists of compensation, benefits and travel incurred in 
delivering these services, and these costs increased as a result of the increased services volume in 2006 and 
2005. Also, in 2006 as a result of the implementation of SFAS 123(R), 
compensation cost is included in the direct cost of revenue 

Our gross profit from government services increased to $7.5 million 2006 from $7.4 
$6.1 million in 2004. Despite higher revenue the average margins decli 
This is due'to competition for the contracts as they were renewed or n 
services generated $0.5 million and $0.2 million of gross profit in 2006 
margins on the government services was 26% in 2006 versus 35% in 2005. During 2004 and 2005, our 
government services contract mix included some work with unusually favor 
were not part of the revenue mix in 2006. 

hter average pricing in 2006. 
enance contract 

racts 

Government Systems Revenue and Cost of Revenue: 

US. Departments of Defense, State, and Justice, as 

ed compared to total 
estimated labor hours or costs. Labor 

from $1 5.5 million in 2006, 
systems revenues were pri 

6 variations in 

and margins may fiyctuate between periods based on the respective product mixes. Also,,in 2006 as a result of 
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the implementation of SFAS 123(R), $0 1 million of our noncash stock compensation cost is included in the 
direct cost of revenue. 

Our government systems gross profit increased to $6.7 million in 2006 from $3 5 million in 2005, which was 
a decrease from $8 2 million in 2004. These changes corresponded to increases and decreases in unit voiume in 
the respective periods. 

Operating Expenses: 

Research and Development Expense: 
2006 vs. 2005 vs. 
2005 2004 

42006 2005 $ % 2004 $ % - - - -  - - -  ($ in millions) 

Research and development expens . . . . . . . $12.6 $13.9 3)-  (9%) $18 1 $(4 2) (23%) 
Percent of revenue . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . .  % 14 19% - 

Our research and development expense consists of compensation, benefits, travel costs, and a proportion-- 
ate share of facilities and corporate overhead. The costs of developing software products are expensed p 
establishing technological feasibility. Technological feasibility is established for our software products when a 
detailed program design is completed. We incur research and development costs to enhance existing packaged 
software products as well as to create new software products including software- hosted in our network 
operations center. These costs primarily include compensation and benefits as well as costs associated with 
using third-party laboratory and testing r 
technological feasibility h 

expense such costs as they are incurred unless 
eve that the capitalized costs will be recoverable. 

sti 
s primarily 

pplications, including Voice over IP E9-1-1, enhancements to our 
technology of our existing products while incorporating aspects 

The expenses we in applications which are being marketed to new 
customers on a global basis. Throughout 2006 and 2005, respectively, research and developm 
focused on cellular and. hosted location-b 
hosted location-based applications, blend 

uisitions, and other feature enhancements. Mgnagement continually assesses our spending on 
research and development to ensure resources are focused on products that are expected to achieve the highest 
level of success. In 2006 we capitalized $1 9 million of software development costs for certain software projects 
in accordance with the above policy. The capitalized costs relate to our location-based software and our Voice 
over IP E9-1-1 service. These costs are being amortized on a product-by-product basis us 
method over the product's estimated useful life, which is never greater than three years 
computed using the ratio that current revenue for the product bears to the total of curren 
revenue for that product (the revenue curve method). If this revenue curve method results in amortization 
greater than the amount computed using the straight-line method, amortization is recorded at  that greater 
amount. Amortization of software development costs is recorded as a direct cost of revenue We believe that 
these capitalized costs will be recoverable from future gross profits generated by these products P 
second quarter of 2005, our estimates did not sufficiently demonstrate future realizabili 
development costs expended on such products; and accordingly, all such costs were expensed as i 

Research and development expense decreased 9% in 2006 from that of 2005 This decrease is mainly due 
to fewer com onnel assigned to software developmen rk during 2006 than in 

capitalized in 2005, no 
efforts. 

2007 and beyond. - 
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Sales and Marketing Expense: 

6 in millions) 

2006 vs. 2005 vs. 
2005 2004 

2006 2005 $ % 2004 $ % - - -  
Sales and marketing expense . . . $11.7 $10.5 $1.2 1 1 %  $9.0 $1.5 17% 
Percent of revenue . . .  . .  . . .  9% 10% 9% 

Our sales and marketing expense includes compensation and benefits, trade show expenses, travel costs, 
advertising and public relations costs as well as a proportionate share of facility-related costs which are expensed 
as incurre arketing efforts also include speaking engagements and attending and sponsoring industry 
conferenc ell our software products and services through our direct sales force and through indirect 
channels. We also leverage our relationships with original equipment manufacturers to market our software 
products to wireless carrier customers. We sell our products and services to agencies and departments of the 
U.S. Government primarily through direct sales professionals. Sales and marketing costs increased 11 % and 
17% in 2006 and 2005 respectively, primarily as a result of adding additional Government Segment sales 
personnel, and increased public relations fees. Also, in conjunction with the implementation of SFAS 123(R), we 

d $0.1 of non-cash stock compensation costs in sales and marketing expense-in 2006, 2005 

General and Administrative Expense: 

2006 vs. 2005 vs. 
2005 2004 

2004 $ E - -  2006 2005 $ % - - - -  ($ in millions) . 
and administrative expense. . . , . . . . . . . . . $1 7.0 $1 $2.0 13% $15.0 $0.0 0% 
of revenue . . . . . , . . , . . . . . . . . , . 74% % 15% 

General and administrative expense consists primarily of costs associated with management, finance, 
human resources and internal information systems. These costs include compensation, benefits, professional 
fees, travel, and a proportionate share of rent, utilities and other facilities costs which are expensed as incurred. 
The increase in 2006 was primarily attributable to higher legal and advisory fees associated with intellectual 
property related activity, and higher stock compensation expense due to the change in accounting rules effective 
in 2006. Also, in conjunction with the impiementation of SFAS 123(R), we included $0.7 of non-cash stock 
compensation in both 2006 and 2005, and $0.9 in 2004 General and ad 
same in-2005 and 2004. 

Depreciation and Amortization of Property and Equipment: 

strative expenses remained the 

i 

2006 vs. 2005 vs. 

2006 2005 $ "/o 2004 $ % 
2005 

- - -  

. , . . , . $ 8.0 $ $(0.6) 7% $ 7.4 $1.2 16% 
. . . . . $52.0 $ $ 4.6 10% $38.3 $9.1 24% 

d equipment represents the 
and telecommunications equipment, soft 
e depreiiation and amortization using the leasehold improve 

ed useful life of an asset ge 
to three years for most other ty 
vehicles. Expense generaliy i 

of cumulative capital expenditures made over time. Our depreciable asset base has increased as a result of 
including enhancements to and the consolidation of facilities for our 
ureau, equipment in our network Operations center related to our ne 

operations center 
d service offerings, 

computer software for internal use, and a company-wide computer hardware upgrade. In development costs f 
the second quarter of 2006, this increasing trend was offset by the effect of a review of experience with 

36 



equipment and software used in our service bureau operations, which led us to adjust their average asset lives 
from three years to four years. Depreciation expense in the 2006 was about $0.4 million lower than it would 
have been if three-year asset lives had continued to  be used. 

Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets: 

($ in millions) 
2006 vs. 2005 2005 vs. 2004 

% - % 2004 $ - - -  2006 2005 $ _ _ - -  

Amortization of acquired intangible assets $0 1 $02  $(O 1) (50%) $- $02 NM 

The acquired intangible assets associated with the Kivera Acquisition are being amortized over their useful 
lives of between three and nineteen years The expense recognized in 2006 and 2005 relates to the intangible 
assets acquired in this acquisition, including customer lists, customer contracts, trademarks, and patents 

Interest ExRense: 

2006 vs. 2005 2005 vs. 2004 
% - 2004 $ - -  2006 2005 $ % - - ~ -  ($ in millions) 

Interest expense incurred on notes payable and 
under our bank revolving credit agreement $ 1 5 $ 0  5 $ 1 0 200% $1 2 $(O 8)  (67 % ) 

Interest expense incurred on capital lease 
obligations 0 3  0 3  - NM 0 2  0 1  50 % 

Amortization of debt discount 1 0  - 1 0  100% 1 3  (1 3)  (100%) 

Amortization of deferred financing fees 0 4  0 5  (0 1) (20%) 0 5  - NM 

Less capitalized interest (0 1)  (0 1) - NM - (0 1) NM - -  
Total Interest and Financing Expense . , . . , . , $3.1 $ 1.2 $ 1.9 158% $3.2 $(2.0) (63%) - -  - - -  - -  

Interest expense is incurred under notes payable, an equipment loan a line of credit, and capital lease 
obligations Interest on notes, is primarily at  stated interest rates of between 7 75% and 14% and line of credit 
borrowing is a t  variable rates equal to 8 5% as of December 31, 2006 On March I O ,  2006, w e  issued and sold 
$10 million in principal amount of secured notes due March 10, 2009, which bear cash interest at  the rate of 
14% per annum, or alternatively at  our option, non-cash interest, in the form of additional notes, at  the rate of 
16% per annum (2006 Notes), along with warrants to  purchase an aggregate of 1 75 million shares of our Class A 
Common Stock at  an exercise price of $2 40 per share (2006 Warrants) We have paid all interest due under the 
2006 Notes in cash Our bank line of credit expires in September 2008 and our maximum line of credit is 
$22 million, subject to borrowing base limitations and working capital metrics Our line of credit also contains 
certain covenants, which are detailed below in Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Our capital lease obligations include interest at various amounts depending on the lease arrangement Our 
interest under capital leases fluctuates depending on the amount of capital lease obligations in each year, and 
the interest under those leases, has remained relatively constant since 2005 The interest incurred on the 2006 
Notes, partially offset by reduced average principal balances on our revolving credit and other notes payable, has 
caused our total interest expense to be higher in 2006 than it was in 2005. Interest expense under these notes 
fluctuates depending on the amount of notes payable outstanding in each year 

The 2006 amortization of debt discount relates to the issuance of the 2006 Warrants The value of these 
warrants was estimated to be $2 9 million, determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which was 
recorded as a debt discount and additional paid- in capital Certain warrants issued in 2004 (2004 Warrants) 
contain provisions requiring an adjustment in both the warrant price and the number of warrants outstanding as 
a consequence of the issuance of the 2006 Warrants. Consequently in 2006, the 2004 Warrants were adjusted 
to a purchase price of $2 50 per share and the total number of 2004 Warrants now outstanding was adjusted to 
886,787 The incremental value of these adjustments to  the 2004 Warrants was estimated to be $0 6 million 
using the Black-Scholes option- pricing model, which was recorded as a debt discount and additional paid-in 
capital The total_debt discount at issuance of $3 5 million is being amortized to interest expense over the three 
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year life of the 2006 Notes, yielding an effective interest rate of 15 2%. There was no comparable expense in 
2005 

In January 2004, we issued a convertible subordinated debenture with a face value of $15 million (the 
“Debenture“) to fund a portion of the Enterprise Acquisition Debt discount relates to the amount of discount 
computed as part of the financing for the Debenture Such discount was recorded as a reduction of debt and 
amortized over the life of the convertible subordinated debenture, which was converted to common equity in 
December 2004. Interest expense incurred on the Debenture issued in connection with the Enterprise 
Acquisition accrued at the rate of 3% of the face value of the Debenture 

Deferred financing fees relate to the up-front payment of fees to secure our notes payable and our revolving 
line of credit facility The amortization of the deferred financing fees in 2004 also includes deferred financing fees 
paid to secure the Debenture The remaining deferred financing fees for the Debenture were recorded ratably to 
expense as the Debenture was converted prior to December 31, 2004, and are therefore not included in expense 
for 2005 or 2006 All other deferred financing fees are being amortized over the terms of the notes or, in the 
case of the amended line of credit, the life of the facility, which now expires in September 2008. 

Our interest and financing expense increased in 2006 over 2005 due mainly to the issuance o 
2006 Notes and Warrants Our interest expense increased in 2005 compared to 2004 primarily as 
conversion of the Debenture to common equity in 2004. As a result of the conversion, we did not recognize any 
interest on $15 million face value of the Debenture, amortization of the related deferred financing fees, or 
amortization of debt discount in 2005 

Debt Conversion Expense’ 

To fund the Enterprise Acquisition in 2004, we issued the Debenture with a face value of $1 5 million As of 
August 30, 2004, we entered into a Waiver Agreement with the holder of the Debenture. The Waiver modified 
certain provisions of the Debenture See “Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Issuer Purchases of 
Equity Securities” elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form IO-K Subsequent to the date of the Waiver, the 
excess of the amortization of the debt discount and deferred financing fees that was orded ratably to expense 
as the Debenture was converted over the monthly amortization calculated using the inal life of the Debenture 
was recognized as debt conversion expense. The $1 .O million cash fee paid as an inducement to the Waiver and 
the fair value of the additional shares of our Class A Common Stock issued upon conversion of the Debenture 
were also recorded as t conversion expense There was no such arrangement in either 2005 or 2006. 

Other(Expense)/lncome, Net: 

2006 vs. 2005 2005 vs. 2004 
2006 2005 $ % 2004 $ % - - - - - - - ($ in millions) 

Foreign currency translation/ transaction 
(loss)/gain . . . . . . .  $(O 1 )  $(0.2) $(O 1 )  50% $ 0.1 S(0.3) (300%) 

Miscellaneous other (expense)/ income 0 1  0 1  - NM - (0 1 )  0.2 (200%) - - -  
$(O.O) $(O 1 )  0 1 (100?40)$(0 1 )  - 100% - -  - -  - - -  - - -  Total other (expense)/income, ne t .  . . . 

Revehues billed in foreign currency. . . . . . $ 7 3 $ 6.9 $ 0.4 6% $ 6.5 $ 0.4 6 Yo 

Other (expense)/income, net consists primarily of foreign currency translation/transaction gain or loss. We 
record the effects of foreign currency translation on our receivables and deferred revenues that are stated in 
currencies other than our functional currency 

Income Taxes: 

Because we have incurred net losses since 1999, no provision for federal or state income taxes has been 
made for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004. As a result of uncertainties regarding the 
realizability of the related assets, we have recorded a full valuation allowance for our deferred tax assets in our 
audited Consolidated Financial Statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our net - 
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operating loss carryforwards from acquired businesses will begin to expire in 201 1 and the net operating loss 
carryforwards from our operations will expire from 201 9 through 2025. 

Discontinued Operations: 

As of December 31, 2005, as a result of slower-than-anticipated market adoption of key technologies related 
to the Enterprise asse 
to a plan to sell the Enterprise assets which we acquired from Aether Systems, Inc in 2004. The plan was 
approved by our Board of Directors on December 29,2005, and we have engaged an investment bank that is 
actively marketing the Enterprise assets. Due to the slower-than-anticipated market adoption of the technologies 
described above, these assets have not performed up to management's expectations, leading to an increase in 
the loss from discontinued operations in 2005 versus 2004 Management believes that the sale of these assets 
will allow us to focus more directly on our core lines of business. We expected to complete the sale of these 
assets by the end of 2006. Sales of two of the three operation units were completed effective January 1, 2007 
as described more fully in Note 24 -Subsequent Events to the audited Consolidated Financial Statements 
presented elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form IO-K. 

and management's strategic decision to focus on our core technologies, we  committed 

The following table presents income statement data for the Enterprise division, currently reported as 
discontinued operations. Previously, these results were reported as part of the results of our Commercial 
Segment 

($ in millions) 

Services revenue . . . . . . . . . . .  

2006 vs. 2005 2005 vs. 2004 
2006 2005 $ % 2004 $ % 

$ 15.3 $22.5 $ (7.2) (32%) $38.5 $(16.0) (42%) 
- - -  - - - -  

Systems revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  70.7 5.6 5.1 91% 7.5 (1.9) (25%) -- --- 
Total Enterprise revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  26.0 28.1 (2.1) (7%) 46.0 (17.9) (39%) 

Direct cost of services, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  12.0 15.7 (3.7) (24%) 29.9 (14.2) (48%) 
--- -- 

Direct cost of systems. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9.5 

Total Enterprise cost of revenue. . . . . . . . . . .  - 21.5 

Services gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3.3 
Systems gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1.2 

Total Enterprise gross profit . . , , . . , , . 4.5 

Research and development, sales, marketing, 
and general and administrative expenses . , . 12.6 

Depreciation and amortization 

6.3 

22.1 

6.9 

(0.8) 

6.0 

- 
- 

9.9 - 

3.2 51% 5.4 

(0.6) (3%) 35.3 

(3.6) 52% 8.6 
2.0 250% 2.1 

- - 
- - 

- - 
(1.5) 25% 10.7 - - 

3.0 30% 10.8 - 

1.0 19% 

(13.2) (38%) 

(1.9) (20%) 
(2.9) (138%) - 
(4.7) (43%) - 

(0.9) (8%) 

- _ _  (0.0) 3.3 (3.3) (100%) -- 2.5 0.8 32% 

Write-down of goodwill and other long-lived 

Loss from discontinued operations 

(15 5) - - NM - NM 

$(23 7) $ (7 2) (16 5) 229% $ (2 6) $ (4 6) 177% 

- - -  --- assets 

- -  --  --- --- 

Lower volume and resulting lower gross profit in 2006 from Enterprise operations resulted from near-term 
subscriber transitions to next generation networks from data-only and pager networks, new subscriptions to our 
new technology offerings have been fewer than churn from old technology networks. Enterprise systems 
revenue and gross profit grew in 2006 due to larger project volume. We have sustained a consistent level of 
development spending to preserve the business pending sale, and incurred other expenses in 2006 in connection 
with European staffing reductions. In accordance with the relevant accounting literature, we ceased depreciation 
and amortization of the long-lived enterprise assets when they became classified as discontinued operations in 
2005. In 2006, we recorded an impairment charge of $1 5.5 mrllion to write-down the value of goodwill and other 
long lived assets to its estimated fair value. 
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Net Loss: 

($ in millions) 
2006 vs. 2005 

2006 2005 $ % - - - -  
Net income (loss) from continuing 

operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 2.0 $ (4.3) $ 6.3 (146%) 
Loss from discontinued operations . . . . . .  (23.7) (7.2) (16.5) 229% --- 

$(21 7 )  $(I I 5) $(IO 2) 88% --- --- Net loss 

Net loss changes for each year are as a result of the discussions above 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

The following table summarizes our comparative statements of cash flow: 

($ in millions) 

Net cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in): 
Netloss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Less: loss from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  i . .  
Income (loss) from Continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Non-cash charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Net changes in working capital. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Operating activities from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Net operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Purchases of property and equipment. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Capitalized software development costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Investing activities from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Investing activities from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Net investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Payments on debt and leases. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Proceeds from/(finance fees related to) issuance of stock and 

debentures, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Proceeds from employee option exercises. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Financing activities from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Operating activities from continuing operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Proceeds from borrowings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Effect of exchange rates from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Change in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations . . . . . . . . .  
Change in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations . . . . . . .  

Net change in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Days revenues outstanding in accounts receivable including unbilled 
receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

2005 vs. 2004 
2004 $ 

$(I5 9) $11 6 (73%) 
(2.6) (4.6) NM 

$418.5) $ 7.0 (38%) 

-- 
- -  - -  

'0 

2006 2005 2004 - -- 

$421.7) $(17.5) $(18.5) 
(23.7) (7.1) (2.6) 

2 0 (4.4) (15.9) 
1 3 9  11 3 18.1 
(2.9) 1 . I  0.1 

13 0 8.0 2.3 
(8.0) (3.2) 0.6 

5.0 4.8 2.9 
(23 9) 

(2.8) (4.6) (7.0) 
(1.8) (2.0) - 
(4.6) (6.6) (30,s) 
(1.4) (2 1 )  (0.8) 

(6.0) (8.7) (31 7) 
(13.6) (7.4) (8.9) 

- _ _ -  

--- 

- _ _ -  

- - 

-- 

-- 

(1.5) (0.1) 
16 0 2.0 
0.7 0.7 

1.6 (4.9) 
0.3 (0.1) 

10.1 (3.5) 
(9.1) (5.4) 

$ 1.0 $ (8.9) 

-- 

-- 
-- -- 

28.2 
7.5 
1.4 

28.2 
0.1 
(0.5) 
0.0 

$ (0.5) 

82 91 122 

Capital resources: We have funded our operations, acquisitions, and capital expenditures primarily using 
cash from our operations as well as the net proceeds from investor capital including. 

our January 2004 private placement of convertible subordinated debentures and common stock (described 
below), which generated net proceeds of approximately $1 9.9 millioh, 

our August 2004 placement of our common stock (described 
approximately $8.3 million, 

our March 10, 2006 issuance of secured notes and warrants (described below) which generated net cash 
proceeds of approximately $9.3 million, and 

), which generated net proceeds of 

- 
._ 
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our December 28, 2006 issuance of a $5 million note for a term of three years secured by accounts 
receivable of one customer. 

We also use capital leases to fund fixed asset acquisitions. 

We have a bank line of credit agreement with our principal bank which is effective through September 2008, 
with maximum borrowing availability of $22 million Borrowings at  any time are limited based mainly on accounts 
receivable and inventory levels and a working capital ratio, each as defined in the line of credit agreement 
Borrowings are also limited by the amount of letters of credit outstanding The line of credlt IS secured by 
substantially all assets of the company, and bears interest at  prime plus 1 25% per annum, with a minimum 
prime rate of 4 25% per annum and a borrowing rate of 8 5% per annum a t  December 31, 2006. Our line of 
credit contains covenants requiring us to maintain at least $29 5 million of tangible net worth, as defined, and a t  
least $5 million in cash (each measured monthly) as well as restrictive covenants including, among others, 
restrictions on our ability to merge, acquire assets above prescribed thresholds, undertake actions outside the 
ordinary course of our business (including the incurrence of indebtedness), guarantee debt, distribute dividends, 
and repurchase our stock. On March 10, 2006, the tangible net worth covenant, as defined, was amended such 
that the Company is required to maintain at least $23.5 million of tangible net worth, as defined, through 
March 31, 2007, at which time the amount of required tangible net worth, as defined, increases to $29 5 million 
The minimum tangible net worth amount per the line of credit agreement IS adjusted upward for income, 
subordinated debt and equity raised and proceeds of any sale of Enterprise assets The tangible net worth 
covenant is required to be met on a monthly basis The line of credit agreement also contains a subjective 
acceleration clause which allows the bank to declare the amounts outstanding under the line of credit due and 
payable if certain material adverse changes occur. Also, the loan document governing the subordinated debt 
issued in March 2006 contains a cross-default provision that would allow the debt holder to accelerate payment 
of the subordinated debt if other debt exceeding $2.5 million is declared due and payable We believe that we 
will continue to comply with our restrictive covenants under our debt agreements. If our performance results in 
non-compliance with any of the restrictive covenants, or if our line of credit agreement lender seeks to exercise 
its rights under the subjective acceleration clause referred to above, we would seek to further modify our 
financing arrangements, but there can be no assurance that our debt holders would not exercise their rights and 
remedies under their agreements with us, including declaring all outstanding debt due and payable See Notes 11 
and 12 to the audited Consolidated Financial Statements presented elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form IO-K 
for a more detailed description of the restrictive covenants under our debt agreements and a more detailed 
description of the secured notes entered into in March 2006 

At December 31, 2006, there were no outstanding borrowings under our bank revolving line of credit We 
had approximately $9 million of unused availability under our line of credit, and our tangible net worth, as defined, 
was $37 8 million as of December 31, 2006. We are in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of 
December 31, 2006 

Sources and uses of cash. The company's cash and cash equivalents balance was approximately $10 million 
a t  both December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005. 

Operations Cash generated by operations increased from $2 9 million in 2004 to $4 8 million in 2005 and 
$5 2 million in 2006 after small fluctuations in working capital These cash results reflect the improvements in 
profitability of continuing operations described above, which more than offset losses from discontinued 
operations during the periods, as shown in the table above. 

Investing activities While there were no acquisitions in 2005 and 2006, the company completed two 
acquisitions in 2004 Enterprise assets from Aether Systems in January, and assets from Kivera, Inc , in 
September, for a total investment of approximately $23 9 million net of cash acquired. Fixed asset additions in 
2004, 2005, and 2006 were about $7, $5, and $4 million respectively Fixed asset additions have declined over 
the three year period because of significant enhancements to service bureau infrastructure in connection with 
relocating facilities and expanding capacity Also, investments were made during 2005 and 2006 in development 
of carrier software for resale which had reached the stage of development calling for capitalization, in the 
amounts approximately $2 million each year. No projects met the criteria for capitalization of development cost in 
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2004. Investments during the three year period in discontinued operations were primarily for enhancements to 
the core software for resale by the mobile asset management unit. 

Financing activities: Funds were raised under two significant financings during 2006. On March I O ,  2006, 
pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated the same date, we issued and sold to two institutional lenders 
(i) $1 0 million in aggregate principal amount of secured notes due March I O ,  2009, which bear cash interest at  
the rate of 14% per annum, or non-cash interest, in the form of additional notes, at  the rate of 16% per annum, 
at our option, and (ii) warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1.75 million shares of our Class A Common Stock at  
an exercise price of $2.40 per share. The warrants issued in conjunction with our January 2004 financing contain 
provisions requiring an adjustment in both the warrant price and the number of warrants outstanding as a 
consequence of the issuance of the new warrants in March 2006. Consequently, the warrants from 2004 were 
adjusted to a purchase price of $2.50 per share and the total number of January 2004 warrants outstanding was 
adjusted to 886,787. The note purchase agreement includes a provision such that if we default on any of our 
debt obligations exceeding $2.5 million, the secured subordinated notes shall become due and payable at  the 
election of the holders of the notes. We received net cash proceeds of approximately $9.3 million from this 
transaction, which were used for general corporate purposes. 

On December 28, 2006 we issued a $5 million note for a term of three years secured by accounts 
receivable of one customer to an institutional lender. Scheduled payments for term debt, leases, and net 
reduction of our revolver borrowings totaled $1 3.6 million during 2006. 

During 2005, we made $6 million of scheduled payments under term debt and capital lease obligations while 
making a small net increase in borrowings under our line of credit. 

During 2004, we issued securities to finance the Enterprise and Kivera Acquisitions in January and August. 
Combined proceeds from both the January and August financings, after financing fees, were approximately 
$28.2 million. At the time of the August investment, we entered into a Waiver Agreement with the holder of the 
January Debenture. The Waiver modified certain provisions of the Debenture as follows: (1) the holder of the 
Debenture was required to convert the entire $1 5 million principal amount into shares of our Class A Common 
Stock by the end of 2004, (2) all of the material restrictive covenants contained in the Debenture were nullified 
and (3) the conversion price set forth in the Debenture was decreased from $5.3753 to $5.01 581 as an 
inducement to enter into the Waiver (an adjustment such that conversion of the Debenture yielded an additional 
200,000 shares of Class A Common Stock). As additional consideration, we paid the holder of the Debenture a 
$1 million one-time fee in cash. As a result, the entire-face amount of the Debenture had been converted into 
shares of our Class A Common Stock as of December 31, 2004. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

We had standby letters of credit totaling approximately $3.8 million at year-end 2006 and $0.9 million at  
year-end 2005 in support of processing credit card payments from our customers, as collateral with a vendor, 
and security for office space. In March 2006, an additional $2.5 million standby letter of credit was issued in 
accordance with a contracting requirement for a project being performed by our Government Segment. 

Contractual Commitments 

As of December 31, 2006, our most significant commitments consisted of long-term debt, obligations under 
capital leases and non-cancelable operating leases. We lease certain furniture and computer equipment under 
capital leases. We lease office space and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases. As of December 31, 
2006 our commitments consisted of the following: 

- 2007 2008-2009 2010-2011 Beyond Total - -  ($ in millions) 

Notes payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $2.6 $I I .4 $ -  $- $14.0 
Capital lease obligations . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . .  2.9 1.7 0.1 4.7 

8.7 1.2 Operating leases, primarily for office space 3.3 4.2 - 
- 

- . . . . . . . . . . . .  - - - 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $- $27.4 $1.3 $17.3 Total contractual commitments $8.8 

_. - - - - - - - - - - 
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Related Party Transactions 

In February 2003, we entered into an agreement with Annapolis Partners LLC to explore the opportunity of 
relocating our Annapolis offices to a planned new real estate development Our President and Chief Executive 
Officer owns a controlling voting and economic interest in Annapolis Partners LLC and he also serves as a 
member The financial and many other terms of the agreement have not yet been established. The lease is 
subject to several contingencies and rights of termination For example, the agreement can be terminated a t  the 
sole discretion of our Board of Directors if the terms and conditions of the development are unacceptable to us, 
including without limitation the circumstances that market conditions make the agreement not favorable to us or 
the overall cost is not in the best interest to us or our shareholders, or any legal or regulatory restrictions apply 
Our Board of Directors will evaluate this opportunity along with alternatives that are or may become available in 
the relevant time periods and there is no assurance that we will enter into a definitive lease at this new 
development site 

I tem 7A. Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Market Risk 

Interest Rate Risk ~ 

We have limited exposure to  financial market risks, including changes in interest rates. As discussed above 
under "Item 7 Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - 
Liquidity and Capital Resources," we  have a $22 million line of credit A hypothetical 100 basis point adverse 
movement (increase) in the prime rate would have increased our interest expense for the year ended 
December 31, 2006 by approximately $35,000, resulting in no significant impact on our consolidated financial 
position, results of operations or cash flows 

At December 31, 2006, w e  had cash and cash equivalents of $1 0.4 million Cash and cash equivalents 
consisted of demand deposits and money market accounts that are interest rate sensitive. However, these 
investments have short maturities mitigating their sensitivity to interest rates A hypothetical 100 basis point 
adverse movement (decrease) in interest rates would have increased our net loss for 2006 by approximately 
$0.1 million, resulting in no significant impact on our consolidated financial posi 
flows. 

results of operations or cash 

Foreign Currency Risk 

For the year ended December 31, 2006, w e  generated $7.3 million of revenue outside the U.S. A majority of 
our transactions generated outside the U.S. are denominated in U.S. dollars and a change in exchange rates 
would not have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements. As of December 31, 2006, we had 
approximately $0.1 million in unbilled receivables that are denominated in foreign currencies and would be 
exposed to foreign currency exchange risk. As of December 31, 2006, we did not have billed accounts receivable 
that would expose us to foreign currency exchange risk. During 2006, our average receivables and unbilled 
receivables subject to foreign currency exchange risk were $0.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively. We 
recorded transaction losses of $0.1 million on foreign currency denominated receivables and deferred revenue 
for the year ended December 31, 2006. 

I tem 8. Financial Statements and Sumlementarv Data 

The financial statements listed in Item 15 are included in this Annual Report on Form IO-K beginning on 
page F-I. 

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

- None. 
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluation, 
under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and 
procedures Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that 
the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-I5(e) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) are effective at  a reasonable assurance level in ensuring that all information 
required in the reports it files or submits under the Act was accumulated and communicated to the Company's 
management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely 
decisions regarding required disclosures and that information was recorded, processed, summarized and 
reported within the time period required by the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission 

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-I5(f) and 15d-I5(f) Under the supervision and with 
the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we 
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2006 based on the framework in Internal Control -Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on that evaluation, management 
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2006. 
Management's assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of Decem- 
ber 31, 2006 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, which 
has issued an attestation report thereon included herein 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

There were no changes in the Company's internal controls over financial reporting during the quarter ended 
December 31, 2006, that are materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's 
internal control over financial reporting. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
, 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Tele Co m m u n i ca t io n Systems , I nc 

W e  have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Report on 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. maintained effective internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control - 
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the 
COSO criteria) TeleCommunication Systems, Inc 's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management's assessment and an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit 

W e  conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States) Those standards require that we  plan and perform the audit to  obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating 
management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, 
and performing such other procedures as w e  considered necessary in the circumstances. W e  believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that (1 pertain to  the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company, (2)  provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company 
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company, and 
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, management's assessment that TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. maintained effective 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based 
on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, 
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the COSO criteria. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. as of December 31, 2006 
and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006 of TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. and our report 
dated March 8, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

I 
1 
I .  

! 
I 

Baltimore, Maryland 
March 8, 2007 

Is/ Ernst & Young LLP 
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Part Ill 

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant 

The information required by this Item 10 is incorporated by reference from the information captioned "Board 
of Directors" and "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" to be included in the 
Company's definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection with the Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be 
held on June 14, 2007 (the "Proxy Statement"). 

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

tion required by thi 
of Directors" and "Executive Com 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 

"Beneficial Ownership of TCS Common Stock" to be included in the Proxy Statement. 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director @dependence 

The information required by this Item 13 is incorporated by reference from the infortiiation captioned 
"Certain Tfansactions Relating to TeleCommunication Systems, Inc." to be included in the Proxy Statement. 

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

is incorporated by reference from the i 
' to be included in the Proxy Statement. 

rmation captioned "Board 

The information required by this Item 12 is incorporated by reference from the information captioned 

The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated by reference from the information captioned 
"Principal Accountant Fees and Services" to be included in the Proxy Statement. 

I 

i 
I 
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Part IV 

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules 

(a)( 1) Financial Statements 

The financial statements listed in Item 15 are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on 
page F-I. 

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules 

The financial statement schedule required by Item 15 is included in Exhibit 12 to this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. 

Exhibits 

The exhibits are listed in the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the exhibits. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
TeleCommunication Systems, Inc 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. and 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, 
stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. Our 
audit also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15. These financial statements are 
the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits As of December 31, 2005 and for the year then ended, we did not audit the 
financial statements of TeleCommunication Systems (Holdings) Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary, which state- 
ments reflect total assets of 5 percent of the consolidated total as of December 31, 2005, and a net loss, which 
represents 25 percent of the consolidated loss from discontinued operations for the years then ended. Those 
statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it 
relates to the amounts included for TeleCommunication Systems (Holdings) Ltd., is based solely an the report of 
the other auditors. 

We conducted-our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of the other auditors, the financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of TeleCommunication Systems, 
Inc. at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for 
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation 
to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set 
forth therein. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States), the effectiveness of TeleCommunication Systems, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and out report dated March 8, 2007 
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, on January 1, 2006, the Company changed 
its method of accounting for stock-based compensation in accordance with guidance provided in Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), "Share-Based Payment". 

Baltimore, Maryland 
March 8. 2007 

Is/ Ernst & Young LLP 
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TeleCommunication Systems, lnc. 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(amounts in thousands, except share data) 

December 31, December 31, 
2006 2005 

Assets 

sh and cash equivalents. . $ 10,358 $ 9,320 
21,544 20,886 Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $290 in 2006 and $233 in 2005 . 

Unbilled receivables . . .  
Inventory . . . .  . . .  
Other current assets , . 2,970 
Current assets of discontinued operations . . .  , .  . . . . .  

Total current assets . . .  . .  . . .  
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of 

Software development costs, net of accumulated amortization of $3,262 in 

Acquired intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $362 in 2006 

$40,594 in 2006 and $34,134 in 2005 . . . . .  12,853 - 

2006 and $1,990 in 2005 . . . .  4,402 3,825 

and $214 in 2005 . . . . . .  . . . . .  

. . .  

Goodwill . . .  . . . . .  1,813 
Other assets . . .  . . . .  2,526 1 982 

Total assets . $ 83,695 

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity 
Curient liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued . . . .  . . . . . .  $ 10,421 
Accrued payroll and related liab 5,663 
Deferred revenue . . . .  . . . . . . .  3,485 

ank line of credit borrowings . . .  . . . . .  
urrent portion of notes payable . . . . . .  2,160 

- 

Current portion of capital lease obligations . . . . . . .  2,740 3,001 
ent liabilities of discontinued operations 

Total current liabilities . .  . . . . . .  
. . . . . .  

Capital lease obligations and notes payable, less current portion . . . .  12,721 
Stockholders’ equity. 

Class A Common Stock, $0 01 par value 
Authorized shares - 225,000,000, issued and outstanding 

32,267,893 in 2006 and 31.381,575 in 2005 . . .  . . . .  322 314 
Class B Common Stock, $0.01 par value. 

Authorized shares - 75,000,000, issued and outstanding shares of 
7,525,672 in 2006 and 8,035,983 in 2005 . . . . .  76 80 

. . .  (231) Deferred compensation - 

Additional paid-in capital 21 7,739 0,275 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 

. . . . . .  . . .  (40) 
Accumulated deficit . (1 83,032) (161,336) 

Total stockholders’ equity. 35,105 49,062 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity . .  $ 83,695 $ 90,572 

Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment - 
. . . .  

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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TeleCommunication Systems. Inc . 
Consolidated Statements of Operations 

(amounts in thousands. except per share data) 

Revenue 
Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Systems . . . . . . . .  : . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Total revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

costs of revenue 
Direct cost of services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Direct cost of s s. including amortization of software development 

costs of $1. 2 86. and $445. respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Services gross profit . . . . . . . . . . .  ; . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Systems gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Total gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

: . ' Total direct cost of revenue 

Year ended December 31. 
2006 2005 2004 

$ 88. 380 $ 74. 972 $60.234 
36. 556 27. 181 36. 678 
124. 936 102. 153 96. 912 

52. 540 39. 230 30. 972 

17. 883 17. 719 21. 234 
70. 423 56. 949 52. 206 
35. 840 35. 742 29.262 
18. 673 9. 462 15. 444 
54. 513 45. 204 44. 706 

Operating costs and expenses 
Research and development expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  12. 586 
Sales and marketing expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1 1. 713 
General and administrative expense . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  16. 959 

ciation and amortization of property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7. 956 
ization of acquired intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  147 
Total operating costs and expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . .  . 49. 360 

Operating Income (Loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5.1 53 
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (3. 198) 
Debt conversion expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  ! . .  
Ottier.(expense)/income, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  22 

- 

me (Loss) f rom continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1. 976 
(23. 671 ) 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ (2 1. 695) 

Income (Loss) per share from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . .  $ 0.05 
L o s s  per share from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . .  ; . . . .  (0.60) 

Loss from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

13. 863 
IO. 535 
15. 044 
8. 625 
177 

48.244 

18. 106 
8. 973 
14. 996 
7. 353 
37 

49.465 

$ (0.11) 
(0.19) 

Net loss per share . basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ (0.551, $ (0.30) 

Income (Loss) per share -diluted: 
Income (Loss) per share from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 0.05 $ (0.11) 

Net loss per share-diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  j . . . . . . . . . .  $ (0.54) -$ (0.30) 

Weighted average shares outstanding-basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  39, 430 38. 823 
Weighted average shares outstanding-diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  40, 166 38, 823 
Composition of non-cash stock compensation expense: 

Direct costs of revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ I. 509 $ 16 
Research and development expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  558 1 1  
Sales and marketing expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  326 18 
General and administrative expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  723 675 

Loss per share from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (0.59) (0.1 9) 

. Total noncash stock compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 3, 116 $ 720 

(4. 759) 
(3. 196) 
(7. 886) 
(61) 

(1 5. 902) 
(2. 646) 

$(I 8. 548) 

$ (0.48) 
(0.08) 

$ (0.56) 

$ (0.48) 
(0.08) 

$ (0.56) 

33. 381 
33. 381 

$ 5 3  
140 
56 
946 

$ 1 9 5  I. 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . 
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T e l e C o m m u n i c a t i o n  Systems,  Inc.  

Conso l i da ted  S t a t e m e n t s  of Stockholders '  Equ i t y  
( a m o u n t s  in thousands ,  excep t  share data) 

Class A Class B 
Accumulated 

Additional Other 
Common Common Deferred Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated 

Stock Stock Compensation Capital Loss Deficit -- 
Balance at January I ,  2004.'. . . . . . . .  
Options exercised for the purchase of 

537,333 shares of Class A Common 
Stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5 

Issuance of 85,901 shares of Class A 
Common Stock under Employee 
Stock Purchase Plan . . . . . . . . . . . .  1 

Issuance of 1,568,308 shares of Class A 
Common Stock in connection with 
the Enterprise acquisition and related 
financing, net of issuance costs. . . . .  

Issuance of 2,500,000 shares of Class A 
Common Stock in connection with a 
private financing, net of issuance 
costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  25 

Issuance of 2,990,544 shares of Class A 
Common Stock for the conversion of 
the convertible subordinated 

$221 

16 

for convertible subordinated 
debentures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  - 

Surrender of 79,563 restricted shares of 
Class A Common Stock as payment 
for payroll tax withholdings . . . . . . . .  (1) 

feature of convertible subordinated 
debentures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  - 

Issuance of warrants to purchase 
341,072 shares of Class A Common 
Stock . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Conversion of 954,687 sha 
Common Stock to Class A Common 
Stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  10 

Stock compensation expense for 
issuance of Class A Common Stock 
options at below fair market value , , . - 

Amortization of deferred compensation 
expense - 

Fair value of stock op 
non-employees for - 

Foreign currency tran 
adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  - 

Net loss for 2004. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Balance at December 31,2004. . . . . .  
Options exercised for the purchase of 

290,980 shares of Class A Common 
Stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3 

Issuance of 176,851 shares of Class A 
Common Stock under Employee 

Fair value of beneficial conversion 

- 

. . . . . . .  

$306 

Plan . . . . . . . . . . . .  2 
6 restricted shares of 

on Stock to .directors 
and key executives . . . . . . .  - 

Issuance costs related to 
2,500,000 shares of Class A Common 
Stock in connection with a private 
f inancing..  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  - 

$169,256 $ -  

1,053 - 

- 344 

8,366 - 

9.31 7 - 

15,871 - 

209 - 

- 1449) 

3,662 - 

1,395 - 

380 - 

- 41 

$(131,321) 

Total 

$ 36,851 

1,058 

345 

8,382 

9,342 

15,900 

209 

(450) 

3,662 

1,395 

- 

583 

61 2 

171 

(6) 
-- (18,548) (18,548) 
$3149,869) $ 59,506 

31 3 - 

(statement continued on following page) 



TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity - (Continued) 
(amounts in thousands, except share data) 

Accumulated 
Class A Class B Other 

Common Common Deferred Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated 
Stock Stock Compensation Capital Loss Deficit Total -- 

Surrender of 100,564 restricted shares 
of Class A Common Stock as 

(250) - - . . .  (1 1 - (249) - 

Common Stock to Class A Common 
Stock . . .  4 (4) 

Stock compensation expense for 
issuance of Class A Common Stock 
options at below fair market value . - - 

Amortization of deferred compensation 

Valuation adjustment to stock options 

Foreign currency translation 

Net loss for 2005 
$ (231) $210,275 Balance at December 31 . $314 - $ 8 0  

Elimination of deferred compensation 
- 23 1 (231) upon adoption of SFAS No 123(R) .  

Options exercised for the purchase of 
209,632 shares of Class A Common 
Stock . . . .  . . . . . . . .  2 - 343 

Issuance of 212,194 shares of Class A 
Common Stock under Employee 
Stock Purchase Plan . . . .  2 - 388 

- - 

- 123 

- 597 - - expense . . . .  . . . . .  

issued to non-employees for 
service . 

adjustment . .  

- (27) - - - 
- - - - 
- - - - - - - -  
- - -  - - -  - 
- 

- 

- 
Issuance of warrants to purch 

shares of Class A Common 
. . . . . . . . . . .  - - - 3,455 

67,827 restricted shares of 
Class A Common Stock as payment 

. . . . .  (1 87) for payroll tax withholdings. (1) - - 
Conversion of 51 0,291 shares of Class B 

Common Stock to Class A Common 
Stock . . .  5 (5) 

Stock com xpense for 
issuance of Class A Common Stock 
options at below fair market value for 

. . .  2,872 continuing operations . . - - - 

- - 

xpense for 
Common Stock 

- - 504 504 
- 244 - 

Valuation adjustment to stock options 

76 - - - 

- - - - adjustment . . . .  . .  - - - - - - - -  Net loss for 006 . 
Balance at i ecember 31,2006 . $322 $ 7 6  $217,739 -$  - - - $ -  - -  - -  

i 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(amounts in thousands) 

Year ended December 31, 
2006 2005 2004 ~ - -  

$(21,695) $(I  1,467) $(18,548) 
(23,671) (7,151) (2,646) 

1,976 (4.316) ( I  5,902) 
--- 

Operating activities: 
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Less: Loss from discontinued operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  : . . . . . . . .  
Income (Loss) from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Amortization of acquired intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Non-cash stock compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Amortization of software development costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Non-cash debt conversion expense. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Amortization of debt discount . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Amortization of deferred financing fees included in interest expense . . . . . .  
Other non-cash expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
State of Maryland loan forgiveness . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

Accounts receivable, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Unbilled receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
lnvento ry . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Other current assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Accounts payable and accrued expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Accfued payroll and related liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities: 

Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations . . . . . . . . .  
Net,cash provided by/(used in) operating activities of discontinued 

Total net cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Investing activities: 
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Purchases of property and equipment. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Capitalized software development costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Net cash used in investing activities of continuing operations. . . . . . . . . .  
Net cash used in investing activities of discontinued operations . . . . . . . .  
Net cash used in investing activities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Financing activities: 
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Proceeds from issuance of Class A Common Stock and Convertible 

subordinated debentures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Proceeds from/(payments on) draws on revolving line of credit, net . . . . . . . .  
Payments on long-term debt and capital lease obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Financing fees related to issuance of Class A Common Stock and Convertible 

subordinated debentures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Payment to induce conversion of convertible subordinated debenture. . . . . . .  
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options and sale of stock . . . . . . .  
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities of continuing operations . . .  
Net cash provided by financing activities of discontinued operations . . . . . . . .  
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities . . .  
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents of discontinued 

operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Net increase (decrease) in cash from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . .  
Net decrease in cash from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Net increase (decrease) in cash. . . . . . . . .  
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

7,956 
147 

3,116 
1,273 

960 
487 
(1 7) 

- 

- 

(658) 
(1,275) 
(2,094) 

152 
111 
246 

1.302 

8,625 
177 
720 
786 
- 
- 

470 
fF8 5 
- 

(2,639) 
3,524 

(625) 
(1,140) 

(439) 
1,423 

195 

7,353 
37 

1,195 
445 

6,886 
1,344 

464 
50 1 

(1 00) 

2,155 
(1.023) 
(2.972) 

392 
2,701 
(2.490) 

175 
1,134 

13,044 7,994 2,295 
(638) 758 

(8,037) (3,240) 61 3 
5,007 4,754 2,908 

- - (23,952) 

~-~ 
~ ~ _ _ _  

(2,760) (4,636) (7.000) 
(1,849) (1,960) - -~~ 
(4,609) (6,596) (30,952) 
(1,442) (2.1 17) (799) 
(6.051 ) (8.713) (31.751) 
~~- 
~~- 

16,000 2,000 2,500 

- - 31,000 
(8,004) 3,004 5,000 
(5,589) (1 0,451) (8,985) 

(81) (1,758) 
- ~1.000) 

(1,470) 
- 

73 1 696 1,403 
1,668 (4,832) 28,160 
--- 

-^ - - 58 _ _ _ ~ ~  
1,726 (4,832) 28.1 60 - - ~  

357 (140) 149 
I O ,  1 03 (3,434) (497) 
(9,064) (5,497) (37) 
1,038 (8,931) (534) 
--- 
~~~ 

9,320 18,251 18,785 
$ 10.358 $ 9,320 $ 18.251 
--- 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 



TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data) 

1. Significant Accounting Policies 

Description of Business 

TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. develops and applies highly reliable wireless data communications 
technology. We manage our business in two segments, Commercial and Government: 

Commercial Segment. Our carrier software system products enable wireless carriers to deliver short 
text messages, location information, internet content, and other enhanced communication services to 
and from wireless phones. We provide enhanced 9-1 -1 (E9-1-1) services, commercial location-based 
services, and inter-carrier text message distribution services on a hosted, or service bureau basis. As of 
December 31, 2006, we provide hosted services under contracts with 36 wireless carrier. networks as 
well as Voice-over-Internet-Protocol (VolP) service providers. We also earn subscriber revenue through 
wireless applications including our Rand McNallyTM Traffic application which is available via all major US 
wireless carriers. We earn carrier software-based systems revenue through the sale of licenses, 
deployment and customization fees and maintenance fees. Pricing is generally based onthe volume of 
capacity purchased from us by the carrier. As of December 31, 2006, we had deployed 
systems for our customers in wireless carrier networks around the world, including those of Verizon 
Wireless, Vodafone, T-Mobile, Telefonica and its affiliate Vivo, Alltel, and Hutchison Whampoa's ''3"TM- 
brand third generation networks. We also provide carrier technology on a hosted, Le., service bureau 
basis; that is, customers use our software functionality through connections to and from our network 
operations centers, paying us monthly based on the number of subscribers, cell sites, or call center 
circuits, or message volume. As set forth in Note 3, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Kivera, 
Inc. (Kivera), a provider of Internet-based location application software and geo-data professional 
services, on September 20, 2004. The acquired operation is included in our Commercial Applications 

beginning on the effective date of the acquisition. 

ent Segment. We design, furnish, install and operate wireless and data network communica- 
tion systems, including our SwiftLinke deployable communication systems which incorporate high 
speed, satellite, and internet protocol technology. More than 600 of our SwiftLink@ deployable 
communication systems are in use for security, defense, and law enforcement around the world. We 
also own and operate secure satellite teleport facilities, and resell access to satellite airtime (known as 
space segment). 

Discontinued Operations. As set forth in Note 2 ,  the Enterprise Mobility Solutions (E 
of Aether Systems, Inc. which we acquired effective January 1, 2004 has been class 
discontinued operations. 

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financi 
accepted in the US. requires management to ma 
and related disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

atements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
stimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 

t Principles of Consolidation. The accompanying financial statements include the accou 
ned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

edassifications. We have reclassified certain prior-year amounts for comparative purposes. 
ions did not affect our results of operations for the years presented. Our current revenu 

systems revenue and services revenue. Prior year classific 
revenues, direct costs of revenue, and gross profit are included in 
gross profit to conform with these classifications. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid investments with a 
maturity of three months or less when purchased. Cash equivalents are reported at  fair value, which 



TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued) 
(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data) 

approximates cost. Our line of credit requires us to maintain a cash balance of a t  least $5 million. See Note 12 
for additional information. 

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts Receivable. All of our accounts receivable are trade receivables 
generated in the ordinary course of our business. We use estimates to determine the amount of the allowance 
for doubtful accounts necessary to reduce accounts receivable to their expected net realizable value. We 
estimate the amount of the re 
establishing provisions for esti 

ewing the status of significant past-due receivables and by 
ing current and historical bad debt trends. Changes to our 
mponent of general and administrative expenses in our 
s. Our credit and collection policies and the financial 

I accounts are recorded 
idated Statements of 0 

strength of our customers are cr 
w e  generally bo not require collater 
are ultimately deemed uncolle 

ing a relatively small amount of write-offs of receivables. 

a reduction of receivables and the allowance for doubtful 
r enter netting agreements with our customers. Rec'eivables that 

accounts. 

Inventory. We ma in inventory of component parts and finished product for our Government deployable 
communications systems. Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is based on the weighted 
average method. The cost basis for finished units includes manufacturing cost. 

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated dep 
estimated useful lives of equipm 

quipment, software and vehicles. Our depreciable 
ng enhancements to and the consolidation of 

sing the straight-line method 
nd fixtures and thre 
eased as a result of 
work operations cen our service bureau, equipment in our network operations center 

related to our new hosted service offerings, development costs for computer software for internal use, and a 
company-wide computer hardware upgrade. In the second quarter of 2006, this increasing trend was offset by the 
effect of a review of experience with equipment and software used in our service bureau Operations, which led us 
to adjust their average asset lives from three years to four years. This change in depreciation life has been 
accounted for on a prospective basis. Deprec 
approximately $400 lower than it would have 

or the remaining term of the lease. Ass 

n expense for the year ended December 31, 2006 was 
n if three-year asset lives had continued to be used. Amortization 

rovements is provided using the straight-line method over the lesser of the useful life of the asset 
nder capital leases are stated at the lesser of the present value of 
of the property at the inception of the lease. The assets recorded 

ser of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the assets in a 
y for owned assets. 

ts the excess of cost over the 
Goodwill acquired in a purchase business combination is not am 
for impairment using a discounted cash flow model in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. A majority of our goodwill balance was 
reclassified to assets of discontinued operations in connection with our plan of sale of our Enterprise Assets (see 

lue of assets of acquired businesses. 
, but instead is evaluated at least annually 

Discontinued Operations). 

Costs. We capitalize software development costs after we establish technological 
feasibility, and amo-rtize those costs over the estimated useful lives of the software beginning on the date when 
the software is first installed and used. Acquired technology, representing the estimated value of the proprietary 
technology acquired, has also been recorded as capitalized software development costs. 

Costs we incurred are capitalized when technological feasibility has been established. For new products, 
technological feasibility is established when an operative version of the computer software product is completed in 
the same software language as the product to be ultimately marketed, pe rms all the major functions planned for 
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the product, and has successfully completed initial customer testing Technological feasibility for enhancements to 
an existing product is established when a detail program design is completed. Costs that are capitalized include 
direct labor, related overhead and other direct costs. These costs are amortized pn a product-by-product basis using 
the straight-line method over the product's estimated useful life, which is never greater than three years 
Amortization is also computed using the ratio that current revenue for the product bears to the total of current and 
anticipated future revenue for that product (the revenue curve method) If this revenue curve method results in 
amortization greater than the amount computed using the straight-line method, amortization is recorded at  that 
greater amount. Our policies to determine when to capitalize software development costs and how much to 
amortize in a given period require us to make subjective estimates and judgments. If our software products do not 
achieve the level of market acceptance that we expect and our future revenue estimates for these products 
change, the amount of amortization that we record may increase compared to prior periods. The amortization of 
capitalized software development costs has been recorded as a cost of revenue. 

Acquired technology is amortized over the product's estimated useful life based on the purchase price 
allocation and valuation procedures performed at  the time of the acquisition. Amortization is calculated using the 
ratio of the estimated future cash flows generated in each period to the estimated total cash flows to be 
contributed from each product or the straight-line method, whichever is greater. 

1, 2006 and 2005, we capitalized $1,862 and $2,512, respectively, of 
n software projects after the point of technological feasibility had been 

reached but b he products were available for general release. Accordingly, these costs have been capitalized 
zed over their estimated useful lives beginning when the products are available for general 

our location-based software, which is part of our continuing operations. 

We believe that these capitalized costs will be recoverable from future gross profits generated by these 
products. Prior to the second quarter of 2005, our estimates did not sufficiently demonstrate future realizability 
of our software development costs expended on such products; and accordingly, all such costs were expensed 
as incurred. 

Acquired Intangible Assets. In conjunction with the Kivera acquisition in 2004, we acquired customer lists, 
and patents that will be amortized over their respecti estimated useful lives. 

ets acquired in the Kivera acquisition were determined to have useful lives of 5 to 19 years, 
3 years, based on the estimated cash flows to be contrib 
sing the greater of the straight-line method or the revenu 

with a weighted-average useful life 
asset. We are amortizing these ass 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets, including intangible assets, are reviewed for impair- 
ment whenever events or changes in circdmstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or group of 
assets may not be fully recoverable. 

If an impairment indicator is present, we evaluate recoverability by a comparison of the carrying amount of 
the assets to future undiscounted net cash flows that we expect to generate from these assets. If the assets 
are impaired. we recognize an impairment charge equal to the amount by which the carrytng amount exceeds 
the fair value of the assets Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying values or fair values, 
less estimated costs of disposal. 

Other Comprehensive Income/loss. Comprehensive income/loss includes changes in the equity of a 
business during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. Other 
comprehensive income/loss refers to revenue, expenses, gains and losses that under U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles are included in comprehensive income, but excluded from net income. For operations 
outside the U.S. that prepare financial statements in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, results of operations 
and cash flows are translated at  average exchange rates during the period, and assets and liabilities are 

- 
F-I 0 
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translated at  end-of-period exchange rates. Translation adjustments for our international subsidiaries are included 
as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders' equity. Total comprehensive 
loss for the three years ended December 31; 2006 was not materially different than consolidated net loss. 

ition. Revenue is gener'ate 

. Revenue from hosted se 

our two segments as described below. 

mists of monthly recurring sewice fees and i 

' 

recognized in the month earned. Revenue from subscriber service fees is recognized in the period earned. 
Revenue from activation fees is recognized ratably over the determinable portion of the customer contract, 

twelve months. Maintenance fees are collected in advance and recognized ratably over the 
cluding unrecognized maintenance f 

is included in deferred revenue. 

tracts. Revenue is reco 
and materials contracts and cost plus fee contracts as billable costs are incurred Fixed-Gice service contracts 
are accounted for using the proportional performance method. These contracts generally allow for monthly billing 
or billing upon achieving certain specified milestones. Any estimated losses on contracts are recognized rn their 
entirety a t  the date that they become evident. 

Systems Revenue. munications systems. These systems may include 

ee is allacated among each element based on 

old separately In the absence of evidence of fair 
value of a delivered element, revenue is allocated first to the undelivered elements based on fair value and the 

enses are generally perpetual licenses for a specified 
number of users aintenance at a specified rate All fees are recog 

i) evidence of an arrangemenf ( 1 1 )  delivery has 
e is probable of collection Software license fees 

billed and not recognized as revenue are included in deferred revenue Systems containing software licenses 
include a 90-day- warranty for d 
to date, and no costs are curre 

Systems revenue is also d 
custom applicatrons. Fees from the development 
performed under time and mat 
contracts and cost plus fee cont 
accounted for using the percent 
costs incurred as a percentage of total estimated costs at the completion of the contract, or direct labor hours 
incurred compared to estimated total dir 
significant portion of the total estimated 
achieving certain specified milestones. 

customers is recognized ., 

elements, which may include the product license, 

alue of each of the elements. Fair value is generally- 

. Revenue is recognized under time and materials 
urred Fixed-price product delivery contracts are 
onal performance method, measured either by total 

or hours for projects for which third-party hardware represents a 
tracts generally allow for monthly billing or billing upon 
ses under long-term contracts are recognized in their 

. Revenue from hardware sales to our monthly subscriber 

Under our contracts th systems and services, contract costs, including the 
allocated indirect expenses, are subject to audit and adjustment by the Defense Contract Audit Agency. We 
record revenue under these contracts a t  estimated net realizable amounts - 

F-I 1 
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Our accounting for revenues from systems and services contracts follows the guidance of Emerging Issues 
Task Force 00-21 "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables" (EITF 00-21 ) for determining of the 
number of units of accounting and the allocation of the total fair value among the multiple elements. 

Deferral of Costs Incurred. We defer costs incurred in certain situations as dictated by authoritative 
accounting literature. We defer costs for long term contracts accounted for under the proportional performance 
method so that the total costs recognized at  any point are indicative of the level of effort expended. In addition, 
if the revenue for a delivered item is not recognized because it is not separable from the arrangement, then we 
defer incremental costs retated to that delivered but unrecognized element. 

Advertising Costs. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense totaled $29, $1 20, and 
$182, for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

Capitalized Interest. Total interest incurred was $3,253, $1,312, and $3,196 for the years ended December 31, 
2006, 2005, and 2064, respectively. Ap 
component of software development c 
and 2005 respectively. No interest was 

ly $55 and $140 of total inter 
construction in progr 

ired during the year en 

Stock-Based Compensation. We have two stock-based employee Compensation plans, which are 
described more fully in Note 17. 

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FA revised the previously issued 
Statement No. 123, Share Based Payment (Statement No. 123(R)).Statement No. 123(R) requires us to report all 
share based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options in the income statement based 
on their fair value beginning in 2006. We have adopted Statem-ent No. 123(R) effective January 1, 2006 using the 
modified prospective method. Had we adopted Statement No. 123(R) in prior periods, the impact of that 
standard would have approximated the impact of Statement No. 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma 
net loss and loss per share below. 

ctober 28, 2005, our Board of Directors adopted resolutions to accelerate the vesting of certain 
outstanding, unvested "out-of-the-money" stock options. The accelerated vesting provisions applied to all 
qualifying options with an exercise price of $6 00 or greater and as a result, options to purchase 1,455,000 shares 
of our stock became fully exercisable as of that date. 

The primary purpose of the accelerated vesting was to eliminate future compensation expense the Company 
would otherwise recognize in its statement of operations with respect to these options upon the adoption of 
Statement No. 123(R), which we adopted on January 1, 2006 as discussed above. Statement No 123(R) 
required that compensation expense associated with stock options be recognized in the statement of operations 
rather than as a pro forma footnote disclosure in our consolidated financial statements. The acceleration of the 
vesting of these options eliminated the future non-cash stock compensation expense associated with these 
outstanding options. We estimate that the related future compensation expense to be recorded under Statement 
No. 123(R) that was eliminated as a result of the acceleration of vesting these options was approximately 
$1,200. 

Prior to 2006 we recorded compensation expense for all stock-based compensation plans using the intrinsic 
value method prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, (Accounting for Stock lssued to 
Employees) ("APB No. 25") and related interpretations. Under APB No. 25, compensation expense is recorded 
pro-rata over the vesting period to the extent that the fair value of the underlying stock on the date of grant 
exceeds the exercise or acquisition price of the stock or stock-based award. The related compensation 
constitutes portions of our direct cost of revenue, research and development expense, sales and marketing 
expense, and general and administrative expense as detailed in the 
Statements of Operations. 

e presented with our Consolidated 

- 
- 
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We have also granted restricted stock to directors and certain key executives. The restrictions expired at the 
end of one year for directors and expire in annual increments over three years for executives and are based on 
continued employment. The fair value of the restricted stock on the date of issuance is recognized as non-cash 
stock compensation expense over the period over which the restrictions expire. 

The following table illustrates the effect on net loss and loss per common share if we had applied the fair 
value recognition provisions of FASB Statement 123@, to stock-based employee compensation, for the years 
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. 

For the Years Ended 
December 31, 

2005 -2004 _ _ _ ~  

Net loss attributable to common stockh rs, as reported. . . . .  
Add Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net 

Deduct Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under 

loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . .  . . .  720 1,195 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . .  (4,898) (8,477) fair value based method for all awards ~- 
Pro forma net loss attributable to comm stockholders . . . .  

Loss Der share - basic and diluted: 

As reported. . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  , . $ (0 30) $ (0 56) -- -- 
. . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . $ (0.40) $ (0.77) _ _ _ ~  

~~ 

Pro forma 

In calculating the fair value of our stock options using Black-Scholes for the years ended December 31, 
2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively, our assumptions were as follows: 

For the Years Ended 
December 31, 

2006 2005 2004 - - -  
Expected life (in years) . . . . . . . .  . .  . . . . . . .  5 5  5 5  5 5  

Risk-free interest rate(%) . . . . . .  456% 425% 3.35% 

78% 105% 114% 

I .  0% 0% 0% 

Volatility ( % ) . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Dividend yield(%). . . .  . . . . . .  

Research and Development Expense. We incur research and development costs which are primarily 
I expenses related to our engineers engaged in the development and comprised of compensation and tr 

enhancement of new and existing 'software products. All costs are expensed as incurred prior to reaching 
technological feasibility. 

Income Taxes. Income tax amounts and balances are accounted for using the liability method of accounting 
for income taxes and deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates and 
laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements. 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, "Fair Value Measurements," which defines fair value, 
establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements 
SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 At this time, the impact of adoption of 
SFAS 157 on our consolidated financial position is being assessed 

- 
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In September 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes" 
(FIN 48) which clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing the minimum recognition threshold a tax 
position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance 
on derecognition, measurement, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure 
and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company does not 
expect the adoptioh df FIN 48 e a material impact on its financial statements 

s-Discontinued Operations 

r 31, 2005, as a result of slower-than-anticipated market adoption of key technologies related 
assets and management's strategic decision to focus on our core technologies, we committed 

he Enterprise assets which we acquired from Aether Systems, Inc i 

Board of Directors on December 29, 2005. Also in December 2005, ed an investment 
bank that is actively marketing the Enterprise assets. The operations and cash flows 
eliminated from ongoing operations as a result of the sale, and the company does not expect to have any 

r the disposal transaction. We expect to complete the sale of these 
liabilities, and results of operations for the Enterprise assets have 
r all periods presented in the Consolidated Statement of Operations 

rise assets were previously included in our Commercial segment 

f three units. Two subscriber businesses, whic IackBerrym 
rovided real-trme financial market data to wireless device users under annual er contracts 

Europe, were sold effective January 1,  2007 to two different buyers, as more fully described in 
sequent Events. The third unit provides wireless data solutions that include package and vehicle 

tracking, productivity tools, and the ability to capture digital signatures for proof of delivery to a growing installed 
base of logistics customers. 

price for the Enterprise assets in 2004 was $22,300, consisting of cash payments 
n the amount of $1,000, bearing interest at the prime interest rate, and 

ss A Common Stock, valued at  $1,056, based on the average closing price for the five 
days immediately preceding the closing of the Enterprise acquisition. In addition, management incurred 
approximately $2,094 of costs directly related to the acquisition The total purchase price has been allocated 
based on the estimated fair value of the acquired tangible and intangible assets and assumed liabilities, with the 

500 in our loss from 
d Statement of 
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The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on 
January 1 ,  2004 at the date of the acqursitron 

Assets 
Tangible assets $1 1,573 
Acquired technology and intangible assets 7,612 
Goodwill 12,633 

Total assets 31,818 

Liabilities 
9,518 

Total liabilities 9,518 

Net assets acquired $22,300 

Enterprise assets and liabilitles classified as discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated 

- Current liabilities 

Balance Sheets are as follows 
December 31, December 31, 

2006 2005 

Assets 
Current assets . . . . . .  . . .  . $ 8,739 $ 5,306 

Long-lived assets and goodwill . . . . . . . .  
Other long term assets. . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. .  . . .  4,816 17,545 
41 40 

Assets of discontinued operations . . . . . . .  13,596 22,891 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . .  9,036 5,358 
Deferred revenue and other liabilities 2,364 1,361 

. . . .  . .  1 1,400 6,719 

Net assets of discontinued operations . . . . . . . .  . . . .  $ 2,196 $16,172 

All assets of discontinued operations were classified as current in the Decemb 
balance sheet, as management expected to complete the sale of these assets for c 
Impairment charges of $1 0 to adjust the estimated ca 
goodwill were recorded d 2006 based on information 
assets for sales and the declines in the Subscriber businesses being sold. Management believes thar the net 
proceeds from selling the Enterprise Assets will approximate the December 31, 2006 net asset carrying value 

cember 31, 2006. 
value of Enterprise fong-lived assets and 
ed during the process of offering the operating 
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shown above. Summarized results of operations for the Enterprise assets included in the accompanying 
Consolidated Statement of Operations were as follows: 

Year ended December 31, 
2006 2005 2004 --- 

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $26,020 $28,127 $46,013 

prof i t . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  4,469 6,025 10,679 

--- --- 

earch and development, sales and marketing, and general and 
administrative expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  12,640 9,851 1 

- Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  15,500 - - --- 

from dLscontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $(23,671) $ (7,151) $ (2,646) 

During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 total revenues generated from Enterprise 

s of our Enterprise division outside of the U.S were $4,000, $5,000, and 
ivision did not have any customers that constituted a significant portion of 
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 our Enterprise division had 

--- --- 

systems and services in the U.S were $22,000, $23,100, and $39,800 respectively, and the total revenues 

our consolidated n 
approximately $1,800, $2,200, and $2,800 respectively, of assets located outside the U S. 

Our Enterprise division leases a facility in Owings Mills, Maryland under a lease expiring March 2008. 
Leases for European offices have been assigned to the buyer of one of the subscriber units sold e 
January 1, 2007 W e  incurred rent expense related to these facilities of $1,318, $900, and $719 in 

$500 for the Owings Mills facility in 2007 and $125 in 2008. 
er 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. We expect incur rent expense of approximately 

er 20, 2004, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Kivera, Inc., a provider of Internet- 
plication software and geo-data professional services for approximately $5,500 in cash. In 

addition, management incur oximately $35 of costs directly related to the acquisition This acquisition 
provided a buy-vs.-build opp as Kivera's software platform integrates easily with existing wireless carrier 
network elements and location platforms Kivera's technologi/ can interoperate with our XypoinP Location 
Platform (XLP) 

The purchase price has be ired and liabilities assu 
r net assets acquired The purchase price 

allocated to goodwill. This goodwill has been allocated to the Commercial Applications segment, and it is 
deductible for tax purposes. 

tion resulted in the excess 
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The following table s0mmarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at 
the date of the acquisition: 

Assets: 
-Tangible assets . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  i .  . . . . . . . .  $ 590 
Acquired intangible assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . 3,771 

. . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,813 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  6,174 

Liabilities: ’ 
. . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Current liabilities ; 639 

Total liabilitjes. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  -- 639 

. Net assets acquired. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  , $5,535 

We recognized an additional $52 of goodwill during the first quarter of 2005 as the result of additional direct 
costs of the acquisition that were incurred. The Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2005 reflects 
this allocation. The Kivera operations have been included in our consolidated results of operations beginning 
September 20, 2004. 

4. Loss Per Common Share 

Basic loss per common share is based upon the average number of shares of common stock outstanding 
during the period. Because we incurred a loss from continuing operations in 2005, and 2004 potentially dilutive 
securities were excluded from the computation because the result would be anti-dilutive. These potentially 
dilutive securities co t of stock options, restricted stock, and warrants as discussed in Notes 1 and 17. 

. -  
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The following table summarizes the computations of basic and dihted earnings per shaFe for the years 
ended December 31 : 

--- 2006 2005 2004 

Income (Loss) from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 1,976 $ ( 

Loss from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (23,671 (7,151 (2,646) 

Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $(21,695) $(I 1,467) $(18,548) 

Income (Loss) per share - basic: 
Income (Loss) per share from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 0.05 $ (0.1 1) $ (0.48) 
Loss per share from discontinued operations. 

Net loss per share - basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ (0.55) $ jp.30) $ (0.56) 

Denominator for basic earnings per share - weighted-average 
mmon shares outstanding. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  39,430 38,823 33,381 
effect of dilutive stock options 

--- 
-- -- 

. . . . . .  . . . . . .  (0.60) (0.19) -- 
--- --- 

- 
- 

Denominator for diluted earnings per share - weighted-average 
common shares outstanding and assumed conversions. . . . . . .  40,166 38,823 33,381 --- --- 

me (Loss) per share -diluted: 

me (Loss) per share from $ (0.1 1 )  $ (0.48) 
Loss per share from discontin ) - -  (0.1 9) (0.08) 

. . . .  $ (0.30) $ (0.56) Net loss per share-diluted --- --- 

5. Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information 

Property and equipment acquired under capital leases totaled $1,725, $3,761, and $6,274 during the years 
ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. 

Interest paid totaled $607, $843, and $1 , I  79 during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, 
respectively. 

6. Unbilled Receivables 

Unbilled receivables consisted of the following at  December 31 : 

2006 2005 -- 
Amounts billable at specified contract milestones. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $7,596 $6,060 

Contract retentions 1 28 
-- 39 273 Rate variances 

$7,636 $6,361 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

-- -- 
Substantially all unbilled receivables are expected to be billed and collected within twelve months, 
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7. inventory 

Inventory consisted of the following at December 31: 
2006 2005 -- 

Component parts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $2,942 $1,934 
Finished goods, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,351 1,263 -- 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $5,293 $ - - -- Total inventory at y 

8. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consisted of the following at December 31: 
2006 ,2005 -- 

quipment, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $31,320 $31,487 
Computer software . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . .  
Furniture and fixtures . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Leasehold improvements . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Land . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,000 

. . . . .  . . . .  . . . . . .  107 Vehicles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. , . , , , . . , . . , , . 2,491 

-- 
Total property and equipment at cost at  year end. . . .  . .  . . . .  53, 50,457 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (40,594) (34,134) -~ 
Net property and equipment at year end . . . . . . . . .  

alized Software Development 

pitalized software development costs consisted of the f 

December 31,2006 
Gross Gross 

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated 
Amount , Amortization Net Amount Amortization 

$ 290 

I 72 
Trademarks & 

Software development 
costs, incl 
acquired t 

Total . I - 

$ 316 

540 

4,402 

$5,258 

$ 576 $ 144 $ 432 

40 72 

2,020 3,825 

- - $2,204 - $4,829 
- 5,845 

$7,033 - - 
Estimated future amo 

Year ending December 31, 2007 . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $1,600 . 

Year endina December 31. 2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $1:686 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 205 
Thereafter, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 460 
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We routinely update our estimates of the recoverability of the software products that have been capitalized. 
Management uses these estimates as the basis for evaluating the carrying values and remaining useful lives of 
the respective assets. 

IO. Accounfs Payable and Accrued Expenses 

Our accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of: 

December 31, 2006 December 31,2005 

Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 4,388 
Accrued expenses . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . .  6,033 

and accrued expenses at year 
. . .  . . . . . . . . . .  $10,421 $1 0,175 

Accrued expenses consist primarily of costs incurred for which we have not yet been invoiced, 
sales taxes, and amounts due to our E9-1-1 customers that we have billed and collected from regul 
agencies on their behalf under cost recovery arrangements 

11. Line of Credit 

We have maintained a line of credit arrangement with our principal bank since 2003. In October 2005 and 
March 2006, we amended the agreement with our principal bank to extend and increase our line of credit. Under 
the amended agreement, the availability of the line is extended to September 2008, and our maximum borrowing 
availability was increased from $15,000 to $22,000. Borrowings at  any time are limited based principally on 
accounts receivable levels and a working capital ratio, each as defined in the amended line 
Borrowings are also limited by the amounts of letters of credit outstanding ($3,783 at  Dece 
amended line of credit is secured by substantially all the assets of the company and bears i 
1.25% per annum, with a minim annum. The borrowing rate at  
was 8.5% per annum. We are al d commitment and collateral monitoring fees related 
to our line of credit, levels of deposits. Our amended line of credit contains 
covenants requiring easured monthly) as well as other restrictive 
covenants including, among others, restrictions on our ability to merge, acquire assets above prescribed thresholds, 
undertake actions outside the ordinary course of our business (including the incurrence of indebtedness), guarantee 
debt, distribute dividends, and repurchase our stock, and minimum tangible net worth as described% below. Pursuant 
to these restrictions, we obtained approval for the proposed sale of the Enterprise assets discussed in Note 2 and 
24. As of December 31, 2006, we  were in compliance with all of these covenants. 

Our line of credit agreement contains a tangible net worth covenant which we are req 
of credit agreement, reduc 
eement) from $29,500 to 
e line of credit agreement is adjusted upward 

monthly basis In March, 2006 the bank amended our ba 
tangible net worth requirement (as defined in the bank 
March 31, 2007 The minimum tangible net worth amo 
for income, subordinated debt and equity raised and proceeds of any sale of Enterprise assets. The bank credit 
agreement also contains a subjective covenant that requires (I) no material adverse change in the business, 
operations, or financial condition of our Company occur, or (ii) no material impairment of the prospect of 
repayment of any portion of the bank credit agreement; or (iii) no material impairment of value or priority of the 
lender's security interests in the collateral of the bank credit agreement. We believe that the Company will 
continue to comply with its restrictive covenants. If our performance does not result in compliance with any of 
our restrictive covenants, we would seek to further modify our financing arrangements, 
assurance that the bank would not exercise its rights and remedies under its agreement 
declaring all outstanding debt due and payable. 

- 
- 
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As of December 31, 2006 w e  had no borrowings outstanding under the tine of credit and we had 
approximately $9,000 of unused borrowing availability under this line. As of December 31, 2005, w e  had 
borrowed approximately $8,000 under the line of credit. 

12. Long-Term Debt 

Long-term debt consists of the following at December 31 : 

2006 2005 -- 
Note payable dated March IO,  2006 due March IO, 2009, and bearing interest at 

14% per annum, or non-cash interest, in the form of additional notes, bearing 
interest of 16% and warrants to purchase Class A common Stock (net of 
$ 2 4  ount ascribed to warrants) See further description of arrangements 
belo . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . .  . .  . .  . . . . . .  $ 7,504 - 

Note payable dated December 28, 2006, due December 28, 2009, and bearing 
interest at  10.35% per annum The note requires monthly installments of 
principal and interest of $162 through December 28, 2009 This note is 
secured by accounts receivable of one customer . . . . .  

ayable dated April 17, 2006, due April 17, 2007, and 

. 5,000 - 

nnum The note requires monthly installments of principal and 
68 through April 1, 2007 This note is secured by accounts 

receivable of one customer . I  . . . . . . . . .  657 

Note payable dated January 16,2003, due January 16, 2008, and bearing 
interest at  6 0% per annum The note requires monthly installments of 

- 

rincipal and interest of $0 3 through January 16, 2008 . . . .  5 $  8 

e payable dated September 30, 2005, paid in full April 30, 2006 . . - 1,345 
Note payable dated December 30, 2003, paid in full December 31, 2006 - 833 

- 472 

Total long term debt . . . .  . . . . .  . .  . . 13,166 2,658 

. . . . .  . (2,160) (2,176) 

Note payable dated November 7, 2005, paid in full April 30, 2006 . . I -- 

-- Less current portion 

Non current portion of long term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $11,006 $ 482 ~- -- 

Aggregate maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2006, are as follows: 

2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 2,160 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,661 
2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9;345 

Total . . . . . .  : . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $13,166 

In January 2004 w e  raised $21,000 in cash from third-parties through the issuance of (I) a convertible 
subordinated debenture wi th a face value of $1 5,000 (the "Debenture"), bearing interest at a stated rate of 
3% per annum and due in lump sum on January 13, 2009 in cash or shares of our Class A Common Stock at our 
option (11) warrants to purchase 341,072 shares of Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $6.50 per share 
and expiring in January 2007, and (iii) 1,364,288 shares of Class A Common Stock. We determined that the value 
of the Class A Common Stock issued was $7,640 based on the quoted closing price of our Class A Common 
Stock on the issue date of $5.60. The difference between the proceeds from the issuance of these shares and 
their fair value was recognized as a debt discount. The value of the warrants was estimated to be $1,395, 
determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and was recorded as a debt discount and additional - 
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paid-in capital The convertible subordinated debentures provided for a contractual conversion price of $5 38 per 
share, and were estimated to have an issuance date beneficial conversion value of $3,662, which was recorded 
as a debt discount and additional paid-in capital. The resulting carrying value of the debt a t  issuance was $8,303, 
net of $6,697 of original issue discount that was being amortized over its five-year term using the effective 
interest method, yielding an effective interest rate of 12 6%. The terms of the Debenture described above were 
amended effective as of August 30, 2004, as described below 

On August 30, 2004, we entered a Securities Purchase Agreement (the "August 2004 Securities Purchase 
Agreement") with the same third party investors who purchased our securities used to finance the Enterprise 
acquisition Pursuant to the August 2004 Securities Purchase Agreement, we  raised $9,342, net of offering costs 
in cash through the sale of 2,500,000 shares of our Class A Common Stock. 

On March I O ,  2006, pursuant to a note purchase nt  dated the same date, we issued and sold to  
two  institutional lenders (I) $1 0,000 unt of secured notes due March I O ,  2009, which 
bear cash interest at the rate of 14 interest, in the form of additional notes, at  the rate 
of 16% per annum, at our option, and (ii) warrants to  purchase an aggregate of 1.75 million shares of our Class A 
Common Stock at an exercise price of $2.40 per share The value of the warrants was estimated to  be $2,861, 
determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, and was recorded as debt discount and additional paid- 
in capital We received net cash proceeds of approximately $9,275 from this transaction The n 
agreement includes a provision such that if we  default on any of our debt obligations exceeding $2,500, the 
secured notes shall then become due and payable at the election of the holder of the notes. 

The warrants issued in the January 2004 financing described above contain provisions requiri 
adjustment in both the warrant price and the number of warrants outstanding as a consequence of the issuance 
of the new warrants in March 2006 Consequently in 2006, the warrants from 2004 were adjusted to  an exercise 
price of $2 50 per share and the total number of January 2004 warrants outstanding was adjusted to 886,787. 
The increase in the fair value of the 2004 warrants as a result of the modification was estimated to be $594, 
determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, and was recorded as debt discount and additional paid- 
in capital. In January 2007, the holders of the warrants issued in January 2004 exercised those warrants and 
886,787 shares have been issued 

13. Capital Leases 

We lease certain equipment under capital leases Property and equipment included the following amounts 
for capital leases at December 31 

2006 2005 -- 
Computer equipment $ 9,925 $ 8,922 
Computer software 2,072 1,469 
Furniture and fixtures 237 227 

46 46 Leasehold improvements . 
Total equipment under capital lease at cost 12,280 10,664 

(7,268) (4,631) 

$ 5,012 $ 6,033 

-~ 

-- Less accumulated amortization 

-- Net property and equipment under capital leases _ _ _ ~  

Capital leases are collateralized by the leased assets Our capital leases generally contain provisions whereby 
w e  can purchase the equipment at the end of the lease for the current fair market value, capped at 18 5% of 
the original purchase price Amortization of leased assets is included in depreciation and amortization expense 

- 
I 
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Future minimum payments under capital lease obligations consisted of the following at December 31, 2006: 

2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $2,910 

2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,288 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . .  ... . .  473 

2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  34 

Total minimum lease payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  4,705 

Less: amounts representing interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (250) 

Present value of net minimum lease payments (including curre ortion of $2,740) . . . . .  $4,455 
.. , 

14. Common Stock 

Our Class A common stockholders are entitled to one vote for each share of stock held for all matters 
submitted to  a vote of stockholders. Our Class B stockholders are entitled to  three votes for each share owned. 

15. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The fair values of our cash and cash equivalents and long-term debt approximate their respective carrying 
values as of December 31, 2006 and 2005. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments The 
fair value of our long-term debt was estimated by discounting the future cash flows at  rates available to us for 

16. Income Taxes 

During the years ended December 31, 2006, and 
n due to  our current loss position 

we  did not record either a current or 
egarding the realization of our net 
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Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liab 

2006 2005 -~ 
Deferred tax assets: 

Reservesand accrued expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 1,047 $ 1,011 
924 Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,123 

Deferred revenue. 396 547 

Stock options. . . . . . . . . . . .  231 42 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Charitable contributions. 92 124 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. .  

Research and development tax credit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,753 - 2,764 

Net deferred tax assets from discontinued operations. 6,289 6,421 

Net operating loss carryforward . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  40,174 38,953 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

-- 
Total deferred tax assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  : . . . . . . . . . . .  52,105 . 50,786 

Capitalized software development costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (775) . (243) 

~- (6) (4) 

bilities 1 -  (247) 

Net deferred tax asset. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  51,324 50,539 

Valuation allowance for net deferred tax asset . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (51,324) (50,539) 

Net deferred tax asset recognized in the consolidated balance sheets . . . . . . .  5 - $ -  

-~ 
, .  

Deferred tax liabilities: 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Other 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

-- 

At December 31, 2006, w e  had U.S. federal net operating loss carryfo 
08, acquired upon the acqui 
begin to expire in 201 1 The remaining net operating loss 

approximately $1 09,200, which includes 
operating loss carryforwards from Xypoi 
carryforwards will expire from 201 9 through 2025. Utilization of the Xypoint net operating losses will be limited 
by the Internal Revenue Code as a result of one or more ownership changes The remaining U S federal net 
operating loss carryforwards may be subject to limitations under the Internal Revenue Code as well. We have 
not determined the annual amount of the limitation on these net operating losses or whether these net operating 
loss carryforwards will expire prior to use as a result of these limitations We have stated net operating loss 
carryforwards available which expire through 2025, the utilization of which will be limited in a manner similar to  
the federal net operating loss carryforwards. At December 31, 2006, $3,060 of our deferred deductions related 
to stock option exercises. To the extent that carryforwards, when realized, relate to stock opuon deductions, the 
resulting benefits will be credited to  stockholders' equity W e  have established a full valuation allowance with 
respect to these federal and state loss carryforwards and other net deferred tax assets due to  uncertainties 
surrounding their realization. 

t in 2001 The net 
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The reconciliation of the reported income tax benefit to  the amount that would result by applying the 
U.S. federal statutory rate of 34% to loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31 is as 
follows: 

2006 2005 2004 --- 
Income tax (benefit) at statutory rate . . .  . $ 653 $(1,467) $45,407) 
State tax (benefit) . . .  . . . .  . . .  52 (135) (202) 

Change in state apportionment tax rates on deferred 
assets/liabilities . .  807 (537) 1,597 

Non deductible stock compensation expense . . . .  689 

Research and development tax credit. . . . . . . . . . . .  (43) (70) (2.694) 

Non deductible items . . . .  55 48 2,884 

Change in valuation allowance (2,241) 2,161 4,159 

(337) Other . .  

. . .  . $ -  $ -  $ -  

- - 

- . . .  . .  . .  28 --- 
--- --- Total . 

17. Stock-based Compensation Plans 

W e  maintain two stock-based compensation plans: a stock option plan, and an employee stoc 
plan. 

Stock Opbons We maintain a stock option plan that is administered by our Compensation Committee of 
our Board of Directors The number of shares of Class A Common 
currently 20,904,110 Options granted under the plan vest over per 
10 years from the date of grant A summary of our stock option ac 

for the years ended December 31 (all share amounts in t 

rved for issuance under the plan is 

2006 2005 2004 
Weiqhted Weighted Weighted 

Number of 
Options 

Outstanding, beginning of year 9,793 

Granted 2,908 

Exercised (199) 

Forfeited (880) 

Outstanding, end of year 1 1,622 

6,823 Exercisable, at end of year 

Estimated weighted-average grant- 
date fair value of options granted 
during the year $ 2 42 

Weighted-average remaining 
contractual life of options 
outstanding at end of year . . 7.0 years 

- 

Average 
Exercise Number of 

Price Options 

$3.86 8,650 

2 42 2,786 

1.75 (291 1 
3.26 (1,352) 

$3.62 9,793 

$4.33 5,997 

$ 2.06 

7.3 years 

Average Average 
Exercise Number of Exercise 

Price Options Price 

$4 25 

2.55 

1.08 

4 30 

$3.86 

$4.55 

6,148 $2.95 

3,800 6.00 

(535) 1.97 

(763) 3.88 

8,650 $4.25 

3,382 $3.25 

$ 4.98 

7.5 years 
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Exercise prices for options outstanding at  December 31, 2006 ranged from $0.01 to $26.05 as follows (all 
share amounts in thousands): 

Exercise Prices 
Options 

Outstanding 

$ 0.01 - $  2.61 . . . . .  5,449 
$ 2.61 - $  5.21 . . . . . .  3,662 

$ 5.21 - $  7.82 . . . . .  2,456 
$ 7.82-$10.42.. . . . .  25 

$10.42-$26.05. . . . . .  30 

Total end of year . . . . .  11,622 

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Prices 

of Options 
Outstanding 

Wei hted:Avarage 
Blemainin Weig hted-Average 

Contractual f ife Exercise Prices 
of Options Options of Options 

Outstanding (years) Exercisable Exercisable 

$ 2.29 7.93 1,616 $ 2.01 
$ 3.38 0 2,699 $ 3.39 
$ 6.74 6.55 2,453 $ 6.74 
$ 8.30 6.59 25 $ 8.30 
$14.07 3.57 30 $1 4.07 - 

6,823 - - 

Non-cash stock based compensation expense has resulted from two other compensation arrangements 

purchase 885,983 shares of Class A Common Stock. The options were granted at an exercise price less than the 
estimated market value of Class A Common Stock at the date of grant. Net loss, as reported, includes 
$583 of non-cash stock compensation expense related to these grants for the years-ended December 

itial public offering in 2000, we granted incentive stock options to employees and directors to 

ly. These options had f 
expense related to the 

as of December 31, 2005, and accordingly we will not 

expense related to these grants for t 

ed over the remaining vesting periods. 

of 1,384,932 shares of our Class A Common Stock at a discount of 15% of the fair market value. The discount 
of ‘1 5% IS calculated based on the av 

, whichever date is 
duration. As of December 31, 2006, 784,977 shares of Class A Common Stock have been issued under the Plan. 

daily share price on either the first or the last day of each qu 
favorable to the employee. Option periods are three months 

As of December 31, 20 hares of Class A Com ck reserved for future issuance is 
comprised of: 

(in thousands) 
Stock compensation plan. . . .  . . . . . . . . .  . .  3,151 

Employee stock purchase plan. . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  600 

Total shares restricted for future use . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . .  6,388 

Warrants (see Note 12). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,637 

- 
- - - 
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18. Operating Leases 

W e  lease certain office space and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases that expire on various 
dates through 201 0. Future minimum payments under noncancelable operating leases with initial terms o f  one 
year or more consisted of the following at  December 31, 2006. 

2007 $3,304 

2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,495 
2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,734 
201 0 1,164 

~ 

$8,697 

Our material leases include our offices in Annapolis, Maryland under a lease expiring in March 2008, a 
second facility in Annapolis under a lease expiring in April 201 1, a facility in Seattle, Washington under a lease 
expiring in September 201 0, a facility in Oakland, California under a lease expiring May 2007, and a facility in 
Tampa, Florida under a lease expiring in December 2009 The Annapolis fac es are utilized for executive and 
administrative offices, as well as portions of our Commercial and Government segments The Seattle and 
Oakland facilities are utilized by our Commercial segment and the Tampa facility is utilized by our Government 
segment. Future payments on all of our leases are estimated based on future payments including the minimum 
future rent escalations, if any, stipulated in the respective agreements. 

Rent expense for continuing oper n$ was $3,603, $3,480. and $3,136 for the years ended December 31, 
2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively 

19. Concentrations of Credit Risk and Major Customers 

Financial instruments that potentially Subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily 
of accounts receivable and unbilled receivables Those customers that comprised 10% or more of our revenues, 
accounts receivable, and unbilled receivables from continuing operations are summarized in the following tables 

% of Total Revenues For 
the Year Ended 
December 31, 

Segment 2006 2005 2004 ~ - - -  Customer 

U S Government. . . .  . . Government 25% 17% 23% 

Verizon Wireless Commercial 20% 17% 20% 

Cingular Wireless . .  Commercial 10% 10% < 10% 

As of December 31, 2006 As of December 31, 2005 
Accounts Unbilled Accounts Unbilled 

Customer Receivable Receivables Receivable Receivables 

U S Government 24% 36% 35% 16% 

Customer A < I O %  < I O %  <lo% 30 % 

Customer B 1 1 %  < I O %  < I O %  <IO% 

Customer C <IO% < I  0% < I O %  <IO% 

As of December 31, 2006, our total exposure to  credit risk was $1 2,645 based on the amount due to us by 
those customers. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, our exposure to such risks was $15,598 and $16,953 
respectively. We did not experience significant losses from amounts due to us by any customers for the year 
ended December 31, 2006. - 

- 
F-27 



TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued) 
(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data) 

20. Business and Geographic Segment Information 

In the fourth quarter of 2004, we realigned our segments to better manage the business subsequent to our 
ns described in Notes 2 and 3. Our two operating segments are now (i) our Commercial%Segm,ent, 

which consists of the previous Network Software and Service Bureau segments, along wi 
acquired in 2004 and (ii) our Government Segment which consists of the previous Networ 

Management evaluates performance based on gross profit. We do not maintain information reg 
segment assets. Accordingly, asset information by reportable segment is not presented. 

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, our revenues include approximately 
$7,349, $6,874, and $6,457 of revenues generated from customers outside of the United States.. 

The following table sets forth results for our reportable segments as of December 31, 
reported below are-from external customers. Prior year amounts have been restated based 

nterprise Assets as discontinued operations in 2005 (see Note 2). A 
to net loss for the respective periods is also included below: 

Year Ended December 31, 

Comm. Gvmt Total 
2006 2005 2004 

Comm. Gvmt Total --- --- Comm. Gvmt Total --- 
Revenue 

Services . . . . . . . . . . . $59,741 $28,639 $ 88,380 $54,198 $20,774 $ 74,972 $44,621 $15,613 $60,234 

Systems --- 17,219 19,337 36,556 13061 23,617 -36,678 

Total revenue , , . , . . . . . 65,866 36,287 102,153 --- 76,960 47,976 124,936 --- --- 57,682 39,230 96,912 

Direct costs of revenue 

Direct cost of services. . . . 31,409 21,131 52,540 25,885 13,345 39,230 21,472 9,500 30,972 

5,843 15,391 21,234 Direct cost of systems . . . --- 5,710 12,009 17,719 --- 5,211 12,672 17,883 --- 
Total Direct Costs . . . . --- 36,620 33,803 70,423 31,595 25,354 56,949 --- 27,315 24,891 52,206 

Gross profit 

Services gross profit. . . . . . 28,332 7,508 35,840 28,313 7,429 35,742 23,149 6,113 29,262 

7,218 8,226 15,444 --- 5,958 3,504 9,462 --- Systems gross profit , . . . . 12,008 6,665 18,673 --- 
$40,340 $14,173 $ 54,513 $34,271 $10,933 $ 45,204 $30,367 $14,339 $44,706 --- --- --- --- --- --- Total Gross Prof 
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Year Ended December 31, 
2006 2005 2004 --- 

Total segment gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $54,513 $45,204 $44,706 
Research and development expense. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (1 2,586) (1 3,863) (1 8,106) 

General and administrative expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (16,959) (15,044) (14,997) 
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (7,956) (8,625) (7,353) 
Amortization of acquired intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (147) (1 77) (37) 

Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (3,198) (1,172) (3,196) 
Debt conversion expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  - (7,886) 

. . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  22 ( Fo4) (61 1 Other income/(expense), net , --- 
Income (Loss) from continuing operations . . , , , , . , . , . , . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,976 (4,316) (15,902) 

Loss from discontinued operations. . , . . , , . . , , . , , . . , , . . I . . . . . . . . . . .  (23,671) (7,151) (2,646) 

Sales and marketing expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (11,713) (10,535) (8,973) 

- 

--- 
Net loss. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $(21,695) $(11,467) $(18,548) --- --- 

21. Quarterly Financial Information 

The following is a summary of the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2006 
and 2005. In connection with the classification of our Enterprise assets as discontinued operations, as discussed 
in Notes 1 and 2 above, we reclassified prior period financial data for these assets to reflect this classification as 
of December 31, 2006. The quarterly information has not been audited, but in our opinion, includes all normal 
recurring adjustments, which are, in the opinion of the Management, necessary for fair statement of the results 
of the interim periods. 

2006 
Three Months Ended 

(unaudited) 
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 -- 

Revenue. . . . .  . . . . . . . . .  . . $31,686 $31,943 $31,810 $30,496 
Gross profit. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $13,562 $14,240 $13,574 $13,136 

Income from continuing operations , . . I , . . $ 342 $ 759 $ 761 $ 111 

(4,793) Loss from discontinued operations. . . . . .  - -  (2,054) (2,314) (1 4,510) 

Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . .  $(1,712) $(1,555) $(13,749) $ (4,682) 
- 

Earnings per share - basic 

Loss per share - basic from discontinued 

operations, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 0.01 $ 0.02 $ 0.02 

operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ (0.05) $ (0.06) $ (0.37) $ (0.12) 

Net loss per share- basic . . . . . . . . . . . .  $-  (0.04) $ (0.04) $ (0.35) $ (0.12) 

operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 0.01 $ 0.02 $ 0.02 $ 0.00 

. . . . . . . . . .  $ (0.05) $ (0.06) $ (0.37) $ (0.11) 

. . . . . . . . . .  $ (0.04) $ (0.04) $ (0.35) $ (0.11) 

- - 

Earnings per share - diluted from continuing 

Loss per share -diluted from discontinued 
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Three Months Ended 

Revenue. . . . . 

(unaudited) 
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 

~~ 

$24,856 $21,404 $29,169 $26,724 
Gross profit . $12,793 $ 9,831 $1 1,660 $1 0,936 
Loss from continuing operations $ (575) $ (2,316) $ (313) $(1,112) 

(1,512) (1,722) (1,899) (2,OI 8) Loss form discontinued operations 

Net loss $ (2,087) $ (4,038) $ (2,212) $ (3,130) 
Loss per share from continuing operations $ (0 01 ) $ (0 05) $ (0 02)  $ CO 03) 
Loss per share from discontinued 

Net loss per share - basic and diluted $ (0 05) $ (0 I O )  $ (0 06) $ (0 08) 

-- 

$ (0 04) $ (0 05) $ (0 04) $ i0.05) -~ operations . 

22. Commitments and Contingencies 

In November 2001, a shareholder class action lawsuit was filed against us, certain of our current officers 
and a director, and several investment banks that were the underwriters of our initial public offering (the 
"Underwriters"): Highstein v Telecommunication Systems, Inc., et  al., United States District Court for the 
Southern District of New York, Civil Action No 01-CV-9500 The plaintiffs seek an unspecified amount of 
damages The lawsuit purports to  be a class action suit filed on behalf of purchasers of our common stock during 
the period August 8, 2000 through December 6, 2000 The plaintiffs allege that the Underwriters agreed to  
allocate common stock offered for sale in our initial public offering to  certain purchasers in exchange for 
excessive and undisclosed commissions and agreements by those purchasers to make additional purchases of 
common stock in the aftermarket at predetermined prices The plain allege that all of the defendants violated 
Sections 1 1,  12 and 15  of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, a hat the underwriters violated 
Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Rule lob-5 promulgated thereunder. The 
claims against us of violation of Rule lob-5 have been dismissed with the plaintiffs having the right to  re-plead. 
W e  will continue to defend the lawsuit vigorously. On February 15, 2005, the District Court issued an Order 
preliminarily approving a settlement agreement amo s plaintiffs, all issuer defendants and their insurers, 
provided that the parties agree to a modification nar the scope of the bar order set forth in the settlement 
agreement. The parties agreed to a modification narrowing the scope of the bar order, and on August 31, 2005, 
the court issued an order preliminarily approving the settlement. On December 5, 2006, the United States Court 
of Appeals for the Second Circuit overturned the District Court's certification of the class of plaintiffs who are 
pursuing the claims that would be settled in the settlement against the underwriter defendants Plaintiffs filed a 
Petition for Rehearing and Rehearing En Banc with the Second Circuit on January 5, 2007 in response to  the 
Second Circuit's decision, and have informed the District Court that they would like to be heard by the District 
Court as to whether the settlement may still be approved even if the decision of the Court of Appeals is not 
reversed The District Court indicated that it would defer consideration of final approval of the settlement 
pending plaintiffs' request for further appellate review W e  intend to continue to defend the lawsuit until the 
settlement has received final approval or the matter is resolved otherwise More than 300 other companies have 
been named in nearly identical lawsuits that have been filed by some of the same law firms that represent the 
plaintiffs in the lawsuit against us, and w e  believe that the majority of those companies will participate in the 
same settlement if approved 

In October 2006, two former shareholders of Xypoint Corporation sued the former officers and directors of 
that corporation for breach of fiduciary duty and violation of certain Washington state securities and consumer 
protection acts when they approved, and recommended that shareholders approve, the merger of Xypoint into 
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TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. The plaintiffs request unspecified damages. The merger agreement from 2001 
provided that we would indemnify the officers and directors of Xypoint for a period of six years after the merger 
(ending January 2007) for their actions in approving the merger. In December 2006, the complaint was amended 
to include TCS as a defendant, as the successor-in-interest to Xypoint Corporation and Windward Acquisition 
Corporation (our acquisition subsidiary), both extinguished corporations. We have purchased Directors and 
Officers insurance po!icies to cover claims against the former officers and directors of Xypoint and us, and 

to defend the lawsuit vigorously, but can make no assurances that the outcome will be favorable to us or that 
the insurance policies will be sufficient to cover the costs incurred or any judgment amounts that may result. 

We are subject to certain litigation, claims and assessments which occur in the normal course of b 

e or both of those insurance policies may cover some or all of the costs of this lawsuit We intend 

Based on consultation with our le unsel, management is of the opinion that suc 
onsolidated results of operations, financial PO 

23. Pa rty Transactions 

In February 2003, we entered into an agreement with Annapolis Partners LLC to explore the opportunity of 
relocating our Annapolis offices to a planned new real estate development. Our President and Chief Executive 
Officer owns a controlling voting and economic interest in Annapolis Partners LLC and he also serves as a 

subject to several contingencies and righ f termination. For example, the agreement can be terminated at  the 
sole discretion of our Board of Directors e terms and conditions of the development are unacceptable to us, 
including without limitation the circumstances that market conditions make the agreement not favorable to us or 

st is not in the best interest to us or our shareholders, or any legal or regulatory restrictions apply. 
Our Board of Directors will evaluate this opportunity along with alternatives that are or may become available in 
the relevant time periods and there is no assurance that we will enter into a definitive agreement at this new 
develop men t sit e. 

24. Subsequent Events 

inancial and many other terms of the agreement have not yet been established. The lease is 

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company sold two of its three Enterprise units, carried as discontinued 
operations, to strategic buyers for restricted stock in the acquiring companies and earn-out arrangements. The 
Mobile Finance unit, including its US and European operations, has been sold to Stockgroup Information 
Systems, Inc. for 1.5 million shares of restricted stock. Assets of the Mobile Office unit, doing business-as 
mobeom, have been acquired by MobilePro Corporation for 9 million shares of restricted stock. Management 

inues to work with prospective buyers to complete the sale of the Mobile Asset unit. 

In January 2007, warrants for approximately 890,000 shares have been exercised by institutional investors 
which have been issued in connection with 2004 financing for approximately $2 million in cash. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13,or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant 
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized 

TeleCommunication Systems, Inc 

BY. Is/ MAURICE B. TOSE 

Maurice B. Tose 
Chief Executive Officer, President and 

Chairman of the Board 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by 
ing persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates- indicated. The 
d hereby constitute and appoint Maurice B. Tose, Thomas M. Brandt, Jr and Bruce A. White, and 

ents and attorneys-in-fact with full power and authority in said agents and 
attorneys-in-fact, and in any one or more of them, to sign for the undersigned and in their respective names as 
directors and officers of TeleCommunication Systems, any amendment or supplement hereto. The undersigned 
hereby confirm all acts taken by such agents and attorneys-in-fact, and any one or more of them, as herein 
authorized 

Name - Title - Date - 

March 12, 2007 / S I  MAURICE B. TOSE Chief Executive Officer, President and 
Maurice B. Tose Chairman of the Board (Principal Executive 

Officer) 

Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice 
President (Principal Financial Officer) 

March 12, 2007 / S I  
Thomas M. Brandt, Jr 

Is/ JAMES M.  BETHMANN Director March 12, 2007 
James M Bethmann 

March 12, 2007 Director 

Director March 12, 2007 
Richard A. Kozak 

WELDON H. LATHAM Director March 12, 2007 

/S I  BYRON F. MARCHANT Director March 12, 2007 
Byron F. Marchant 
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Caut ion Concerning Forward-Looking Statements 

This document includes certain "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of i995. For example, 
the statements that (i) the Company's Enhanced 9-1-1 (E9-1-i) offer positions TCS to compete fo ra  growing share of the expanding $200 million public 

safety market; (ii) TCS text messaging i s  an pace to more than double in 2007, resulting in significant opportunities for high-morgin capacity orders further 

driving profitability in 2007; (iii) as the Company's registered subscribers for personalized wireless messaging portal now exceeds 25 million, TCS is in a 

unique position to capitalize on the integration of messaging gateway capabilities; (iv) TCS is positioned to capture delivery orders, both large and small, 

from all bronches of the military and civilian agencies; and (v) long-term investments for systems sales to both Carrier and Government systems custom- 

ers appear to have positioned TCS well for 2007 and beyond are some of the forward-looking statements in this document. These statements involve risks 

and uncertainties, and actual results moy differ materially. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those 

discussed in the Letter to Shareholders and Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, as well as those 
discussed elsewhere in the Company's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the 

forward-looking statements, which speak only os of the date of this Annual Report. The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly release any revi- 

sions to the forward-looking statements or reflect events or circumstances after the date of this document 

Reconciliation of EBITDA to Net  Income/(Loss) 

EBITDA i s  not a financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with U.S generally accepted account in^-principles (GAAP) and should not 

be considered as an alternative to net income, operating income, or any other financial measures so calculated and presented, nor as an alternative to 

cash flow from operating activities as a measure of our liquidity We present EBITDA because we believe it to be an important supplemental measure 

of our performance that is  commonly used by securities analysts, investors, and other interested parties in the evaluation of companies in our industry. 

Management also uses this information internally for forecasting and budgeting. It may not be indicative of the historical operating results of TCS nor is 

it intended to be predictive of potential future results. 

(16 ~n millions) 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 
Net income/(loss) on a GAAP basis $ (17.8) J (13.5) $ (18.5) $ (11.5) $ (21.7) 

11.5 16.2 7 9  9 6  9 3  Depreciation and amoriization 
Nan-cash stock-based compensation 1 6  1 5  I .2 0.7 3 1  
Financing ond other expenses (incl debt conversion expense in 2004) 0.5 10 4) 1 1  1 I .3  3 2  
Discontinued operations 2.6 7.2 23 7 

EBITDA from continuing operations $ (4.2) $ 3.8 $ 4.3 $ 7.3 S 17.6 

Copyright 

Copyright 0 2007 Telecommunication Systems, lnc (TCS). All rights reserved. Enabling Convergent Technologies", smsExpress First Delivery Attempt'", 

SwlftLinka, Xypoint", and Wireless Intelligent Gatewoy'" are trademarks of TCS. All other trademarks are the property of their respective companies. 

Information subiect to change without notice. 1 NasdaqGM: TSYS 
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